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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains information that may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of U.S. federal securities laws and forward-looking information within the meaning of Canadian
securities laws, both of which we refer to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,”
“expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “intend,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” or other similar expressions concerning matters that are not statements about the present or historical facts. Forward-
looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, among other things, information or statements about:

» c » »

. our ability to build a late-stage pharmaceutical company focused in rare and orphan diseases and, on developing and commercializing products that improve clinical outcomes using our novel drug
delivery technologies;

. our ability to apply new proprietary formulations to existing pharmaceutical compounds to achieve enhanced efficacy, faster onset of action, reduced side effects, and more convenient drug delivery that
can result in increased patient compliance;

. the potential for our drug candidates to receive orphan drug designation and exclusivity from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) or regulatory approval under the Section 505(b)(2)
regulatory pathway under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”);

. the future prospects of our GTx-104 drug candidate, including but not limited to GTx-104’s potential to be administered to improve the management of hypotension in patients with aneurysmal
subarachnoid hemorrhage (“aSAH”); the ability of GTx-104 to achieve a pharmacokinetic (“PK”) and safety profile similar to the oral form of nimodipine; GTx-104’s potential to provide improved
bioavailability; GTx-104’s potential to achieve pharmacoeconomic benefit over the oral form of nimodipine; our ability to ultimately file a new drug application (“NDA”) for GTx-104 under Section
505(b)(2) of the FDCA; the acceptance of the NDA by the FDA; and the timing and ability to receive FDA approval for marketing GTx-104;

. our plan to prioritize the development of GTx-104;
. our plan to maximize the value of our de-prioritized drug candidates, GTx-102 and GTx-101, including through potential development, licensing, or sale of those drug candidates;
. the future prospects of our GTx-102 drug candidate, including but not limited to GTx-102’s potential to provide clinical benefits to decrease symptoms associated with Ataxia Telangiectasia; GTx-102’s

potential ease of drug administration; the timing and outcomes of a Phase 3 efficacy and safety study for GTx-102; the timing of an NDA filing for GTx-102 under Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA; and
the timing and ability to receive FDA approval for marketing GTx-102;

. the future prospects of our GTx-101 drug candidate, including but not limited to GTx-101’s potential to be administered to postherpetic neuralgia (“PHN”) patients to treat the severe nerve pain
associated with the disease; assumptions about the biphasic delivery mechanism of GTx-101, including its potential for rapid onset and continuous pain relief for up to eight hours; and the timing and
outcomes of single ascending dose/multiple ascending dose and PK bridging studies, and a Phase 2 and Phase 3 efficacy and safety study; the timing of an NDA filing for GTx-101 under Section 505(b)
(2) of the FDCA; and the timing and ability to receive FDA approval for marketing GTx-101;

. the quality of our clinical data, the cost and size of our development programs, expectations and forecasts related to our target markets and the size of our target markets; the cost and size of our
commercial infrastructure and manufacturing needs in the United States, European Union, and the rest of the world; and our expected use of a range of third-party contract research organizations
(“CROs”) and contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”) at multiple locations;

. expectations and forecasts related to our intellectual property portfolio, including but not limited to the probability of receiving orphan drug exclusivity from the FDA for our leading pipeline drug
candidates; our patent portfolio strategy; and outcomes of our patent filings and extent of patent protection;

. our intellectual property position and duration of our patent rights;

. our strategy, future operations, prospects and the plans of our management with a goal to enhance shareholder value;

. our need for additional financing, and our estimates regarding our operating runway and timing for future financing and capital requirements;
. our expectations regarding our financial performance, including our costs and expenses, liquidity, and capital resources;

. our projected capital requirements to fund our anticipated expenses; and
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. our ability to commercialize GTx-104 in the United States or establish strategic partnerships or commercial collaborations or obtain non-dilutive funding.

Although the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based upon what we believe are reasonable assumptions, you should not place undue reliance on those forward-looking statements
since actual results may vary materially from them.

In addition, the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, that
could cause our actual results and developments to differ materially from those that are disclosed in or implied by the forward-looking statements, including, among others:

. we are heavily dependent on the success of our lead drug candidate, GTx-104;

. clinical development is a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results. Failure can occur at any stage of
clinical development;

. we are subject to uncertainty relating to healthcare reform measures and reimbursement policies that, if not favorable to our drug candidates, could hinder or prevent our drug candidates’ commercial
success;

. if we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our drug products, if approved, we may be unable to generate any revenue;

. if we are unable to differentiate our drug products from branded reference drugs or existing generic therapies for similar treatments, or if the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities approve

products that compete with any of our drug products, our ability to successfully commercialize our drug products would be adversely affected;

. our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our intellectual property for our drug candidates;
. intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage;
. we do not have internal manufacturing capabilities, and if we fail to develop and maintain supply relationships with various third-party manufacturers, or if such third parties fail to provide us with

sufficient quantities of active pharmaceutical ingredients, excipients or drug products, or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices or fail to maintain or achieve satisfactory regulatory
compliance, we may be unable to develop or commercialize our drug candidates;

. our contract manufacturers may encounter difficulties involving, among other things, production yields, regulatory compliance, quality control and quality assurance, as well as shortages of qualified
personnel. Approval of our drug candidates could be delayed, limited, or denied if the FDA does not approve and maintain the approval of our contract manufacturers’ processes or facilities;

. the design, development, manufacture, supply, and distribution of our drug candidates are highly regulated and technically complex; and
. the other risks and uncertainties identified in Item 1A. Risk Factors and Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

All of the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are qualified by this cautionary statement. There can be no guarantee that the results or developments that we anticipate will be realized or,
even if substantially realized, that they will have the consequences or effects on our business, financial condition, or results of operations that we anticipate. As a result, you should not place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. Except as required by applicable law, we do not undertake to update or amend any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All
forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We express all amounts in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in U.S. dollars, except where otherwise indicated. References to “$” and “U.S.$” are to U.S. dollars and references to “C$” or “CADS$” are to Canadian
dollars.

Except as otherwise indicated, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Grace,” “Grace Therapeutics,” “Acasti,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly known
as Acasti Pharma, Inc.) and its consolidated subsidiary.
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Risk Factor Summary,

The risk factors summarized below could materially harm our business, operating results and/or financial condition, impair our future prospects and/or cause the price of shares of our common stock to decline. For
more information, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K. Material risks that may affect our business, operating results and financial condition include, but are not necessarily limited to, the following:

Risks Related to our Business

We may not achieve our publicly announced milestones on time, or at all.

We are heavily dependent on the success of our lead drug candidate, GTx-104.

We may not be able to maximize value from our de-prioritized drug candidates, GTx-102 and GTx-101, through either development, out-licensing or sale.

We may not be able to maintain our operations and advance our research and development and commercialization of our GTx-104 lead drug candidate without additional funding.

We have no history of commercializing drugs, which may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.

Disruptions at the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies caused by the U.S. presidential administration, funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire and retain key
leadership and other personnel, prevent or delay new products and services from being developed, approved, or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal
business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.

Risks Related to Development, Testing and Commercialization of Our Products

If the FDA does not conclude that our drug candidates satisfy the requirements for the 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the requirements for approval of any of our drug candidates under Section
505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for our drug candidates will likely take significantly longer, cost significantly more and encounter significantly greater complications and risks than
anticipated, and in any case may not be successful.

The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy, time consuming and inherently unpredictable, and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for our
drug candidates, our business will be substantially harmed.

If a product candidate causes undesirable side effects, then we may be unable to receive regulatory approval or market acceptance for such product candidate.

Our drug development strategy relies heavily upon the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, which requires us to certify that we do not infringe upon third-party patents covering approved drugs. Such certifications
often result in third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, the defense of which will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in any litigation may prevent or delay our
development and commercialization efforts which would harm our business.

If the market opportunities for GTx-104 are smaller than we believe they are, our results of operations may be adversely affected, and our business may suffer.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to healthcare reform measures and reimbursement policies which, if not favorable to our drug candidates, could hinder or prevent our drug candidates’ commercial success.
Recent and future changes in healthcare legislation and regulations may increase the difficulty and cost to obtain marketing approval for a drug candidate, increase the costs to commercialize an approved
product, and adversely affect the price set for such product.

Our commercial success depends upon attaining significant market acceptance of our drug candidates and drug products, if approved, among physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and the medical
community.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our drug candidates, we may be unable to generate any revenue.

Even if GTx-104 receives regulatory approval, we will still face regulatory difficulties.

Even if our drug candidates receive regulatory approval in the United States, we may never obtain regulatory approval or successfully commercialize our products outside of the United States.

If we are unable to differentiate our drug candidates from branded reference drugs or existing generic therapies for similar treatments, or if the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities approve generic
products that compete with any of our drug candidates, our ability to successfully commercialize our drug candidates would be adversely affected.

We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.
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» We could incur substantial costs and disruption to our business and delays in the launch of our drug candidates if our competitors and/or collaborators bring legal actions against us, which could harm our
business and operating results.

» We are subject to numerous complex regulatory requirements and failure to comply with these regulations, or the cost of compliance with these regulations, may harm our business.

» Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory
standards and requirements.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

« If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our business.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets of their other clients or former
employers to us.
Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our intellectual property for our branded products and drug candidates.
If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we license rights to technology from third parties, or if the license agreements are terminated for other reasons, we could lose license
rights that are important to our business.
‘We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

» We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain
regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug candidates and our business could be substantially harmed.
We rely on third parties to manufacture commercial and clinical supplies of our drug candidates, and we intend to rely on third parties to manufacture commercial supplies of any approved drug products. The
commercialization of any of our drug products could be stopped, delayed, or made less profitable if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient quantities of active pharmaceutical ingredients, excipients,
or drug products, or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices or fail to maintain or achieve satisfactory regulatory compliance.
We may not be successful in establishing or maintaining development and commercialization collaborations, and any partner may not devote sufficient resources to the development or commercialization of our
drug candidates or may otherwise fail in development or commercialization efforts, which could adversely affect our ability to develop certain of our drug candidates and our financial condition and operating
results.

Risks Related to Tax
« There is a significant risk that we may have been classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that such PFIC status may taint our common shares owned by U.S. Holders prior to the
Domestication (defined below).
» We may not be able to use our net operating loss carry forwards to offset future taxable income for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
* The IRS may not agree that we should have been treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes prior to the Domestication.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
* The price of our common stock may be volatile.
« Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or drug candidates.
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PART I
Item 1. Business

Overview

We are focused on developing and commercializing products for rare and orphan diseases that have the potential to improve clinical outcomes by using our novel drug delivery technologies. We seek to apply new
proprietary formulations to approved and marketed pharmaceutical compounds to achieve enhanced efficacy, faster onset of action, reduced side effects, more convenient drug delivery and increased patient
compliance; all of which could result in improved patient outcomes. The active pharmaceutical ingredients used in the drug candidates under development by us may be already approved in a target indication or
could be repurposed for use in new indications.

Our therapeutic pipeline consists of three unique clinical-stage drug candidates supported by an intellectual property portfolio of more than 40 granted and pending patents in various jurisdictions worldwide. These
drug candidates aim to improve clinical outcomes in the treatment of rare and orphan diseases by applying proprietary formulation and drug delivery technologies to existing pharmaceutical compounds to achieve
improvements over the current standard of care, or to provide treatment for diseases with no currently approved therapies.

The existing well understood efficacy and safety profiles of these marketed compounds provide the opportunity for us to utilize the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic
Act (“FDCA”) for the development of our reformulated versions of these drugs, and therefore may provide a potentially shorter path to regulatory approval. Under Section 505(b)(2), if sufficient support of a
product’s safety and efficacy either through previous FDA experience or sufficiently within the existing and accepted scientific literature, can be established, it may eliminate the need to conduct some of the pre-
clinical studies and clinical trials that new drug candidates might otherwise require.

We believe rare disorders represent an attractive area for drug development, and there remains an opportunity for us to utilize already approved drugs that have established safety profiles and clinical experience to
potentially address significant unmet medical needs. A key advantage of pursuing therapies for rare disorders is the potential to receive orphan drug designation (“ODD”) from the FDA. Our three drug candidates
have received ODD status and, provided certain conditions are met at new drug application approval, those candidates, if approved, will be entitled to orphan drug exclusivity (“ODE”), which blocks FDA from
approving for seven years any other application for a product that is the same drug for the same orphan indication, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with ODE.
ODD status can also result in tax credits of up to 25% of clinical development costs conducted in the United States upon marketing approval and a waiver of the NDA fees, which we estimate can translate into
savings of approximately $4.3 million for our lead drug candidate, GTx-104. Developing drugs for rare diseases can often allow for clinical trials that are more manageably scaled and may require a smaller, more
targeted commercial infrastructure.

The specific diseases targeted for drug development by us are well understood, although the patient populations suffering from such diseases may remain poorly served by available therapies or, in some cases,
approved therapies do not yet exist. We aim to effectively treat debilitating symptoms that result from these underlying diseases.

Our management team possesses significant experience in drug formulation, drug delivery research and development, clinical and pharmaceutical development, manufacturing, regulatory affairs, business
development, as well as late-stage drug development and commercialization. Importantly, our team is comprised of industry professionals with deep expertise and knowledge, including a world-renowned practicing
neurosurgeon-scientist and respected authority in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, as well as product development, chemistry, manufacturing and controls (“CMC”), planning, implementation, management,
and execution of global Phase 2 and Phase 3 trials for GTx-104, and drug commercialization.

Our Pipeline

. GTx-104 is a clinical stage, novel, injectable formulation of nimodipine being developed for IV infusion in aSAH patients to address significant unmet medical needs. The unique nanoparticle technology
of GTx-104 facilitates aqueous formulation of insoluble nimodipine for a standard peripheral IV infusion. GTx-104 provides a convenient IV delivery of nimodipine in the Intensive Care Unit potentially
eliminating the need for nasogastric tube administration in unconscious or dysphagic patients. Intravenous delivery of GTx-104 also has the potential to lower food effects, drug-to-drug interactions, and
eliminate potential dosing errors. Further, GTx-104 has the potential to better manage hypotension in aSAH patients. GTx-104 has been administered in over 200 patients and healthy volunteers and was
well tolerated with significantly lower inter- and intra-subject pharmacokinetic variability compared to oral nimodipine.

. GTx-102 is targeted as the first potential therapy for the treatment of ataxia-telangiectasia (“A-T”) in a pediatric population. A-T is caused by mutations in the ataxia telangiectasia mutated gene. Children
with A-T experience cerebellar ataxia and other motor dysfunctions, oculomotor apraxia, dysarthria, and dysphagia. A Phase-1 pharmacokinetic study was successfully completed and GTx-102 was well
tolerated with no serious events reported.
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*  GTx-101 is a topical bio adhesive film-forming bupivacaine spray for Postherpetic Neuralgia (“PHN”), which can be persistent and often causes debilitating pain following infection by the shingles virus.
Four single-dose Phase 1 studies to evaluate the PK, safety, dose proportionality and tolerability of GTx-101 have been performed. No serious adverse events were reported and GTx-101 was well tolerated.
We believe that GTx-101 could be administered to patients with PHN to treat pain associated with the disease.

GTx-104

GTx-104 is a clinical stage, novel, injectable formulation of nimodipine being developed for IV infusion in aSAH patients to address significant unmet medical needs. The unique nanoparticle technology of GTx-
104 facilitates aqueous formulation of insoluble nimodipine for a standard peripheral IV infusion.

About aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (aSAH)

aSAH is bleeding over the surface of the brain in the subarachnoid space between the brain and the skull, which contains blood vessels that supply the brain. A primary cause of such bleeding is the rupture of an
aneurysm in the brain. aSAH is characterized by high mortality (up to 25% early mortality) and significant potential of neurological decline (approximately 40%). The result is a relatively uncommon type of stroke
that accounts for about 5% of all strokes and an estimated 42,500 U.S. hospital treated patients per year. Patients are typically hospitalized for two to four weeks following aSAH, with the most severe cases
extending to a month or more. Due to the length of hospital stay and disproportionately high mortality and morbidity, aSAH has significant cost of care impact.

In contrast to more common types of ischemic stroke in elderly individuals, aSAH often occurs at a relatively young age, with approximately half the affected patients younger than 60 years old. Approximately 10%
to 15% of aSAH patients die before reaching the hospital, and those who survive the initial hours post hemorrhage are admitted or transferred to tertiary care centers with high risk of complications, including
rebleeding and systemic manifestations affecting cardiovascular, pulmonary, and renal function.

Unmet Needs with Oral Nimodipine

Nimodipine was granted FDA approval in 1988 and is the only approved drug that has been clinically shown to improve neurological outcomes in aSAH patients. It is only available in the United States as a generic
oral capsule and as a branded oral liquid solution called NYMALIZE™, which is manufactured and sold by Arbor Pharmaceuticals (acquired in September 2021 by Azurity Pharmaceuticals). Nimodipine has poor
water solubility and high permeability characteristics because of its high lipophilicity. Additionally, orally administered nimodipine has dose-limiting side-effects such as hypotension, poor absorption and low
bioavailability resulting from high first-pass metabolism, and a narrow administration window as food effects lower bioavailability significantly. Due to these issues, blood levels of orally administered nimodipine
can be highly variable, making it difficult to manage blood pressure in aSAH patients, often leading to frequent dose interruptions. Nimodipine capsules are also difficult to administer, particularly to unconscious
patients or those with impaired ability to swallow, while the oral liquid solution has tolerability challenges due to solubility limitations of nimodipine.

GTx-104 Technology

Our lead drug candidate, GTx-104, is a novel injectable formulation of nimodipine for the treatment of a rare disease, aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. This formulation offers several potential advantages over
oral administration of nimodipine that is the current Standard of Care (SoC) in the United States.

»  Novel injectable formulation of nimodipine
*  Overcomes solubility limitations of nimodipine
» A patented formulation that uses non-ionic surfactant micelles as the drug carrier to solubilize nimodipine

«  Simple to prepare in a pharmacy and stable at room temperature
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10- 15 nm

Surfactant Monomers:

Nimodpine Drug loaded micelles

Polysorbate 80 Blank micelles

Value Proposition

GTx-104 provides a convenient IV delivery of nimodipine in the Intensive Care Unit potentially eliminating the need for nasogastric tube administration in unconscious or dysphagic patients. Intravenous delivery
of GTx-104 also has the potential to lower food effects, drug-to-drug interactions, and eliminate potential dosing errors. Further, GTx-104 has the potential to better manage hypotension in aSAH patients. GTx-104
has been administered in over 200 patients and healthy volunteers and was well tolerated with significantly lower inter- and intra-subject pharmacokinetic variability compared to oral nimodipine.

GTx-104 is designed to address significant unmet medical needs for patients with aSAH. We believe that with this novel nimodipine IV formulation may offer a potential value to physicians, hospitals, and their

patients.

GTx-104 Value Proposition

Clinical Value Hospital Value Patient Value
+ Predictable _drug concentration & +~" Reduced hospital resources +~ Lower disease burden &
dose compliance -/ The Joint Commission compliance faster recovery
" Reduced drug intake, reduced DDIs to aSAH care guidelines ~~ Safer & more convenient treatment
& no food effects .~ Reduced medication emors & ../ Improved functional outcomes
" More effective hypotension nursing burden
management
Risk of Fatal Requires Excipient Hemodynamic Dose Markets
Parenteral Use Feeding Tube Intolerance Control Compliance
ACH ez No Paar Poor LS. /Ww
fes fes Poor Poar Sellilri\:r\'w
Mo No es® Rescue Only EU { China

: ) Global Rights
GTx-104 No No Ho Optimal EEaL DA Submission 1H:25

Sources! Mmodipine capsle packaging insert Flebchar Spaght market resesrch. Soppi V. (2007).
- High aloohol content (~24% volumevalu me ) akeo requires cendral catheter for administration “". e
WAV: Warlchwide £ MERAPEUTIES

DDI: drug-érug imemation
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GTx-104 Market Opportunity

Approximately 42,500 patients in the United States are affected by aSAH per year. Company sponsored third party market research including claims analysis suggests that incidence may be as high as approximately
70,000. Outside of the United States, annual cases of aSAH are estimated at approximately 60,000 in the European Union, and approximately 150,000 in China.

10
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The unmet needs in the treatment of aSAH and the potential of GTx-104 to address the limitations of the current standard of care were the subject of a Key Opinion Leader event we hosted in November 2024. In an
independent market research survey we conducted of hospital administrators and critical and neuro intensive care physicians at institutions with Comprehensive or Advanced Stroke Center certification who are
involved in purchasing decisions for their institutions/units, respondents reported 80% likelihood of adopting an IV formulation of nimodipine, assuming 100% bioavailability, better safety, no food effects, effective
hypotension management, potential hospital value and patient value.

Clinical Data

Pivotal Phase 3 STRIVE-ON Randomized Safety Trial

The STRIVE-ON trial was a prospective, randomized open-label trial of GTx-104 compared with oral nimodipine in patients hospitalized with aSAH. 50 patients were administered GTx-104 and 52 patients
received oral nimodipine. The primary endpoint was the number of patients with at least one episode of clinically significant hypotension reasonably considered to be caused by the drug, and additional endpoints

included safety, clinical, and pharmacoeconomic outcomes. Each patient was evaluated for up to 90 days inclusive of the 21-day treatment period. There was a higher proportion of the most severe cases of aSAH
(Hunt & Hess Grade V) with the worst prognosis in the GTx-104 arm (8%) compared to the oral nimodipine arm (2%).

GTx-104 STRIVE-ON Phase 3 Pivotal Safety Trial Design Perive-on

Trial complete and reported topline data in January 2025
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On September 25, 2024, we announced the completion of enrollment in our Phase 3 STRIVE-ON trial for GTx-104. On February 10, 2025, we announced the trial met its primary endpoint and provided evidence of
clinical benefit for GTx-104 compared to orally administered nimodipine. Patients receiving GTx-104 were observed to have a 19% reduction in at least one incidence of clinically significant hypotension compared
to oral nimodipine (28% versus 35%). Other measures also favored or were comparable to GTx-104, including:

*  54% of patients who received GTx-104 had a relative dose intensity of 95% or higher of the prescribed dose compared to only 8% on oral nimodipine.

*  29% relative increase in the number of patients receiving GTx-104 compared to oral nimodipine with favorable outcomes at 90 days follow up on the modified Rankin scale. Quality of life as measured by
EQ-5D-3L also favored patients receiving GTx-104 versus oral nimodipine.

«  Fewer intensive care unit (ICU) readmissions, ICU days, and ventilator days for patients receiving GTx-104 versus oral nimodipine.
*  Adverse events were comparable between the two arms and no new safety issues were identified with patients receiving GTx-104. All deaths in both arms of the trial were due to severity of the patient’s
underlying disease. There were eight deaths on the GTx-104 arm compared to four deaths on the oral nimodipine arm. The survival status of one patient on the oral nimodipine arm was unknown. No

deaths were determined to be related to GTx-104 or oral nimodipine.

Furthermore, pharmacoeconomic measures favored the use of GTx-104 for patients with aSAH.
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We believe these data validate the GTx-104 value proposition and we plan to submit an NDA to the FDA in the first half of calendar year 2025. If approved, GTx-104 has the potential to address significant
challenges with oral nimodipine administration and may transform the standard of care for patients with aSAH.

GTx-104 Phase 1 PK Trial

In September 2021, we initiated our pivotal pharmacokinetic (“PK”) bridging trial to evaluate the relative bioavailability of GTx-104 compared to currently marketed oral nimodipine capsules in approximately 50
healthy subjects. This PK trial established the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for GTx-104.

Final results from this pivotal PK trial were reported in May 2022, and showed that the bioavailability of GTx-104 compared favorably with the oral formulation of nimodipine in all subjects, and no serious adverse
events were observed for GTx-104.

All endpoints indicated that statistically there was no difference in exposures between GTx-104 and oral nimodipine over the defined time periods for both maximum exposure and total exposure. Plasma
concentrations obtained following IV administration showed significantly less variability between subjects as compared to oral administration of capsules because IV administration is not as sensitive to some of the
physiological processes that affect oral administration, such as taking the drug with and without meals, variable gastrointestinal transit time, variable drug uptake from the gastrointestinal tract into the systemic
circulation, and variable hepatic blood flow and hepatic first pass metabolism. Previous studies have shown these processes significantly affect the oral bioavailability of nimodipine, and therefore cause oral
administration to be prone to larger inter- and intra-subject variability.

The bioavailability of oral nimodipine capsules observed was only approximately 7% compared to 100% for GTx-104. Consequently, about one-twelfth the amount of nimodipine is delivered with GTx-104 to
achieve comparable PKs as with the oral capsules. This data is presented in the chart below.
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GTx-104-002 Phase 1: Results
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In April 2025, we announced details of a Type C written meeting response with the FDA. The purpose of this meeting was to obtain feedback on the completed Phase 3 STRIVE-ON safety trial of GTx-104 and our
planned NDA submission, including clinical, non-clinical, and CMC requirements.

Based on feedback from the FDA, we believe that the data and regulatory packages as currently structured will be sufficient for submission of an NDA. We anticipate filing the NDA for GTx-104 in the second
quarter of 2025. Acceptance of the NDA will be subject to the FDA’s review of the complete filing.

GTx-102

GTx-102 is a novel, concentrated oral-mucosal spray of betamethasone intended to improve neurological symptoms of A-T for which there are currently no FDA-approved therapies. GTx-102 is a stable,
concentrated oral spray formulation comprised of the gluco-corticosteroid betamethasone that, together with other excipients, can be sprayed conveniently over the tongue of the A-T patient and is rapidly absorbed.

We have licensed the data from the multicenter, double-blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled crossover trial from Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Senese, Siena, Italy, where Dr. Zannolli et. al. studied the
effect of oral liquid solution of betamethasone to reduce ataxia symptoms in patients with A-T. This oral liquid solution is not marketed in the United States, and therefore is not available for clinical use. Currently,
betamethasone is only available in the United States as an injectable or as a topical cream. This license gives us the right to reference the trial’s data in our NDA filing. On November 12, 2015, we submitted the data
from the Zannolli trial to the FDA’s Division of Neurology at a pre-Investigational New Drug (“IND”) meeting and received guidance from the agency on the regulatory requirements to seek approval.
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About Ataxia Telangiectasia
A-T is a rare genetic progressive autosomal recessive neurodegenerative disorder that affects children, with the hallmark symptoms of cerebellar ataxia and other motor dysfunction, and dilated blood vessels

(telangiectasia) that occur in the sclera of the eyes. A-T is caused by mutations in the ataxia telangiectasia gene, which is responsible for modulating cellular response to stress, including breaks in the double strands
of DNA.

Children with A-T begin to experience balance and coordination problems when they begin to walk (toddler age), and ultimately become wheelchair-bound in their second decade of life. In pre-adolescence
(between ages 5 and 8), patients experience oculomotor apraxia, dysarthria, and dysphagia. They also often develop compromised immune systems and are at increased risk of developing respiratory tract infections
and cancer (typically lymphomas and leukemia).

Unmet Needs

There is no known treatment to slow disease progression, and treatments that are used are strictly aimed at controlling the symptoms (or conditions secondary to the disease. There are no FDA-approved therapeutic
options currently available. Patients typically die by age 25 from complications of lung disease or cancer.

Market Opportunity

According to a third-party report we commissioned, A-T affects approximately 4,300 patients per year in the United States and has a potential total addressable market of $150 million, based on the number of
treatable patients in the United States.

Clinical Data

In a multicenter, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled crossover trial conducted in Italy, Dr. Zannolli et al. studied the effect of an oral liquid solution of betamethasone on the reduction of ataxia symptoms
in 13 children (between ages 2 to 8 years) with A-T. The primary outcome measure was the reduction in ataxia symptoms as assessed by the International Cooperative Ataxia Rating Scale (“ICARS”).

In the trial, oral liquid betamethasone reduced the ICARS total score by a median of 13 points in the intent-to-treat population and 16 points in the per-protocol population (the median percent decreases of ataxia
symptoms of 28% and 31%, respectively). Adverse events in the trial were minimal, with no compulsory withdrawals and only minor side effects that did not require medical intervention. Clinical trial results in A-
T patients administered oral betamethasone indicated that betamethasone significantly reduced ICARS total score relative to placebo (P = 0.01). The median ICARS change score (change in score with
betamethasone minus change in score with placebo) was -13 points (95% confidence interval for the difference in medians was -19 to -5.5 points).

Based on the Zannolli data, we believe that our GTx-102 concentrated oral spray has the potential to provide clinical benefits in decreasing A-T symptoms, including assessments of posture and gait disturbance and
kinetic, speech and oculomotor functions. In addition, GTx-102 may ease drug administration for patients experiencing A-T given its application of 1-3x/day of 140uL of concentrated betamethasone liquid sprayed
onto the tongue using a more convenient metered dose delivery system, as these A-T patients typically have difficulty swallowing.

Pharmacokinetic Data

GTx-102 administered as a concentrated oral spray achieves similar blood levels at only 1/70th the volume of an oral solution of betamethasone. This more convenient mode of administration will be important for
A-T patients who have difficulties swallowing large volumes of liquids.
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Nonclinical PK Comparison of GTX-102 Betamethasone Oral Spray
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We initiated a PK bridging trial of GTx-102 as compared to the oral liquid solution of betamethasone used in the Zannolli trial and against the injectable form of betamethasone that is approved in the U.S. in the
third calendar quarter of 2022. The primary objectives of the PK bridging trial were to evaluate the bioavailability, pharmacokinetics, and safety of GTx-102. In December 2022, we reported that the topline results
of this trial met all primary outcome measures.

Next Steps

On February 13, 2025, we announced FDA’s written responses to our GTx-102 End of Phase 1 meeting request where FDA made recommendations on the path toward an NDA. They provided guidance on the
design of a single pivotal efficacy and safety trial, including the neurological assessment scale for the primary endpoint, that could, with appropriate confirmatory evidence, support an NDA. We plan to collaborate
with our scientific advisory board and FDA (via Type C meeting) on the design of a potential pivotal efficacy and safety trial and will determine the next steps after that time. Further clinical development work
will be contingent on additional funding for GTx-102 or the signing of a strategic partnership. It is also possible that we may license or sell our GTx-102 drug candidate.

GTx-101

GTx-101 is a non-narcotic, topical bio-adhesive film-forming bupivacaine spray designed to ease the symptoms of patients suffering with PHN. GTx-101 is administered via a metered-dose of bupivacaine spray
and forms a thin bio-adhesive topical film on the surface of the patient’s skin, which enables a touch-free, non-greasy application. It also comes in convenient, portable 30 ml plastic bottles. Unlike oral gabapentin
and lidocaine patches which are used for the treatment of PHN, we believe that the biphasic delivery mechanism of GTx-101 has the potential for rapid onset of action and continuous pain relief for up to eight
hours. No skin sensitivity was reported in a Phase 1 trial.
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bioadhesive topical film:
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> No skin sensitivity reported in Phase 1 study
+ Non-narcotic, non-addictive pain management

~ Potentially reduces the need for opioids

About Postherpetic Neuralgia (PHN)

PHN is neuropathic pain due to damage caused by the varicella zoster virus (“VZV”). Infection with VZV causes two distinct clinical conditions. Primary VZV infection causes varicella (i.e., chickenpox), a
contagious rash illness that typically occurs among young children. Secondary VZV can reactivate clinically, decades after initial infection, to cause herpes zoster (“HZ”), otherwise known as shingles. Acute HZ
arises when dormant virus particles, persisting within an affected sensory ganglion from the earlier, primary infection with VZV become reactivated when cellular immunity to varicella decreases. Viral particles
replicate and may spread to the dorsal root, into the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, and through peripheral sensory nerve fibers down to the level of the skin. Viral particles also may circulate in the blood. This
reactivation is accompanied by inflammation of the skin, immune response, hemorrhage, and destruction of peripheral and central neurons and their fibers. Following such neural degeneration, distinct types of
pathophysiological mechanisms involving both the central and peripheral nervous systems may give rise to the severe nerve pain associated with PHN. While the rash associated with HZ typically heals within two
to four weeks, the pain may persist for months or even years, and this PHN manifestation is the most common and debilitating complication of HZ. There is currently no consensus definition for PHN, but it has
been suggested by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that PHN is best defined as pain lasting at least three months after resolution of the rash.

Unmet Need

PHN is associated with significant loss of function and reduced quality of life, particularly in the elderly. It has a detrimental effect on all aspects of a patient’s quality of life. The nature of PHN pain varies from
mild to severe, constant, intermittent, or triggered by trivial stimuli. Approximately half of patients with PHN describe their pain as “horrible” or “excruciating,” ranging in duration from a few minutes to constant
on a daily or almost daily basis. The pain can disrupt sleep, mood, work, and activities of daily living, adversely impacting the quality of life and leading to social withdrawal and depression. PHN is the foremost
cause of intractable, debilitating pain in the elderly, and has been cited as the leading cause of suicide in chronic pain patients over the age of 70.

Current treatment of PHN most often consists of oral gabapentin (first line) and prescription lidocaine patches or antidepressants (second line), and refractory cases may be prescribed opioids to address persistent
pain. Gabapentin and opioid abuse have continued to proliferate, and lidocaine patches are suboptimal for many reasons. An independent third-party market research firm we commissioned interviewed more than
250 physicians who regularly treat PHN patients and found that approximately 40% of patients using lidocaine patches experience insufficient pain relief. Lidocaine patches are difficult to use, fall off, and look
unsightly with possible skin sensitivity and irritation. Additionally, lidocaine patches can only be used for 12 hours and then need to be removed for 12 hours before being reapplied. Prescription lidocaine patches
are only approved for PHN, and the market is currently made up of both branded and generic offerings.
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Market Potential

It is estimated that PHN affects approximately 120,000 patients per year in the United States. According to a third-party report, the total addressable market for GTx-101 could be as large as $2.5 billion, consisting
of approximately $200 million for PHN pain and $2.3 billion for non-PHN pain indications.

Clinical Data

To date, we have conducted four Phase I trials in healthy volunteers to assess the PK, safety, and tolerability of GTx-101 and to determine the plasma levels of bupivacaine hydrogen chloride administered as a
single dose in various concentrations between 30 mg (three sprays) and 2100 mg (twenty sprays).

These trials confirmed that GTx-101 is well absorbed through the skin, as demonstrated in the graph below, while very little is absorbed systemically.

In all four trials, the administration of GTx-101 to healthy volunteers was safe and well tolerated. In addition, no evidence of skin irritation was observed at the application site following the spray administrations.
The data below is from two separate trials superimposed on each other — one trial of GTx-101 and one trial of the Lidoderm patch.

Phase 1 Single Dose PK Data in Humans

GTX-101 vs. Lidoderm
Plasma Peak Response
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Regulatory

The data from the single dose Phase 1 clinical trial for GTx-101 was submitted to the FDA’s Division of Anesthesiology and feedback was received at a pre-IND meeting that informed the design of pre-clinical
toxicology studies and a clinical and regulatory pathway to approval under section 505(b)(2). We completed a minipig skin sensitivity study in the second calendar quarter of 2022, and we initiated a single dose PK
trial in healthy human volunteers in July 2022. Topline results from this single dose PK trial were reported in December 2022, and the results met all primary outcome measures.

Next Steps

The further development of GTx-101 has been deprioritized in favor of our focus on development of GTx-104. Pending additional funding for GTx-101 or the signing of a strategic partnership, we plan to follow

this successful PK trial with the next step of the clinical development plan including a multiple ascending dose trial. Results from these non-clinical studies and clinical trials are required before the initiation of our
Phase 2 program in PHN patients. It is also possible that we may license or sell our GTx-101 drug candidate.
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Commercialization Strategy

We have worldwide commercialization rights for all our pipeline drug candidates and plan to maximize the value of each of our drug candidates over time. Currently, we have prioritized the development of GTx-
104 over that of GTx-102 and GTx-101. If we receive regulatory approval for GTx-104 in the U.S., we plan to commercialize GTx-104 with a highly experienced and targeted hospital-based sales force. We may
further seek commercial partnerships to fully exploit the market potential of GTx-104 in territories outside the U.S. It is possible that we out-license or sell GTx-102 and/or GTx-101 for the U.S. and/or global
markets.
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Manufacturing and Supply

We currently do not own any manufacturing facilities. The manufacture of our pipeline of drug candidates is highly reliant on complex techniques and personnel aseptic techniques, which present significant
challenges and require specialized expertise. Further, these processes undergo a high level of scrutiny by regulatory agencies. Consequently, we utilize a network of third-party CMOs for manufacturing our drug
candidates. All CMOs are monitored and evaluated by us to assess compliance with regulatory requirements.

We work with independent consultants to perform periodic quality audits of our manufacturers to review the manufacturing process for our drug candidates and to provide input on quality issues. All lots of the
drug substance and drug product used in clinical supply are manufactured under current good manufacturing practices. We plan to continue to rely upon CMOs to manufacture clinical and commercial quantities if
a product is approved. We have development agreements in place with these CMOs and we have personnel with pharmaceutical development and manufacturing experience who are responsible for the
relationships with our CMOs.

Intellectual Property Portfolio

We have a multi-layered intellectual property protection strategy, which we believe will create barriers to entry and solidify our position in the market. All of our clinical pipeline drug candidates have received
orphan status designation from the FDA, which could result in 7 years of marketing exclusivity in the United States. Orphan status in Europe could result in 10 years of final marketing exclusivity. Such marketing
exclusivity is dependent on the candidates receiving final marketing authorizations from the applicable government agencies, and the conditions for receiving such marketing exclusivity. In addition, we protect
our drug candidates through a well-defined patent filing strategy. Our patent estate includes more than 40 granted and pending patents in various global jurisdictions, including 8 U.S. issued patents and 4 filed
U.S. patent applications. We believe that our intellectual property portfolio, consisting primarily of composition and method-of-use patents, will protect the market value of our products by extending exclusivity
beyond what is granted through the orphan designation. We intend to continue to build our patent portfolio by filing for patent protection on new developments with respect to our product candidates. We expect
that these patents will, if and when issued, allow us to list our own patents in the Orange Book: Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence issued by the FDA, to which potential competitors will be
required to certify upon submission of their applications referencing our drug products, if approved.

We strive to protect and enhance the proprietary technology, inventions, and improvements that are commercially important to the development of our business, including seeking, maintaining, and defending
patent rights, whether developed internally or licensed from third parties. We also rely on trade secrets relating to manufacturing know-how, continuing technological innovation and in-licensing opportunities to
develop, strengthen, and maintain our proprietary position. We may also rely on regulatory protections afforded through orphan drug status, data exclusivity, market exclusivity, and patent term extensions, where
available.

We are actively seeking U.S. and international patent protection for a variety of technologies and intend to seek patent protection or rely upon trade secret rights to protect other technologies that may be used to
discover and validate targets and that may be used to identify and develop novel pharmaceutical products. We seek these protections, in part, through confidentiality and proprietary information agreements.

Individual patents extend for varying periods depending on the date of filing or the date of issuance, and the legal term of patents in the countries in which they are obtained. Generally, utility patents issued for
applications filed in the United States are granted a term of 20 years from the earliest effective filing date of a non-provisional patent application. In addition, in certain instances, a patent term can be extended to
recapture a portion of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office delay in issuing the patent as well as a portion of the term effectively lost as a result of the FDA regulatory review period. However, as to the FDA
component, the restoration period cannot be longer than 5 years and the total patent term including the restoration period must not exceed 14 years following FDA approval. The duration of foreign patents varies
in accordance with provisions of applicable local law, but typically is also 20 years from the earliest effective filing date. The actual protection afforded by a patent may vary on a product-by-product basis from
country to country and can depend upon many factors, including the type of patent, the scope of its coverage, the availability of regulatory-related extensions, the availability of legal remedies in a particular
country and the validity and enforceability of the patent.

We have several issued U.S. patents and patent applications as well as patents and patent applications in other jurisdictions. Five patents for GTx-104 have been granted in the United States, one patent for GTx-

101 has been granted in each of Japan, Europe, Australia, Canada and India. One patent for GTx-101 has been granted in Europe, China, Mexico, Japan and South Africa. One patent for GTx-102 has been granted
in each of the United States, Japan, Australia and Canada. One patent for GTx-201 has been granted in each of the United States and Japan.
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Government Regulation

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other federal, state, and local regulatory agencies. The FDCA and the FDA's implementing regulations set forth, among other things, requirements for the
testing, development, manufacture, quality control, safety, effectiveness, approval, labeling, storage, record-keeping, reporting, distribution, import, export, sale, advertising and promotion of our product
candidates. Although we focus on regulation in the U.S., because that is currently our primary focus, we may seek approval for, and market, our products candidates in other countries in the future. Generally, our
activities in other countries will be subject to regulation that is similar in nature and scope as that imposed in the U.S., although there can be important differences.

Development and Approval
Under the FDCA, FDA approval of an NDA is required before any new drug can be marketed in the U.S. NDAs require extensive studies and submission of a large amount of data by the applicant.

Preclinical Testing. Before testing any compound in human patients in the U.S., a company must generate extensive preclinical data. Preclinical testing generally includes laboratory evaluation of product
chemistry and formulation, as well as toxicological and pharmacological studies in several animal species to assess the toxicity and dosing of the product. Certain animal studies must be performed in compliance
with the FDA's Good Laboratory Practice (“GLP”) regulations and the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Animal Welfare Act.

IND Application. Human clinical trials in the U.S. cannot commence until an IND application is submitted and becomes effective. A company must submit preclinical testing results to the FDA as part of the IND,
and the FDA must evaluate whether there is an adequate basis for testing the drug in initial clinical studies in human volunteers. Unless the FDA raises concerns, the IND becomes effective 30 days following its
receipt by the FDA, and the clinical trial proposed in the IND may begin. Once human clinical trials have commenced, the FDA may temporarily or permanently stop a clinical trial by placing it on "clinical hold"
at any time because of concerns about the safety of the product being tested, or for other reasons.

Clinical Trials. Clinical trials involve the administration of a drug to healthy human volunteers or to patients, under the supervision of a qualified investigator. The conduct of clinical trials is subject to extensive
regulation, including compliance with the FDA's bioresearch monitoring regulations and current Good Clinical Practice (“cGCP”) requirements, which establish standards for conducting, recording data from, and
reporting the results of, clinical trials, and are intended to assure that the data and reported results are credible and accurate, and that the rights, safety, and well-being of study participants are protected. Clinical
trials must be conducted under protocols that detail the study objectives, parameters for monitoring safety, and the efficacy criteria, if any, to be evaluated. Each protocol is reviewed by the FDA as part of the IND.
In addition, each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by, and conducted under the auspices of, an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) for each clinical site. Companies sponsoring the clinical trials,
investigators, and IRBs also must comply with, as applicable, regulations and guidelines for obtaining informed consent from the study patients, following the protocol and investigational plan, adequately
monitoring the clinical trial, and timely reporting of adverse events. The FDA enforces good clinical practices through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, clinical investigators, and trial sites. Foreign studies
conducted under an IND must meet the same requirements that apply to studies being conducted in the U.S. Data from a foreign study not conducted under an IND may be submitted in support of an NDA if the
study was conducted in accordance with cGCP and the FDA is able to validate the data.

A study sponsor is required to publicly post specified details about certain clinical trials and clinical trial results on government or independent websites (e.g., https://clinicaltrials.gov). Human clinical trials
typically are conducted in three sequential phases, although the phases may overlap, be combined, or be subdivided in some cases:

. Phase 1 clinical trials involve the initial administration of the investigational drug to humans, typically to a small group of healthy human subjects, but occasionally to a group of patients with the
targeted disease or disorder. Phase 1 clinical trials generally are intended to evaluate the safety, metabolism and pharmacologic actions of the drug, the side effects associated with increasing doses, and,
if possible, to gain early evidence of effectiveness.

. Phase 2 clinical trials generally are controlled studies that involve a relatively small sample of the intended patient population and are designed to develop initial data regarding the product's
effectiveness, to determine dose response and the optimal dose range, and to gather additional information relating to safety and potential adverse events.

. Phase 3 clinical trials are conducted after preliminary evidence of effectiveness has been obtained and are intended to gather the additional information about safety and effectiveness necessary to
evaluate the drug's overall risk-benefit profile, and to provide a basis for physician labeling. Generally, Phase 3 clinical development programs consist of expanded, multi-site, large-scale studies of
patients with the target disease or disorder to obtain statistical evidence of the efficacy and safety of the drug at the proposed dosing regimen. Phase 3 data often form the core basis on which the FDA
evaluates a drug’s safety and effectiveness when considering the product application.
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The sponsoring company, the FDA, or the IRB may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Further,
success in early-stage clinical trials does not assure success in later-stage clinical trials. Data obtained from clinical activities are not always conclusive and may be subject to alternative interpretations that could
delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.

NDA Submission and Review. The FDCA provides two pathways for the approval of new drugs through an NDA. An NDA under Section 505(b)(1) of the FDCA is a comprehensive application to support approval
of a product candidate that includes, among other things, data and information to demonstrate that the proposed drug is safe and effective for its proposed uses, that manufacturing methods and controls are adequate
to ensure its identity, strength, quality, and purity of the drug, and that proposed labeling is appropriate and contains all necessary information. A 505(b)(1) NDA contains results of the full set of preclinical studies
and clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of the applicant to characterize and evaluate the product candidate including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive findings.

Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA provides an alternate regulatory pathway to obtain FDA approval that permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval comes from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference. The applicant may rely to some extent upon the FDA's findings of safety and effectiveness for an approved
product that acts as the reference drug and submit its own product-specific data — which may include data from preclinical studies or clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of the applicant — to address
differences between the product candidate and the reference drug. We are pursuing the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway for GTx-104, with NIMOTOP oral capsules as the reference drug.

The submission of an NDA under either Section 505(b)(1) or Section 505(b)(2) generally requires payment of a substantial user fee to the FDA. However, such fees can be waived by the FDA for orphan drugs such
as GTx-104.

When an NDA is submitted, the FDA makes an initial determination as to whether the application is sufficiently complete to be accepted for review. The FDA may refuse to file an application and/or request
additional information before acceptance. A refusal to file, which requires resubmission of the NDA with the requested additional information, delays review of the application. Once accepted for filing, FDA begins
an in-depth review of the application. The FDA reviews applications to determine, among other things, whether a product is safe and effective for its intended use and whether the manufacturing controls are
adequate to assure and preserve the product's identity, strength, quality, and purity. For some NDAs, the FDA may convene an advisory committee to seek insights and recommendations on issues relevant to
approval of the application. Although the FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee, the agency considers such recommendations carefully when making decisions.

The FDA may determine that a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”) is necessary to ensure that the benefits of a new product outweigh its risks, and the product can therefore be approved. A REMS
may include various elements, ranging from a medication guide or patient package insert to limitations on who may prescribe or dispense the drug, depending on what the FDA considers necessary for the safe use
of the drug. Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, certain applications for approval must also include an assessment, generally based on clinical study data, of the safety and effectiveness of the subject drug in
relevant pediatric populations. Before approving an NDA, the FDA will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the
manufacturing processes and facilities are compliant with current Good Manufacturing Practice (“cGMP”) requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications.

Once the FDA accepts an NDA submission which occurs, if at all, within 60 days after submission of the NDA — under the current goals and policies agreed to by the FDA under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act
(“PDUFA”), the FDA's standard goal for a review of an NDA is ten months from the filing decision, or six months from the filing decision for a priority application. The FDA does not always meet its PDUFA goal
dates, and in certain circumstances, the PDUFA goal date may be extended, by FDA requests for additional information, studies, or clarification. After reviewing an NDA and the facilities where the product is
manufactured, the FDA either issues an approval letter or a complete response letter (“CRL”) outlining the deficiencies in the submission. The CRL may require additional testing or information, including
additional preclinical or clinical data. Even if such additional information and data are submitted, the FDA may decide that the NDA still does not meet the standards for approval. Data from clinical trials are not
always conclusive and the FDA may interpret data differently than the sponsor.

Obtaining regulatory approval may take several years, involves the expenditure of substantial resources, and depends on several factors, including the severity of the disease in question, the availability of alternative

treatments, and the risks and benefits demonstrated in clinical trials. Additionally, as a condition of approval, the FDA may impose restrictions that could affect the commercial success of a drug or impose post-
approval commitments and requirements, including the completion within a specified time of additional clinical studies or trials, which often are referred to as "Phase 4" or "post-marketing" studies.
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Post-approval modifications to the drug, such as changes in indications, labeling, or manufacturing processes or facilities, may require a sponsor to develop additional data or conduct additional preclinical studies or
clinical trials, to be submitted in a new or supplemental NDA, which would require FDA approval.

Post-Approval Regulation

Once approved, drug products are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA. If ongoing regulatory requirements are not met or if safety or manufacturing problems occur after the product reaches the market, the
FDA may at any time withdraw product approval or take actions that would limit or suspend marketing. Additionally, the FDA may require post-marketing studies or clinical trials, changes to a product’s approved
labeling, including the addition of new warnings and contraindications, or the implementation of other risk management measures, including distribution-related restrictions, if there are new safety information
developments.

Good Manufacturing Practices. Companies engaged in manufacturing drug products, or their components must comply with applicable cGMP requirements and product-specific regulations enforced by the FDA
and other regulatory agencies. Compliance with cGMP includes adhering to requirements relating to organization and training of personnel, buildings and facilities, equipment, control of components and drug
product containers and closures, production and process controls, quality control and quality assurance, packaging and labeling controls, holding and distribution, laboratory controls, and records and reports. The
FDA regulates and inspects equipment, facilities, and processes used in manufacturing pharmaceutical products prior to approval. If, after receiving approval, a company makes a material change in manufacturing
equipment, location, or process (all of which are, to some degree, incorporated in the NDA), additional regulatory review and approval may be required. The FDA also conducts regular, periodic visits to re-inspect
equipment, facilities, and processes following the initial approval of a product. Failure to comply with applicable cGMP requirements and conditions of product approval may lead the FDA to take enforcement
action or seek sanctions, including fines, issuance of warning letters, civil penalties, injunctions, suspension of manufacturing operations, operating restrictions, withdrawal of FDA approval, seizure or recall of
products, and criminal prosecution. Although we periodically monitor the FDA compliance of our third-party manufacturers, we cannot be certain that our present or future third-party manufacturers will
consistently comply with cGMP and other applicable FDA regulatory requirements.

Adbvertising and Promotion. The FDA and other federal regulatory agencies closely regulate the marketing and promotion of drugs through, among other things, standards and regulations for direct-to-consumer
advertising, advertising and promotion to healthcare professionals, communications regarding unapproved uses, industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities, and promotional activities involving the
Internet. A product cannot be commercially promoted before it is approved. After approval, product promotion can include only those claims relating to safety and effectiveness that are consistent with the labeling
approved by the FDA. Healthcare providers are permitted to prescribe drugs for "off-label" uses — that is, uses not approved by the FDA and not described in the product's labeling — because the FDA does not
regulate the practice of medicine. However, FDA regulations impose restrictions on manufacturers' communications regarding off-label uses. Broadly speaking, a manufacturer may not promote a drug for off-label
use, but under certain conditions may engage in non-promotional, balanced, scientific communication regarding off-label use. In addition to FDA restrictions on the marketing of pharmaceutical products, state and
federal fraud and abuse laws have been applied to restrict certain marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry. Failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements and restrictions in this area may subject a
company to adverse publicity and enforcement action by the FDA, the Department of Justice, or the Office of the Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services, as well as state authorities.
This could subject a company to a range of penalties that could have a significant commercial impact, including civil and criminal fines and agreements that materially restrict the way a company promotes or
distributes a drug.

Other Requirements. NDA holders must comply with other regulatory requirements, including submitting annual reports, reporting information about adverse drug experiences, and maintaining certain records.

Additionally, on December 20, 2019, President Trump signed the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2020 into law (P.L. 116-94), which includes bipartisan legislation called the Creating and Restoring
Equal Access to Equivalent Samples Act of 2019 or the “CREATES Act.” The CREATES Act aims to address the concern articulated by both the FDA and others in the industry that some brand manufacturers have
improperly restricted the distribution of their products, including by invoking the existence of a REMS for certain products, to deny generic product developers access to samples of brand products. Because generic
product developers need samples to conduct certain comparative testing required by the FDA, some have attributed the inability to timely obtain samples as a cause of delay in the entry of generic products. To
remedy this concern, the CREATES Act establishes a private cause of action that permits a generic product developer to sue the brand manufacturer to compel it to furnish the necessary samples on “commercially
reasonable, market-based terms.”
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Hatch-Waxman Act

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Act”) establishes two abbreviated approval pathways for pharmaceutical products that are in some way follow-on
versions of already approved products.

Generic Drugs. A generic version of an approved drug is approved by means of abbreviated NDA (“ANDA”), by which the sponsor demonstrates that the proposed product is the same as the approved, brand-name
drug, which is referred to as the reference listed drug (“RLD”). Generally, an ANDA must contain data and information showing that the proposed generic product and RLD (i) have the same active ingredient, in the
same strength and dosage form, to be delivered via the same route of administration, (ii) are intended for the same uses, and (iii) are bioequivalent. This is instead of independently demonstrating the proposed
product's safety and effectiveness, which are inferred from the fact that the product is the same as the RLD, which the FDA previously found to be safe and effective.

505(b)(2) NDAs. As discussed above, if a product is similar, but not identical, to an already approved product, it may be submitted for approval via an NDA under section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA. Unlike an ANDA,
this does not excuse the sponsor from demonstrating the proposed product's safety and effectiveness. Rather, the sponsor is permitted to rely to some degree on information from investigations that were not
conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of reference and must submit its own product-specific data of safety and effectiveness to an extent necessary because of the
differences between the products. An NDA approved under 505(b)(2) may in turn serve as an RLD for subsequent applications from other sponsors.

RLD Patents. In an NDA, a sponsor must identify patents that claim the drug substance or drug product or a method of using the drug. When the drug is approved, those patents are among the information about the
product that is listed in the FDA publication, “Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” which is referred to as the Orange Book. The sponsor of an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application
seeking to rely on an approved product as the RLD must make one of several certifications regarding each listed patent. A “Paragraph I” certification is the sponsor’s statement that patent information has not been
filed for the RLD. A “Paragraph II” certification is the sponsor’s statement that the RLD’s patents have expired. A "Paragraph III" certification is the sponsor's statement that it will wait for the patent to expire
before obtaining approval for its product. A "Paragraph IV" certification is an assertion that the patent does not block approval of the later product, either because the patent is invalid or unenforceable or because the
patent, even if valid, is not infringed by the new product.

Regulatory Exclusivities. The Hatch-Waxman Act provides periods of regulatory exclusivity for products that would serve as RLDs for an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application. If a product is a "new chemical entity," or
“NCE” — generally meaning that the active moiety has never before been approved in any drug — there is a period of five years from the product's approval during which the FDA may not accept for filing any
ANDA or 505(b)(2) application for a drug with the same active moiety. An ANDA or 505(b)(2) application may be submitted after four years, however, if the sponsor of the application makes a Paragraph IV
certification.

A product that is not an NCE (i.e., the active moiety has been previously approved) may qualify for a three-year period of exclusivity if the NDA, including a 505(b)(2) application contains new clinical data, (other
than bioavailability studies) derived from studies conducted by or for the sponsor, that were necessary for approval. In that instance, the exclusivity period does not preclude filing or review of an ANDA or 505(b)
(2) application; rather, the FDA is precluded from granting final approval to the ANDA or 505(b)(2) application until three years after approval of the RLD. Additionally, the exclusivity applies only to the
conditions of approval that require submission of the clinical data.

Once the FDA accepts for filing an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application containing a Paragraph IV certification, the applicant must within 20 days provide notice to the RLD or listed drug NDA holder and patent owner
that the application has been submitted and provide the factual and legal basis for the applicant's assertion that the patent is invalid or not infringed. If the NDA holder or patent owner files suit against the ANDA or
505(b)(2) applicant for patent infringement within 45 days of receiving the Paragraph IV notice, the FDA is prohibited from approving the ANDA or 505(b)(2) application for a period of 30 months or the resolution
of the underlying suit, whichever is earlier. If the RLD has NCE exclusivity and the notice is given and suit filed during the fifth year of exclusivity, the regulatory stay extends until 7.5 years after the RLD
approval. The FDA may approve the proposed product before the expiration of the regulatory stay if a court finds the patent invalid or not infringed or if the court shortens the period because the parties have failed
to cooperate in expediting the litigation.

If the RLD has NCE exclusivity and the notice is given and suit filed during the fifth year of exclusivity, the regulatory stay extends until 7.5 years after the RLD approval. The FDA may approve the proposed
product before the expiration of the regulatory stay if a court finds the patent invalid or not infringed or if the court shortens the period because the parties have failed to cooperate in expediting the litigation.

23




Table of Contents

Patent Term Restoration. A portion of the patent term lost during product development and FDA review of an NDA, including a 505(b)(2) application, may be restored if approval of the application is the first
permitted commercial marketing of a drug product containing an active ingredient. The patent term restoration period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of the IND or the date of patent grant
(whichever is later) and the date of submission of the NDA, plus the time between the date of submission of the NDA and the date of FDA approval of the product. The maximum period of restoration is five years,
and the patent cannot be extended to more than 14 years from the date of FDA approval of the product. Only one patent claiming each approved product is eligible for restoration and the patent holder must apply for
restoration within 60 days of approval. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the application for patent term restoration.

Other Exclusivities

Pediatric Exclusivity. Section 505A of the FDCA provides for a six-month extension of exclusivity or patent protection if an NDA sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly responds to a written request from the
FDA for such data. The data does not need to show that the product is effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to the FDA's written request, additional
protection is granted. If reports of requested pediatric studies are submitted to and accepted by FDA within the statutory time limits, whatever existing statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or Orange Book
listed patent protection that cover the drug are extended by six months. This is not a patent term extension, but it effectively extends the regulatory period during which the FDA cannot approve an ANDA or 505(b)
(2) application owing to regulatory exclusivity or listed patents. When any product is approved, we will evaluate seeking pediatric exclusivity as appropriate.

Orphan Drug Exclusivity. The Orphan Drug Act provides incentives for the development of drugs intended to treat rare diseases or conditions, which is one that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S. or
more than 200,000 individuals, but for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the product and making it available in the U.S. for the disease or condition will be recovered from U.S.
sales of the product. If a sponsor demonstrates that a drug product qualifies for ODD, the FDA grants ODD to the product for that use. The benefits of ODD include research and development tax credits and
exemption from user fees. A drug that is approved for the orphan drug designated indication generally is granted seven years of orphan drug exclusivity. During that period, the FDA generally may not approve any
other application for the same drug for the same indication, although there are exceptions, most notably when the later product is shown to be clinically superior to the product with exclusivity. Clinical superiority
can be established by way of greater efficacy, greater safety, or making a major contribution to patient care. The FDA can revoke a product’s orphan drug exclusivity under certain circumstances, including when the
product sponsor is unable to assure the availability of sufficient quantities of the product to meet patient needs. Orphan drug exclusivity does not prevent the FDA from approving a different drug for the same
disease or condition, or the same drug for a different disease or condition.

All our clinical-stage product candidates — GTx-104, GTx-102, and GTx-101 — have an ODD.
U.S. Healthcare Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended (the "Affordable Care Act"), is a sweeping measure intended to expand healthcare coverage within the U.S., primarily through the imposition of health
insurance mandates on employers and individuals and expansion of the Medicaid program. This law substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers and significantly
impacts the pharmaceutical industry. Changes that may affect our business include those governing enrollment in federal healthcare programs, reimbursement changes, benefits for patients within a coverage gap in
the Medicare Part D prescription drug program (commonly known as the "donut hole"), ”), which was sunset by the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”) effective January 1, 2025 and replaced with a new manufacturer
discount program), rules regarding prescription drug benefits under the health insurance exchanges, changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, expansion of the Public Health Service Act's 340B drug pricing
program (340B Program), fraud and abuse, and enforcement. These changes impact existing government healthcare programs and have resulted in the development of new programs, including Medicare payment
for performance initiatives.

Certain provisions of the Affordable Care Act have been subject to judicial challenges, as well as efforts to modify them or to alter their interpretation and implementation. For example, in 2017, the U.S.
government signed into the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which repealed, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the Affordable Care Act on certain individuals who fail to
maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year that is commonly referred to as the “individual mandate.”

It is unclear how efforts to modify or invalidate the Affordable Care Act or its implementing regulations, or portions thereof, will affect the Affordable Care Act or our business.
Other legislative changes relating to reimbursement have been adopted in the U.S. since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. For example, the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created the Joint
Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend to Congress proposals for spending reductions. The Joint Select Committee did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction, which triggered the legislation’s

automatic reductions. In concert with subsequent legislation, this has resulted in aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers. Under current legislation, after a brief pause and reduction to 1% due to
COVID-19, sequestration is currently set at 2% through the first 7 months of 2032. As long as these cuts remain in effect, they could adversely impact payment for any products we may commercialize in the future.
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Further, the IRA, among other things, established a Medicare Part B and Part D inflation rebate scheme, under which, generally, manufacturers will owe rebates if the average sales price of certain Part B drugs or
annual average manufacturer price of certain covered Part D drugs increases faster than the pace of inflation. The IRA also creates a drug price negotiation program under which the prices for certain Medicare units
of certain high Medicare spend drugs and biologics without generic or biosimilar competition will be capped by reference to, among other things, a specified non-federal average manufacturer price, starting in
2026. The IRA further makes several changes to the Medicare Part D benefit, including a limit on annual out-of-pocket costs, and replacement of the coverage gap discount program with a new manufacturer
discount program beginning in 2025.

Additional legislative changes, regulatory changes, or guidance could be adopted, which may impact the marketing approvals and reimbursement for our product candidates. For example, there has been increasing
legislative, regulatory, and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to drug pricing practices, and there has been recent interest in incorporating so-called Most Favored Nation pricing into the U.S.
healthcare system, under which prices for drugs in the United States could be tied to foreign reference prices through a mechanism that is not yet defined. There have been several Congressional inquiries and
proposed and enacted federal and state legislation and regulatory initiatives designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, evaluate the relationship between pricing and manufacturer
patient programs, and reform government healthcare program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. If healthcare policies or reforms intended to curb healthcare costs are adopted or if we experience
negative publicity with respect to pricing of our products, if approved, or the pricing of pharmaceutical drugs generally, the prices that we charge for any approved products may be limited, our commercial
opportunity may be limited and/or our revenues from sales of our products may be negatively impacted.

Healthcare Privacy Laws

We may be subject to laws and regulations covering data privacy and the protection of health-related and other personal information. The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection
continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues which may affect our business. Numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including state security breach
notification laws, state health information and/or privacy laws and federal and state consumer protection laws and consumer privacy laws, govern the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of personal
information. Such laws and regulations include the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and their implementing
regulations (collectively, “HIPAA”™), Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (the “FTC Act”), and the California Consumer Privacy Act, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CCPA”™).
Other jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislation and/or regulations similar to the CCPA, such as consumer privacy laws that went into effect in 2023 in Virginia, Colorado, Utah, and Connecticut. Health-
specific consumer privacy laws were also passed in multiple states, including Washington and Nevada. Many of these laws differ from each other in significant ways and have different effects. Many of the state
laws enable a state attorney general or other regulator to bring actions and provide private rights of action to consumers as enforcement mechanisms. There is also heightened sensitivity around certain types of
health data, which may be subject to additional protection.

Outside the United States, our clinical trial programs and other processing activities implicate international data protection laws, including the EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 (the “GDPR”). The
GDPR has increased our responsibility and liability in relation to the processing of personal data of individuals located in the EU. The GDPR, together with the national legislation of the EU member states
governing the processing of personal data, impose strict obligations and restrictions on the ability to collect, analyze, and transfer personal data, including health data and samples from clinical trials and adverse
event reporting. For example, these obligations and restrictions may require obtaining explicit consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relate, providing transparency notices to individuals, sharing
personal data with third parties, transferring personal data out of the EU, reporting personal data breaches with data protection authorities and affected individuals, and ensuring the security and confidentiality of
personal data. Violations of EU data protection laws may result in significant financial penalties (including possible fines of up to 4% of global annual turnover for the preceding financial year or €20 million
(whichever is higher)). The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with data protection authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain
compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. EU data protection laws also require us to implement appropriate transfer mechanisms in order to lawfully transfer personal from the EU to
countries or organizations outside the EU.

Moreover, as a result of the broad scale release and availability of Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) technologies such as generative Al, there is a global trend towards more regulation (e.g., the EU Al Act and Al laws
passed in U.S. states) to ensure the ethical use, privacy, and security of Al and the data that it processes. Compliance with such laws will likely be an increasing and substantial cost in the future.

Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions and create liability for us (including the imposition of significant penalties), private litigation and/or adverse
publicity that could negatively affect our business.
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Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of any pharmaceutical product depend, in part, on the extent to which such product will be covered by third-party payors, such as federal, state, and foreign government healthcare programs, commercial
insurance and managed healthcare organizations, and the level of reimbursement for such product by third-party payors. Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any newly
approved product. Decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement to be provided are made on a payor-by-payor basis. One third-party payor’s decision to cover a product does not ensure
that other payors will also provide coverage for the product. As a result, the coverage determination process can require manufacturers to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of a product to each payor
separately, and can be a time-consuming process, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance.

In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any products, we may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of the product, in
addition to the costly studies required to obtain FDA or other comparable regulatory approvals. Even if we conduct pharmacoeconomic studies, our products, if approved, may not be considered medically necessary
or cost-effective by payors. Further, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not guarantee that an adequate reimbursement rate will be set, including as commercial payors may establish different
rates for different health care providers.

In addition, third-party payors are increasingly reducing reimbursements for pharmaceutical products and services. The U.S. government and state legislatures have continued implementing cost-containment
programs, including price controls, restrictions on coverage and reimbursement, and requirements for substitution of generic products. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged, examining
the medical necessity, and reviewing the cost effectiveness of pharmaceutical products, in addition to questioning their safety and efficacy. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that drug companies provide
them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. Further, such payors are increasingly challenging the price, examining the medical necessity and
reviewing the cost effectiveness of medical drug candidates. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures,
could further limit or delay sales of any product. Decreases in third-party reimbursement for any product or a decision by a third-party payor not to cover a product could reduce physician usage and patient demand
for the product.

Government Price Reporting

A manufacturer that participates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program is required to pay a rebate to each state Medicaid program for its covered outpatient drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and
paid for by a state Medicaid program, as a condition of having federal funds available for that manufacturer’s drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. Those rebates are based on pricing data the manufacturer
reports on a monthly and quarterly basis to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), the federal agency that administers the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These data include the average
manufacturer price and, in the case of innovator products, the best price for each drug, which best price, in general, represents the lowest price available from the manufacturer to any wholesaler, retailer, provider,
health maintenance organization, nonprofit entity, or governmental entity in the U.S. in any pricing structure, calculated to include all sales and associated rebates, discounts, and other price concessions. Where the
average manufacturer price of a drug increases faster than the pace of inflation, the drug may be subject to an additional rebate paid by its manufacturer in the amount that the average manufacturer price has
exceeded the pace of inflation. In September 2024, CMS further modified the regulations governing the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, which could increase manufacturer costs and the complexity of compliance,
impact rebate liabilities, and be time-consuming to implement.

Federal law requires that each manufacturer that participates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program also participate in the 340B drug pricing program in order for federal funds to be available for the manufacturer’s
drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. The 340B program, which is administered by the Health Resources and Services Administration (“HRSA”), requires participating manufacturers to agree to charge
statutorily defined covered entities no more than the 340B "ceiling price" for the manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs. These 340B covered entities include a variety of community health clinics and other
entities that receive health services grants from the Public Health Service, as well as hospitals that serve a disproportionate share of low-income patients, certain free-standing cancer hospitals, critical access
hospitals, rural referral centers and sole community hospitals. The 340B ceiling price is calculated using a statutory formula, which is based on the average manufacturer price and rebate amount for the covered
outpatient drug as calculated under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, and, in general, products subject to Medicaid price reporting and rebate liability are also subject to the 340B ceiling price calculation and
discount requirement. Changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate amount also could affect a manufacturer’s 340B ceiling price calculations and negatively impact results of operations.
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HRSA issued a final regulation regarding the calculation of the 340B ceiling price and the imposition of civil monetary penalties on manufacturers that are found to have knowingly and intentionally overcharged
covered entities, which became effective on January 1, 2019. It is unclear how the government will apply its enforcement authority under the regulation. Manufacturers also are required to report 340B ceiling prices
to HRSA on a quarterly basis, and HRSA then publishes them to covered entities. Moreover, under a final regulation effective January 13, 2021, HRSA newly established an administrative dispute resolution
(“ADR?”), process for claims by covered entities that a manufacturer has engaged in overcharging, and by manufacturers that a covered entity violated the prohibitions against diversion or duplicate discounts. Such
claims are to be resolved through an ADR panel of government officials rendering a decision that could be appealed in federal court. HRSA issued a final rule, effective June 2024, that modified aspects of the ADR
process, which could impact the procedures that are used to determine whether a manufacturer owes additional 340B discounts. An ADR proceeding could subject a manufacturer to onerous procedural requirements
and result in additional liability.

Manufacturers are required to report the average sales price for certain Medicare Part B-covered products under the Medicare program. Manufacturers calculate the average sales price based on a statutorily defined
formula as well as regulations and interpretations of the statute by CMS. CMS may use these submissions to determine payment rates for drugs under Medicare Part B. Since 2023, manufacturers must pay refunds
to Medicare for single source drugs or biologics, or biosimilar biological products, reimbursed under Medicare Part B and packaged in single-dose containers or single-use packages, for units of discarded drug
reimbursed by Medicare Part B in excess of ten percent of total allowed charges under Medicare Part B for that drug. Manufacturers that fail to pay refunds could be subject to civil monetary penalties of 125
percent of the refund amount. In addition, as noted previously, a manufacturer may be liable for Part B inflation rebates for utilization in quarters starting with the first quarter of 2023. Manufacturers may be liable
for civil monetary penalties for violations of this program.

Statutory or regulatory changes or CMS guidance could affect the average sales price calculations for approved products and the resulting Medicare payment rate, and could negatively impact results of operations.
For example, the IRA, among other things, requires the Secretary of Health and Human Services to negotiate, with respect to Medicare units and subject to a specified cap, the price of a set number of certain high
Medicare spend drugs and biologicals per year with the first negotiated prices taking effect starting in 2026. The IRA established a Medicare Part B inflation rebate scheme, under which, generally speaking,
manufacturers will owe rebates if the average sales price of a Part B drug increases faster than the pace of inflation. Failure to timely pay a Part B inflation rebate is subject to a civil monetary penalty.

These or any other public policy changes could impact the market conditions for our product candidates. We further expect continued scrutiny on government price reporting and pricing more generally from
Congress, agencies, and other bodies, and are seeing an increase in state interest in price reporting, transparency, and other policies to address drug pricing concerns.

In order to be eligible to have products paid for with federal funds under the Medicaid and Medicare Part B programs, as applicable, and purchased by certain federal agencies and grantees, a manufacturer is
required to participate in the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (the “VA”) Federal Supply Schedule (“FSS”) pricing program. Under this program, the manufacturer is obligated to make its covered drugs
available for procurement on an FSS contract and charge a price to four federal agencies — the VA, U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) Public Health Service and U.S. Coast Guard — that is no higher than the
statutory Federal Ceiling Price (the “FCP”). The FCP is based on the non-federal average manufacturer price (“Non-FAMP”), which the manufacturer calculates and reports to the VA on a quarterly and annual
basis. A manufacturer would also need to participate in the Tricare Retail Pharmacy program, under which it will pay quarterly rebates on utilization of innovator products that are dispensed through the Tricare
Retail Pharmacy network to Tricare beneficiaries. The rebates are calculated as the difference between the annual Non-FAMP and FCP.

Pricing and rebate calculations vary across products and programs, are complex, and are often subject to interpretation by the manufacturer, governmental or regulatory agencies, and the courts. Significant civil
monetary penalties can be applied a manufacturer is found to have knowingly submitted any false average manufacturer price, best price, or Non-FAMP information to the government or fail to submit the required
price data on a timely basis. Such conduct also could be grounds for CMS to terminate the Medicaid drug rebate agreement, in which case federal payments may not be available under Medicaid or Medicare Part B
for covered outpatient drugs. Civil monetary penalties could also be applied if a manufacturer is found to have charged 340B covered entities more than the statutorily mandated ceiling price. In addition, claims
submitted to federally-funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, for drugs priced based on incorrect pricing data provided by a manufacturer can implicate the False Claims Act.

Healthcare Fraud and Abuse Laws

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, our business is subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regulation and enforcement by both the federal government and the states in which we
conduct our business. These laws include, but are not limited to, the following:
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The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or receiving remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or in
return for purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease or order of any healthcare item or service reimbursable, in whole or in part, under Medicare, Medicaid or
other federally financed healthcare programs. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on one hand and prescribers, purchasers, and formulary
managers on the other. A violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute may be established without proving actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the government may assert
that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act. Violations
of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute are punishable by imprisonment, criminal fines, damages, civil monetary penalties, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. Although there
are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly and practices that involve
remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchasing, or recommending pharmaceuticals, including certain discounts, or engaging such individuals as consultants, speakers or advisors, may be
subject to scrutiny if they do not fit squarely within the exception or safe harbor. Federal enforcement agencies also have shown increased interest in pharmaceutical companies’ product and patient
assistance programs, including reimbursement and co-pay support services, and a number of investigations into these programs have resulted in significant civil and criminal settlements. Our practices
may not in all cases meet all of the criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kickback liability. Moreover, there are no safe harbors for many common practices, such as educational and research
grants, charitable donations, product support and patient assistance programs. Arrangements that implicate the Anti-Kickback Statute and do not fit within an exception or safe harbor are reviewed on a
case-by-case basis to determine whether, based on the facts and circumstances, they violate the statute.

The federal civil False Claims Act prohibits any person from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment of government funds, or
knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay money to the government, or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly
avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation to pay money to the U.S. federal government. Actions under the False Claims Act may be brought by private individuals known as qui tam relators in
the name of the government, and who may share in any monetary recovery. In recent years, several pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have faced enforcement actions under the False
Claims Act for, among other things, providing free product to customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the product and distributing guidance to prescribers and
other customers that affected customers' billing or coding practices on claims submitted to the federal government. Other companies have faced enforcement actions for causing false claims to be
submitted because of the company's marketing of the product for unapproved uses.

HIPAA prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors. HIPAA also prohibits knowingly and
willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or representation, or making or using any false writing or document
knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. HIPAA also imposes
requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. HIPAA imposes privacy and security obligations on covered entity health care providers,
health plans, and health care clearinghouses, as well as their “business associates” — certain persons or entities that create, receive, maintain, or transmit protected health information in connection with
providing a specified service or performing a function on behalf of a covered entity. HIPAA has four tiers of civil monetary penalties and grants state attorneys enforcement authority. The Department of
Justice also may impose criminal penalties. Additionally, certain states have adopted comparable privacy and security laws and regulations, some of which may be more stringent than HIPAA, and
numerous federal and state laws, including state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws, including, for example, Section 5 of
the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and the California Consumer Privacy Act, govern the collection, use, and disclosure and protection of certain health-related and other personal
information.

Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA, other than potentially with respect to providing certain employee benefits, we may obtain health information from third parties that are subject to privacy
and security requirements under HIPAA, and other privacy and data security and consumer protection laws, and we could potentially be subject to criminal penalties if we, our affiliates, or our agents
knowingly receive individually identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA, and could also potentially be subject to
other civil and/or criminal penalties if we obtain, use or disclose information in a manner not permitted by other privacy and data security and consumer protection laws.

The majority of states, as well as many of the non-US jurisdiction where we may operate, also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal anti-kickback and false claims laws, which apply to items
and services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor. Several states now require pharmaceutical companies to report expenses relating to
the marketing and promotion of pharmaceutical products in those states and to report gifts and payments to individual health care providers in those states. Some of these states also prohibit certain
marketing-related activities including the provision of gifts, meals, or other items to certain health care providers. Other states have laws requiring pharmaceutical sales representatives to be registered or
licensed, and still others impose limits on co-pay assistance that pharmaceutical companies can offer to patients. In addition, several states require pharmaceutical companies to implement compliance
programs or marketing codes.

28




Table of Contents

. The Physician Payments Sunshine Act, implemented as the Open Payments program, and its implementing regulations, requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for
which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS information related to direct or indirect payments
and other transfers of value to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), other healthcare professionals (such as physician assistants and nurse
practitioners) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held in the company by physicians and their immediate family members.

Compliance with such laws and regulations requires substantial resources. Because of the breadth of these various fraud and abuse laws, it is possible that some of our business activities could be subject to
challenge under one or more of such laws. Such a challenge could have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In the event governmental authorities conclude that our
business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations, they may impose sanctions under these laws,
which are potentially significant and may include civil monetary penalties, damages, exclusion of an entity or individual from participation in government health care programs, criminal fines and imprisonment,
additional reporting requirements if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other settlement to resolve allegations of violations of these laws, as well as the potential curtailment or restructuring of
our operations. Even if we are not determined to have violated these laws, government investigations into these issues typically require the expenditure of significant resources and generate negative publicity.

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

In addition, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1997 prohibits corporations and their intermediaries from engaging in certain activities to obtain or retain business or to influence a person working in an
official capacity. It is illegal to pay, offer to pay or authorize the payment of anything of value to any official of another country, government staff member, political party or political candidate to obtain or retain
business or to otherwise influence a person working in that capacity.

Human Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2025, we had a total of six full-time employees, all of whom are located in the United States. Our employees have significant prior experience within the pharmaceutical, and biotech industries.
We continue to focus on building a high performing organization through our emphasis on accountability for results as measured by our performance development process. To help ensure that employees fully

understand the Company’s long-term strategy, and how their work contributes to the Company’s success, we utilize a variety of channels to facilitate open and direct communication, including: regular calls with
all employees, and ongoing update communications as needed.
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Corporate Structure

‘We were incorporated on February 1, 2002 under Part 1A of the Companies Act (Québec) under the name “9113-0310 Québec Inc.” On February 14, 2011, the Business Corporations Act (Québec) came into effect
and replaced the Companies Act (Québec). On August 7, 2008, pursuant to a Certificate of Amendment, we changed our name to “Acasti Pharma, Inc.” We became a reporting issuer in the Province of Québec on
November 17, 2008. On August 27, 2021, Acasti Pharma, Inc. completed its acquisition of Grace Therapeutics Inc., a privately held emerging biopharmaceutical company focused on developing innovative drug
delivery technologies for the treatment of rare and orphan diseases via a merger. Following completion of the merger, Grace Therapeutics Inc. became our wholly owned subsidiary and was renamed Acasti Pharma
U.S. Inc.

On October 1, 2024, we changed our jurisdiction of incorporation from the Province of Québec in Canada to the Province of British Columbia in Canada (“Acasti British Columbia”) pursuant to a “continuance”
effected in accordance with Chapter XII of the Business Corporations Act (Québec) (the “Continuance”). On October 7, 2024, we changed our jurisdiction of incorporation from the Province of British Columbia in
Canada to the State of Delaware (“Acasti Delaware”) in the United States pursuant to a “continuance” effected in accordance with Section 308 of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and a
“domestication” (the “Domestication”) under Section 388 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). Both the Continuance and the Domestication were approved by our shareholders
at our Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders held on September 30, 2024. Effective on October 28, 2024, we changed our corporate name to “Grace Therapeutics, Inc.”. Effective on October 28, 2024, we
changed the corporate name of our subsidiary to “Grace Therapeutics U.S., Inc.” (“Grace U.S.”).

Prior to the Continuance and Domestication, our Class A common shares, without par value per share (“common shares”), were listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “ACST.”
Upon the effectiveness of the Continuance, each of our outstanding common shares at the time of the Continuance remained issued and outstanding as a common share, without par value per share, of Acasti British
Columbia. Upon effectiveness of the Domestication, each outstanding common share of Acasti British Columbia at the time of the Domestication automatically became one outstanding share of common stock, par
value $0.0001 per share, of Acasti Delaware (“common stock™).
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Information regarding stockholder tax consequences of the Domestication and potential tax elections is available in our Registration Statement on Form S-4 originally filed with the SEC on June 27, 2024, as
amended on July 31, 2024.

YOU SHOULD CONSULT YOUR TAX ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE APPLICATION OF U.S. FEDERAL TAX LAWS TO YOUR PARTICLAR SITUATION, AS WELL AS ANY TAX
CONSEQUENCES ARISING UNDER THE LAWS OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. JURISDICTION.

Available Information

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to these reports are filed, or will be filed, as applicable, with the SEC, and the
Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”). These reports are available free of charge on our website, https://www.gracetx.com/, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports with or
furnish such reports to the SEC and the CSA. Information contained on, or accessible through, our website is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the inclusion of our website address in this
document is an inactive textual reference.

Additionally, our filings with the SEC may be accessed through the SEC’s website at https://www.sec.gov and our filings with the CSA may be accessed through the CSA’s System for Electronic Document Analysis
and Retrieval at https://www.sedarplus.ca/.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Factors Relating to our Business
We may not achieve our publicly announced milestones on time, or at all.

From time to time, we may publicly announce the timing of certain events that we expect to occur, such as the anticipated timing of upcoming new drug application filing. These statements are forward-looking and
are based on the best estimate of management at the time relating to the occurrence of the events. However, the actual timing of these events may differ from what has been publicly disclosed. The timing of events
such as completion of a clinical trial, discovery of a new product candidate, filing of an application to obtain regulatory approval, beginning of commercialization of products, completion of a strategic partnership,
or announcement of additional clinical trials for a product candidate may ultimately vary from what is publicly disclosed. These variations in timing may occur as a result of different events, including the nature of
the results obtained during a clinical trial or during a research phase, problems with a supplier or a distribution partner or any other event having the effect of delaying the publicly announced timeline. We undertake
no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law. Any variation in the timing of previously
announced milestones could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results or the trading price of our common stock.

We are heavily dependent on the success of our lead drug candidate, GTx-104

Our business and future success are substantially dependent on our ability to successfully and timely develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialize our lead product candidate, GTx-104. Any delay or
setback in the development of GTx-104 could adversely affect our business. Our planned development, approval and commercialization of GTx-104 may fail to be completed in a timely manner or at all. As part of
our strategic realignment plan, we determined to focus primarily on the development of GTx-104, which concentrates the level of our drug development risk on one drug candidate. We cannot provide assurance that
we will be able to obtain approval for GTx-104 or any other of our drug candidates from the FDA or any foreign regulatory authority or that we will obtain such approval in a timely manner.

We may not be able to maximize value from our de-prioritized drug candidates, GTx-102 and GTx-101, through either development, out-licensing or sale.

Our GTx-102 and GTx-101 drug candidates are at an earlier development stage than GTx-104 and will require additional time and resources to develop. As part of our strategic realignment plan, we determined to
focus primarily on the development of GTx-104 and to de-prioritize the development of GTx-102 and GTx-101. While we will continue to seek ways to maximize the value of GTx-102 and GTx-101, including
through subsequent development, out-licensing or sale, we may not be successful in doing so.

We may not be able to maintain our operations and advance our research and de

and ¢ ialization of our GTx-104 lead drug candidate with dditional fundi

We have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception. To date, we have financed our operations through public offerings and private placements of securities, proceeds from
exercises of warrants, rights and options, and receipt of research tax credits and research grant programs. Our cash and cash equivalents were $22.0 million as of March 31, 2025 and $23.0 million as of March 31,
2024.

Our current assets, as of March 31, 2025, are projected to support our current liabilities as at that date when combined with the projected level of our expenses through at least twelve months from the issuance date
of the audited consolidated financial statements included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including expenses in connection with the NDA for GTx-104, pre-commercial planning, commercial team buildout,
and product launch if GTx-104 is approved. We expect that additional capital will be required by us to support the commercial launch of GTx-104, if approved. To fully execute our business plan, we plan to raise
the necessary capital primarily through additional securities offerings and multiple sources of non-dilutive capital, such as grants or loans and strategic alliances. Therefore, if we determine to continue development
of GTx-102 and GTx-101, significant additional funding will be needed.

We have no history of commercializing drugs, which may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.
Our operations to date have been largely focused on raising capital and developing products for rare and orphan diseases, including undertaking preclinical studies and conducting clinical trials. We have not yet
received FDA approval of GTx-104, and as such we have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully supply GTx-104 for commercial sale or conduct sales, marketing and distribution activities necessary for

successful product commercialization. Consequently, any predictions about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer history of successfully developing and
commercializing drugs.
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Our future success depends on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the principal members of our executive team. While members of our executive team have significant industry experience, they have not been with the Company for long. Any of our
executive officers could leave our employment at any time, as all of our employees are “at will” employees. Recruiting and retaining qualified employees for our business, including scientific and technical
personnel, will also be critical to our success. There is currently a shortage of skilled executives and other personnel in our industry, which is likely to continue. As a result, competition for skilled personnel is
intense and the turnover rate can be high. As we build our organization in accordance with our strategic realignment, we may not be able to attract and retain personnel on terms that are favorable to us given the

competition among numerous pharmaceutical companies for individuals with similar skill sets. In addition, failure to succeed in clinical studies may make it more challenging to recruit and retain qualified
personnel. The inability to recruit key executives or the loss of the services of any executive or key employee might impede the progress of our development and commercialization objectives.

We may need to expand our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could disrupt our operations and our ability to compete.

If our drug development efforts are successful, we expect to expand our employee base to increase our managerial, scientific, engineering, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other resources and to hire
more consultants and contractors. Future growth would impose significant additional responsibilities on our management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integrate additional
employees, consultants and contractors. We may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations, which may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, or give rise to operational mistakes, loss of
business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Future growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects,
such as the development of our existing or future product candidates. Our future financial performance and our ability to sell and commercialize our product candidates, if approved, and compete effectively will
depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth.

We face potential product liability, and if claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability.

The use of our product candidates in clinical trials, and the sale of any drug candidates for which we obtain marketing approval, exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims might be
brought against us by consumers, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our product candidates. If we cannot successfully defend against product
liability claims, we could incur substantial liability and costs. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

. impairment of our business reputation;

. withdrawal of clinical study participants

. costs due to related litigation

. distraction of management’s attention from our primary business
. substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants; and

. the inability to commercialize our product candidates.
Our current product liability insurance coverage may not be sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future,

we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. A successful product liability claims or series of claims brought against us
could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could adversely affect our results of operations and business.
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We rely on information technology and any failure, inadequacy, interruption, or security lapse of that technology, including any cybersecurity incidents, could harm our ability to operate our business
effectively.

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of third parties with which we contract are vulnerable to damage from cyber-attacks, computer viruses, unauthorized
access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. System failures, accidents or security incidents could cause interruptions in our operations and could result in a material
disruption of our drug product development and clinical activities and business operations, in addition to possibly requiring substantial expenditures of resources to remedy. The loss of drug product development or
clinical trial data could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security incident were to result in a
loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and our development programs, and the development of our product
candidates could be delayed, which could adversely affect our financial position, results of operations and business.

P STI I)

Disruptions at the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies caused by the U.S. pr ation, funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire and retain key
leadership and other personnel, prevent or delay new products and services from being developed, approved, or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal
business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products or review other regulatory submissions can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, a reduction in the FDA’s
workforce and its ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, shifting policy priorities as a result of changes in the U.S. presidential administration and political appointees tasked to
oversee the agency, and statutory, regulatory and policy changes. In addition, government funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research
and development activities, is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also increase the time to meet with and receive agency feedback, accept, review and/or approve our submissions, conduct inspections, issue regulatory guidance, or
take other actions that facilitate the development, approval and marketing of regulated products, which would adversely affect our business. In addition, government proposals to reduce or eliminate budgetary
deficits may include reduced allocations to the FDA and other related government agencies. For example, over the last several years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory
agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to furlough critical FDA, SEC and other government employees and stop critical activities. Further, the current U.S. presidential administration recently established
the Department of Government Efficiency, which implemented a federal government hiring freeze and announced certain additional efforts to reduce federal government employee headcount and the size of the
federal government. It is unclear how these executive actions or other potential actions by the current U.S. presidential administration or other parts of the federal government will impact the FDA or other regulatory
authorities that oversee our business. These budgetary pressures may reduce the FDA’s ability to perform its responsibilities. If a significant reduction in the FDA’s workforce occurs, the FDA’s budget is
significantly reduced or a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting business as usual or conducting inspections, reviews
or other regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions or take other actions critical to the development or marketing of our product
candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Unfavorable global ec ic conditions and geopolitical events, il ing as a result of trade tensions between the U.S. and China, could adversely affect our
operations, including conduct of our clinical trials and our manufacturing activities.

Tuds b

financial condition or results of

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial markets. The financial markets and the global economy may also be adversely affected
by the current or anticipated impact of military conflict, including the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism or other political events, including as a result of trade tensions between the U.S. and
China. Sanctions imposed by the U.S. and other countries in response to conflicts, including in Ukraine, may also adversely impact the financial markets and the global economy, and any economic countermeasures
by the affected countries or others could exacerbate market and economic instability. We have conducted business outside of the U.S. in the past and may do so in the future. Clinical trials for our product candidates
outside of the U.S. and unfavorable economic conditions resulting in the weakening of the U.S. dollar would make those clinical trials more costly to operate. Furthermore, a severe or prolonged economic
downturn, higher inflation and interest rates, political disruption or other geopolitical events, including an expansion of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine or instigation of other military conflicts, could result
in a variety of risks to our business, including weakened demand for our product candidates or any future product candidates, if authorized or approved, and our ability to raise additional capital when needed on
acceptable terms, if at all.

A weak or declining economy or political disruption, including any international trade disputes, or changes in laws or policies governing the terms of international trade, and in particular increased trade restrictions,
tariffs or taxes on imports from countries where we manufacture products could strain our manufacturers or suppliers, possibly resulting in supply disruption or increased manufacturing and distribution costs. For
example, in 2025, the U.S. imposed tariffs on certain imports from Canada, Mexico and China. Historically, tariffs have led to increased trade and political tensions. In response to tariffs, other countries have
implemented retaliatory tariffs on U.S. goods. Political tensions as a result of trade policies could reduce trade volume, investment, technological exchange and other economic activities between major international
economies, resulting in a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets.
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We face risks related to the personal data we collect, process, and share.

Our ability to conduct our business is dependent on the data that we collect, process, and share in discovering, developing, and commercializing drug products. These data are often considered personal data and are
therefore regulated by data privacy laws in the United States and abroad.

We have conducted business outside the U.S. in the past and may do so in the future. These activities subject us to additional data protection authority oversight and require us to comply with stringent local and
regional data privacy laws, including the EU’s General Data Protection Regulations (the "GDPR"). The GDPR has a wide range of compliance obligations relating to the processing and protection of personal data,
including obligations to having a lawful basis for processing personal data (which may in certain situations require explicit consent of data subjects), providing detailed information about the processing activities,
dealing with restrictions on sharing of personal data with third parties and the transferring of personal data out of the EU, having contractual arrangements in place where required (such as with clinical trial sites and
vendors), reporting in certain instances personal data breaches to data protection authorities and/or affected individuals, appointing data protection officers, conducting data protection impact assessments,
responding to privacy rights requests and keeping records of processing activities. Violations of the GDPR carry significant financial penalties for noncompliance (including possible fines of up to 4% of global
annual turnover for the preceding financial year or €20 million, whichever is higher). The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with data
protection authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR.

In addition to the GDPR, EU Member States have issued their own implementation legislation and other privacy, data protection and ePrivacy legislation. Moreover, other countries are issuing privacy and data
protection legislation, generally modeled after the GDPR. These privacy and data protection laws and regulations increase our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process, and compliance
has been and is expected to continue to be difficult, constantly evolving, costly and time consuming. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing compliance with
applicable privacy and data protection laws, to protect against security incidents, or to alleviate issues caused by such incidents. In addition, if our efforts to comply with applicable privacy and data protection laws
and regulations are not successful, it could adversely affect our business. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions and create liability for us, including but
not limited to imposition of significant penalties, private litigation (including class actions) and/or adverse publicity that could negatively affect our business.

Several U.S. states have proposed and passed consumer privacy laws. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act, includes certain transparency and
other requirements to protect personal data and grants California consumers with certain rights regarding their personal data. In addition, California consumers have the right to bring a private right of action in
connection with data security incidents involving certain elements of personal data. Additionally, other jurisdictions, such as Virginia, Colorado, Utah, and Connecticut, have enacted similar legislation and/or
regulations. Health-specific consumer privacy laws were also passed in multiple states, including Washington and Nevada. These laws and regulations are constantly evolving and may impose limitations on our
business activities.

At the federal level, the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) sets expectations for taking appropriate steps to safeguard consumers’ personal information and providing a level of privacy or security
commensurate to promises made to individuals. The FTC expects a company’s data privacy and security measures to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it
holds, the size and complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to help manage risks. Failure to meet these standards may constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5 of the
FTC Act. Enforcement by the FTC under the FTC Act can result in civil penalties or enforcement actions. The FTC also has the power to enforce the Health Breach Notification Rule, which imposes notification
obligations on companies for breaches of certain health information contained in personal health records. The FTC has brought enforcement actions under both Section 5 of the FTC Act and the Health Breach
Notification Rule.

If we fail to comply with applicable federal, state, local, or foreign regulatory requirements, we could be subject to a range of regulatory actions that could affect our ability to commercialize our products. Any
threatened or actual government enforcement action could also generate adverse publicity and could result in additional regulatory oversight.
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Risks Related to Development, Testing and Commercialization of Our Products

If the FDA does not conclude that our drug candid satisfy the requir for the 505(b)(2) regulatory approval pathway, or if the requirements for approval of any of our drug candidates under
Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, the approval pathway for our drug candidates will likely take significantly longer, cost significantly more and encounter significantly greater complications and risks
than anticipated, and in any case may not be successful.

We intend to seek FDA approval through the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for our lead drug candidate GTx-104. The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch-
Waxman Act, added Section 505(b)(2) to the FDCA. Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required for approval comes from studies that were not conducted by or
for the applicant.

If the FDA does not allow us to pursue the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for GTx-104, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials, provide additional data and information and meet additional standards for
regulatory approval. If this were to occur, the time and financial resources required to obtain FDA approval for our drug candidates would likely substantially increase. Moreover, an inability to pursue the 505(b)(2)
regulatory pathway could result in new competitive products reaching the market faster than our drug candidates, which could materially adversely impact our competitive position and prospects. Even if we are
allowed to pursue the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for a drug candidate, we cannot assure you that we will receive the requisite or timely approvals for commercialization of such drug candidate.

In addition, it is possible that our competitors may file citizens’ petitions with the FDA in an attempt to persuade the FDA that our drug candidates, or the clinical studies that support their approval, contain
deficiencies. Such actions by our competitors could delay or even prevent the FDA from approving any NDA that we submit under Section 505(b)(2).

Clinical development is a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results. Failure can occur at any stage of
clinical development.

Clinical testing, even when utilizing the 505(b)(2) pathway, is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process,
even with active ingredients that have previously been approved by the FDA as safe and effective. The results of pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials of our drug candidates may not be predictive of the results
of later stage clinical trials. A number of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding
promising results in earlier trials.

Our drug candidates are in various stages of development. Clinical trial failures may occur at any stage and may result from a multitude of factors both within and outside our control, including flaws in formulation,
adverse safety or efficacy profile and flaws in trial design, among others. If the trials result in negative or inconclusive results, we or our collaborators may decide, or regulators may require us, to discontinue trials
of our drug candidates or conduct additional clinical trials or pre-clinical studies. In addition, data obtained from trials and studies are susceptible to varying interpretations, and regulators may not interpret our data
as favorably as we do, which may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. For these reasons, our future clinical trials may not be successful.

Delays in clinical trials are common and have many causes, and any delay could result in increased costs to us and could jeopardize or delay our ability to obtain regulatory approval and commence drug
product sales. We may also find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials, which could delay or prevent development of our drug candidates.

‘We may experience delays in clinical trials of our drug candidates. Our planned clinical trials may not begin on time, have an effective design, enroll a sufficient number of patients or be completed on schedule, if at
all. Our clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including:

e inability to raise or delays in raising funding necessary to initiate or continue a trial;

e delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;

e delays in reaching agreement with the FDA on final trial design;

e imposition of a clinical hold for safety reasons or following an inspection of our clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

e delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”), or contract research organizations (“CROs”), and clinical trial sites, or failure by such
CMOs to complete the manufacturing of clinical trial materials or CROs to follow and carry out the clinical study protocol at each site in accordance with the terms of our agreements with them;

e delays in obtaining required institutional review board (“IRB”), approval at each site;

e difficulties or delays in having patients’ complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

e clinical sites electing to terminate their participation in one of our clinical trials, which would likely have a detrimental effect on subject enrollment;
e time required to add new clinical sites; or

e delays by our CMOs to produce and deliver sufficient supply of clinical trial materials.

If initiation or completion of our planned clinical trials is delayed for any of the above reasons or other reasons, our development costs may increase, our regulatory approval process could be delayed and our ability
to commercialize and commence sales of our drug candidates could be materially harmed, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials of our drug candidates is critical to our success. The timing of our clinical trials depends on the speed at which we can recruit patients to
participate in testing our drug candidates as well as completion of required follow-up periods. We may not be able to identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired
characteristics or to complete our clinical trials in a timely manner. Patient enrollment is and completion of the trials are affected by a variety of factors, including:

e severity and prevalence of the disease under investigation;

e design of the trial protocol;

® size of the patient population;

e ecligibility criteria for the trial in question;

e perceived risks and benefits of the drug candidate under trial;

e proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;

e availability of competing therapies and clinical trials;

e cfforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

e patient referral practices of physicians; and

e  ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment.
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The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign authorities are lengthy, time consuming and inherently unpredictable, and if we are
our drug candid our busi will be sub ially harmed.

ble to obtain regulatory approval for

The time required to obtain approval by the FDA and comparable foreign authorities is unpredictable but typically takes many years following the commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous
factors, including the substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. In addition, approval policies, regulations or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of
a drug candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions. It is possible that none of our existing drug candidates or any drug candidates we may seck to develop will ever obtain regulatory approval
in the United States or other jurisdictions.



Our drug candidates could fail to receive regulatory approval for many reasons, including the following:
e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree that our changes to branded reference drugs meet the criteria for the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway or foreign regulatory pathways;

e we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that a drug candidate is safe and effective or comparable to its branded reference product for
its proposed indication;

e the results of any clinical trials we conduct may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for approval;
e we may be unable to demonstrate that a drug candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

e the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial
supplies; and

e the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may change significantly in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.

This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in us failing to obtain regulatory approval to market our drug candidates, which would harm our business, results
of operations and prospects significantly. The development of our product candidates also may be delayed by other events beyond our control. For example, actions to limit federal agency budgets or personnel, may
result in reductions to the FDA’s budget, employees, and operations, as well as changes to FDA regulatory programs, all of which may lead to slower response times and longer review periods, potentially affecting
our ability to progress development of our product candidates, undergo regulatory inspections or obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates.

We have limited experience using the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway to submit an NDA or any similar drug approval filing to the FDA, and we cannot be certain that any of our drug candidates will receive
regulatory approval. If we do not receive regulatory approvals for our drug candidates, we may not be able to continue our operations. Even if we successfully obtain regulatory approvals to market one or more of
our drug candidates, our revenue will be dependent, to a significant extent, upon the size of the markets in the territories for which we gain regulatory approval. If the markets for patients or indications that we are
targeting are not as significant as we estimate, we may not generate significant revenue from sales of such drug products, if approved.

If a product didate causes undesirable side effects, then we may be unable to receive regulatory approval or market acceptance for such product candidate.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the testing process that could delay or prevent the commercialization of any of our product candidates, including the occurrence of
significant adverse events in clinical trials. Such significant adverse events could lead to clinical trial challenges, such as difficulties in patient recruitment, retention, and adherence, potential product liability claims,
and possible trial termination by us, regulatory authorities, and/or an IRB or ethics committees. These types of adverse events and clinical trial challenges could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our product
candidates. Significant adverse events may also lead regulatory authorities to require additional warnings on the label for such product, require us to conduct additional costly post-marketing studies or trials, require
us to develop a REMS, among other possible requirements. If the product candidate has already been approved, such approval may be withdrawn. Any delay in, denial, or withdrawal of marketing approval for one
of our product candidates will adversely affect our financial position. Even if our product candidates receive marketing approval, undesirable side effects may limit the product’s commercial viability. Patients may
not wish to use our product, physicians may not prescribe our product, and our reputation may suffer. Any of these events may significantly harm our business and financial prospects.

Our drug development strategy relies heavily upon the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, which requires us to certify that we do not infringe upon third-party patents covering approved drugs. Such certifications
often result in third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, the defense of which will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in any litigation may prevent or delay our
development and commercialization efforts which would harm our business.

Litigation or other proceedings to enforce or defend intellectual property rights are often complex in nature, may be very expensive and time-consuming, may divert our management’s attention from other aspects
of our business and may result in unfavorable outcomes that could adversely impact our ability to launch and market our drug candidates, or to prevent third parties from competing with our drug products and drug
candidates.

In particular, our commercial success depends in large part on our avoiding infringement of the patents and proprietary rights of third parties for existing approved drug products. Because we intend to utilize the
505(b)(2) regulatory pathway for the approval of our drug products and drug candidates, we rely in whole or in part on studies conducted by third parties related to those approved drug products.

Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending or subsequently filed patent applications which may later result in issued patents that may be infringed by our drug products
or drug candidates. If any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our drug candidates, including the formulation, method of use, any method or process involved in the
manufacture of any of our drug candidates, any molecules or intermediates formed during such manufacturing process or any other attribute of the final product itself, the holders of any such patents may be able to
block our ability to commercialize our drug candidates unless we obtain a license under the applicable patents, or until such patents expire. In either case, such a license may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms or at all.
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Parties making claims against us may request and/or obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to further develop and commercialize one or more of our drug candidates on
a temporary or permanent basis. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the
event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses from third parties,
pay royalties or redesign our infringing products or manufacturing processes, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any such license would be
available at all or whether it would be available on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, even in the absence of litigation, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties to advance our research,
manufacture clinical trial supplies or allow commercialization of our drug candidates. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be
unable to further develop and commercialize one or more of our drug candidates, which could harm our business significantly. We cannot provide any assurances that third-party patents do not exist which might be
enforced against our products, resulting in either an injunction prohibiting our sales, or, with respect to our sales, an obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties.

If the market opportunities for GTx-104 are smaller than we believe they are, our results of operations may be adversely affected, and our business may suffer.

We are focused on developing and commercializing products for rare and orphan diseases that have the potential to improve clinical outcomes by using our novel drug delivery technologies. Our projections of both
the number of people who have these conditions, as well as the subset of people with these conditions who have the potential to benefit from treatment with GTx-104, are based on estimates. These estimates may
prove to be incorrect and new studies or clinical trials may change the estimated incidence or prevalence of these conditions. The number of patients in the United States and elsewhere may turn out to be lower than
expected, may not be otherwise amenable to treatment with GTx-104, or new patients may become increasingly difficult to identify or gain access to, all of which would adversely affect our results of operations and
our business.

b

We are subject to uncertainty relating to healthcare reform es and
success.

policies which, if not favorable to our drug candidates, could hinder or prevent our drug candidates’ commercial

Our ability to commercialize our drug candidates successfully will depend in part on the extent to which governmental authorities, private health insurers and other third-party payors establish appropriate coverage
and reimbursement levels for our drug candidates and related treatments. As a threshold for coverage and reimbursement, third-party payors generally require that drug products have been approved for marketing by
the FDA. Third-party payors are increasingly imposing additional requirements and restrictions on coverage and limiting reimbursement levels for medical products. These restrictions and limitations influence the
purchase of healthcare services and products. The cost containment measures that healthcare payors and providers are instituting, and the effect of any healthcare reform could significantly reduce our revenues from
the sale of any approved drug. We cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to obtain third-party coverage or reimbursement for our drug candidates in whole or in part.

No uniform policy for coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors in the United States. The Medicare and Medicaid programs increasingly are used as models in the United States for
how private payors and other governmental payors develop their coverage and reimbursement policies for drugs and biologics. Some payors may require pre-approval of coverage for new or innovative devices or
drug therapies before they reimburse healthcare providers who use such therapies. Coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor, and one payor’s decision to cover a product
does not ensure that other payors will also provide similar coverage. It is difficult to predict at this time what payors will decide with respect to the coverage and reimbursement for our commercialized products.

Additionally, the process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product is typically separate from the process for setting the price of such product or establishing the reimbursement rate that
the payor will pay for the product once coverage is approved. As a result, the determination of coverage and reimbursement is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require the seller to provide
scientific and clinical support for the use of the drug candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance.
Furthermore, rules and regulations regarding reimbursement change frequently, in some cases at short notice, and we believe that changes in these rules and regulations are likely.

In the United States, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system in ways that could affect our future revenues and profitability and the future revenues and profitability of
our potential customers. Under the prescription drug benefit, Medicare beneficiaries can obtain prescription drug coverage from private sector plans that are permitted to limit the number of prescription drugs that
are covered in each therapeutic category and class on their formularies. If our products are not widely included on the formularies of these plans, our ability to market our products to the Medicare population could
be harmed.
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There also have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the federal and state levels directed at containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that
may be adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare costs to contain or reduce costs of healthcare may adversely
affect one or more of the following:

. our ability to set a price that we desire for our drug products, if any are approved
. our ability to generate revenues and achieve profitability;

. the future revenues of our potential customers, suppliers and collaborators; and

. the availability of capital to us.

Any of these scenarios could harm our ability to market our products and generate revenues. It is also possible that other proposals having a similar effect will be adopted.

Recent and future changes in healthcare legislation and regulations may increase the difficulty and cost to obtain marketing approval for a drug candidate, increase the costs to commercialize an approved

S

product, and adversely affect the price set for such product.

In the United States and other jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system that could impact the future results of
our operations. In particular, there have been and continue to be a number of initiatives at the U.S. federal and state levels with the stated objective to reduce healthcare costs and improve the quality of healthcare.
For example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”) substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers. The ACA and its implementation continue
to evolve as a result of legislative, administrative, and judicial developments. Further changes remain possible, which may potentially negatively affect pricing, coverage, or reimbursement for any products, if
approved.

In addition to the ACA, U.S. governments continue to seek to adopt healthcare policies and reforms intended to curb healthcare costs, such as federal or state controls on payment for drugs (including under
Medicare, Medicaid, and commercial health plans). For example, the Budget Control Act of 2011 resulted in aggregate reductions, or sequestration, of Medicare payments to providers. Under current legislation,
after a brief pause and reduction to 1% due to COVID-19, sequestration is currently set at 2% through the first 7 months of 2032. In January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law,
which, among other things, adjusted Medicare payments to several types of providers, including hospitals, imaging centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the
government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

More recently, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the “IRA”) requires, among other things, the U.S. Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (the “HHS”) to negotiate, with respect to Medicare
units and subject to a specified cap, the price of a set number of certain high spend Medicare Part B and D drugs and biologicals per year, with prices taking effect starting in 2026. Failures to comply with
requirements under the drug price negotiation program could subject us to an excise tax and/or a civil monetary penalty. In addition, the IRA establishes a Medicare Part B inflation rebate scheme, under which
manufacturers will owe rebates to Medicare if, generally speaking, the average sales price of a Part B drug increases faster than the pace of inflation. The failure to timely pay an inflation rebate may result in a civil
monetary penalty. The IRA and any other similar laws introduced in the future may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, which could negatively affect our future revenues and
results of operations.

Individual states in the United States have also become increasingly aggressive in seeking to pass legislation and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing. Such
measures could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects. For example, an emerging trend at the state level is the establishment of prescription drug affordability boards, some of
which will prospectively permit certain states to establish upper payment limits for drugs that the state has determined to be “high-cost”. We expect that additional state reform measures will be adopted in the future,
any of which could limit the amounts that state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand or lower pricing for any approved product, or additional pricing
pressures.

We cannot predict the likelihood, nature, or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action in the United States or any other jurisdiction. For example, there has been
recent interest in incorporating so-called Most Favored Nation pricing into the U.S. healthcare system, under which prices for drugs in the United States could be tied to foreign reference prices through a
mechanism that is not yet defined. There have been several Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation and regulatory initiatives designed to, among other things, bring more
transparency to product pricing, evaluate the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government healthcare program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. If
healthcare policies or reforms intended to curb healthcare costs are adopted or if we experience negative publicity with respect to pricing of our products or the pricing of pharmaceutical drugs generally, the prices
that we charge for any approved products may be limited, our commercial opportunity may be limited and/or our revenues from sales of our products may be negatively impacted.
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If we fail to comply with reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program or other governmental pricing programs, if we participate in these programs, we could be subject to

dditional rebate requir penalties, or other sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect on our busi financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

Under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, a participating manufacturer is required to pay a rebate to each state Medicaid program for its covered outpatient drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and
paid for by the state Medicaid program as a condition of having federal funds being made available for our drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. Those rebates are based on pricing data reported by the
manufacturer on a monthly and quarterly basis to CMS, the federal agency that administers the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. If we fail to pay the required rebate amount or report pricing data on a timely basis, if
we are found to have knowingly submitted any false pricing or product information to the government, if we fail to submit the required pricing data on a timely basis, or if we misclassify or misreport product
information, we may be subject to civil monetary penalties. CMS could also decide to terminate our Medicaid drug rebate agreement, in which case federal payments may not be available under Medicaid or
Medicare Part B for our covered outpatient drugs.

Federal law requires that a manufacturer also participate in the 340B Drug Pricing program in order for federal funds to be available for the manufacturer’s drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. The 340B
program requires participating manufacturers to agree to charge no more than the 340B “ceiling price” for the manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs to specified “covered entities,” including community health
centers and other entities that receive certain federal grants, as well as certain hospitals that serve a disproportionate share of low-income patients. The 340B ceiling price is calculated based on the information
reported under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. If we are found to have knowingly and intentionally charged 340B covered entities more than the statutorily mandated ceiling price, we could be subject to
significant civil monetary penalties and/or such failure also could be grounds for HRSA to terminate our agreement to participate in the 340B program, in which case our covered outpatient drugs would no longer
be eligible for federal payment under the Medicaid or Medicare Part B program.

Federal law also requires that manufacturers report to CMS, on a quarterly basis, average sales price information for certain categories of drugs that are paid under the Medicare Part B program. Manufacturers
calculate average sales price based on a statutorily defined formula as well as regulations and guidance. CMS may use the reported information to determine payment rates for drugs under Medicare Part B. If we are
found to have made a misrepresentation in the reporting of our average sales price, we may be subject to civil monetary penalties. In addition, if we fail to provide timely information or knowingly provide false
information, then we may also be subject to significant civil monetary penalties.

In addition, manufacturers must pay refunds to Medicare for single source drugs or biologicals, or biosimilar biological products, reimbursed under Medicare Part B and packaged in single-dose containers or single-
use packages for units of discarded drug reimbursed by Medicare Part B in excess of 10 percent of total allowed charges under Medicare Part B for that drug. A failure to pay refunds for discarded drugs under the
discarded drug refund program could subject us to civil monetary penalties of 125 percent of the refund amount.

Pricing and rebate calculations are complex, vary across products and programs, and are often subject to interpretation by the manufacturer, governmental agencies, and courts. A manufacturer that becomes aware
that its Medicaid reporting for a prior quarter was incorrect, or has changed as a result of recalculation of the pricing data, is obligated to resubmit corrected data up to three years after those data originally were due.
Restatements and recalculations increase the costs for complying with the laws and policies governing the Medicaid Drug Rebate program and could result in an overage or underage in our rebate liability for past
quarters. They also may affect the 340B ceiling price and therefore liability under the 340B program.

In order to be eligible to have its products paid for with federal funds under the Medicaid and Medicare Part B programs and purchased by the Department of Veterans Affairs (the “VA”), Department of Defense
(“DoD”), Public Health Service, and Coast Guard (the Big Four agencies), and certain federal grantees, a manufacturer is required to participate in the VA Federal Supply Schedule pricing program, established
under Section 603 of the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992. Under this program, the manufacturer is obligated to make its covered drugs available for procurement on an FSS contract and charge a price to the Big
Four agencies that is no higher than the Federal Ceiling Price (“FCP”), which is a price calculated pursuant to a statutory formula. The FCP is derived from a calculated price point called the “non-federal average
manufacturer price” (the “Non FAMP”), which the manufacturer calculates and reports to the VA on a quarterly and annual basis. Pursuant to applicable law, knowing provision of false information in connection
with a Non FAMP filing can subject a manufacturer to significant penalties for each item of false information. The FSS contract also contains extensive disclosure and certification requirements.

Under Section 703 of the National Defense Authorization Act for FY 2008, the manufacturer is required to pay quarterly rebates to DoD on utilization of its innovator products that are dispensed through DoD’s
Tricare network pharmacies to Tricare beneficiaries. The rebates are calculated as the difference between the annual Non FAMP and FCP for the calendar year that the product was dispensed.
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A manufacturer that overcharges the government in connection with the FSS contract or Tricare Retail Pharmacy Rebate Program, whether due to a misstated FCP or otherwise, is required to refund the difference to
the government. Failure to make necessary disclosures and/or to identify contract overcharges can result in allegations against us under the FCA and other laws and regulations.

Our commercial success depends upon attaining significant market acceptance of our drug candidates and drug products, if approved, among physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients and the medical
community.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our drug product candidates, our drug product candidates may not gain market acceptance among physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients, the medical community or third-
party payors, which is critical to commercial success. Market acceptance of our drug candidates and any drug product for which we receive approval depends on a number of factors, including:

. the timing of market introduction of the drug candidate or drug product as well as competitive products;

. the clinical indications for which the drug product is approved;

. the convenience and ease of administration to patients of the drug candidate or drug product;

. the potential and perceived advantages of such drug candidate over alternative treatments;

. the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments, including any similar generic treatments;

. the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement and pricing by third-party payors and government authorities;

. relative convenience and ease of administration;

. any negative publicity related to our or our competitors’ drug products that include the same active ingredient;

. the prevalence and severity of adverse side effects, including limitations or warnings contained in a drug product’s FDA-approved labeling; and

. the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts.

If our drug candidates or drug products, if approved, fail to achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, nurses, pharmacists, patients, and the medical community, we will be unable to generate significant
revenues, and we may not become or remain profitable.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our drug candidates, we may be unable to generate any revenue.

Although we intend to establish a small, focused, specialty sales and marketing organization to promote GTx-104, if approved for marketing in the United States, we currently have no such organization and the cost
of establishing and maintaining such an organization may exceed the benefit of doing so. We believe that GTx-102 could also be marketed by a small, focused, specialty sales and marketing organization if and
when we decide to resume development of GTx-102. Given the size of its potential market, we anticipate that commercializing GTx-101 would require entering into a strategic partnership with a larger marketing
partner, if GTx-101 is approved by the FDA for marketing, and the ability to find any such strategic partnership would be uncertain. If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities, whether independently or with third parties, we may not be able to generate sufficient product revenue and may not become profitable. We will be competing with many companies that currently have
extensive and well-funded marketing and sales operations. Without an internal team or the support of a third-party to perform marketing and sales functions, we may be unable to compete successfully against these
more established companies.

Even if GTx-104 receives regulatory approval, we will still face regulatory difficulties.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for GTx-104, it would be subject to ongoing requirements by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities governing the manufacture, quality control, further
development, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, patient registry, import, export, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of safety and other post-market information. The
safety profile of GTx-104 will continue to be closely monitored by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities after approval. If new safety information becomes available after approval of GTx-104, the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require labeling changes or establishment of a REMS or similar strategy, impose significant restrictions on GTx-104’s indicated uses or marketing, or impose
ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval trials or post-market surveillance. We will also be subject to continued compliance with cGMP and GCP requirements for any clinical trials that we conduct
post-approval.
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In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with cGMP and other regulations.
If we or a regulatory authority discover previously unknown problems with a product, such as AEs of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a
regulatory authority may impose restrictions on that product, the manufacturing facility or us, including requiring recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, GTx-
104 or the manufacturing facilities for GTx-104 fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory authority may, among other things:

. issue warning letters or untitled letters;

. mandate modifications to promotional materials or require us to provide corrective information to healthcare practitioners;

. require us to enter into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines, reimbursements for inspection costs, required due dates for specific actions and penalties for noncompliance;
. seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;

. suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;

. suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications filed by us;

. suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

. seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of products, or require us to initiate a product recall.

The occurrence of any event or penalty described above may inhibit or preclude our ability to commercialize GTx-104 and generate revenue.

The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise
from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we
are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval for GTx-104 that we may have obtained, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Advertising and promotion of GTx-104, if approved by the FDA, will be heavily scrutinized by, among others, the FDA, the DOJ, the HHS OIG, state attorneys general, members of Congress and the public. The
FDA and other federal regulatory agencies closely regulate the marketing and promotion of drugs through, among other things, standards and regulations for direct-to-consumer advertising, advertising and
promotion to healthcare professionals, communications regarding unapproved uses, industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities, and promotional activities involving the Internet. A product cannot be
promoted before it is approved. After approval, product promotion can include only those claims relating to safety and effectiveness that are consistent with the labeling approved by the FDA. Healthcare providers
are permitted to prescribe drugs for “off-label” uses — that is, uses not approved by the FDA and not described in the product’s labeling — because the FDA does not regulate the practice of medicine. However,
FDA regulations impose restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding off-label uses. Broadly speaking, a manufacturer may not promote a drug for off-label use, but under certain conditions may
engage in non-promotional, balanced, scientific communication regarding off-label use. Failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements and restrictions in this area may subject a company to adverse publicity
and enforcement action, including enforcement letters, inquiries and investigations, and civil and criminal sanctions by the FDA or other government agencies. In addition, advertising and promotion of GTx-104, if
approved outside of the United States, will be heavily scrutinized by comparable foreign regulatory authorities.

In the United States, promoting GTx-104 for unapproved indications can also subject us to false claims litigation under federal and state statutes, and other litigation and/or investigation, which can lead to civil and
criminal penalties and fines and agreements that materially restrict the manner in which we promote or distribute our drug products. These false claims statutes include the FCA, which allows any individual to bring
a lawsuit against a pharmaceutical company on behalf of the federal government alleging submission of false or fraudulent claims, or causing to present such false or fraudulent claims, for payment by a federal
program such as Medicare or Medicaid. If the government prevails in the lawsuit, the individual will share in any fines or settlement funds. If we do not lawfully promote our approved products, we may become
subject to such litigation and/or investigation and, if we are not successful in defending against such actions, those actions could adversely affect our business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

In the European Union, strict requirements and restrictions regarding advertising and promotion apply, the details of which may vary per European Union Member States. Violation of those rules could subject us to
litigation, investigations and/or civil and criminal penalties, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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Even if our drug 'y approval in the United States, we may never obtain regulatory approval or successfully commercialize our products outside of the United States.

Our business plan is highly dependent upon our ability to obtain regulatory approval to market and commercialize our lead drug candidate, GTx-104 in the United States. As GTx-104 is currently the focus of our
drug development program, the failure to commercialize it would have a material adverse effect on our ability to execute on our business plan and generate revenue. In addition, even if we obtain U.S. regulatory
approvals to commercialize GTx-104, we may not be able to do so in other international jurisdictions.

If we obtain approval to commercialize any approved drug products outside of the United States, a variety of risks associated with international operations could materially adversely affect our business.

If any of our drug candidates are approved for commercialization, we may enter into agreements with third parties to market these drug products outside the United States. We expect that we will be subject to
additional risks related to entering into international business relationships, including:

. different regulatory requirements for drug approvals in foreign countries;

. reduced protection for intellectual property rights;

. unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements;

. economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

. compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

. foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

. foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations incident to doing business in another country;
. workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

. ability to secure third-party marketing and selling agreements outside of the United States;

. production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

. business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters including earthquakes, typhoons, floods and fires.

We are required to obtain regulatory approval for each of our drug candidates in each jurisdiction in which we intend to market such products, and the inability to obtain such approvals would limit our ability
to realize their full market potential.

In order to market drug products outside of the United States, we must comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Clinical trials conducted in one
country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries, and regulatory approval in one country does not mean that regulatory approval will be obtained in any other country. However, the failure to
obtain regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may adversely impact our ability to obtain regulatory approval in another jurisdiction. Approval processes vary among countries and can involve additional product
testing and validation and additional administrative review periods. Seeking foreign regulatory approval could result in difficulties and costs for us and require additional non-clinical studies or clinical trials which
could be costly and time consuming. Regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country and could delay or prevent the introduction of our drug products in those countries. If we fail to comply with
regulatory requirements in international markets or to obtain and maintain required approvals, or if regulatory approval in international markets is delayed, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize
the full market potential of our drug products will be harmed.

If we are unable to differentiate our drug candidates from branded reference drugs or existing generic therapies for similar treatments, or if the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities approve generic
products that compete with any of our drug candidates, our ability to successfully commercialize our drug candidates would be adversely affected.

Although we believe that our drug candidates will be clinically differentiated from branded reference drugs and their generic counterparts, if any, it is possible that such differentiation will not impact our market

position. If we are unable to achieve significant differentiation for our product candidates against other drugs, the opportunity for our product candidates to achieve premium pricing and be commercialized
successfully would be adversely affected.
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In addition to existing branded reference drugs and the related generic products, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities may approve generic products that compete directly with our drug candidates, if
approved. Once an NDA, including a 505(b)(2) application, is approved, the product covered thereby becomes a “listed drug” which can, in turn, be cited by potential competitors in support of approval of an
abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”). The FDCA, FDA regulations and other applicable regulations and policies provide incentives to manufacturers to create modified, non-infringing versions of a drug to
facilitate the approval of an ANDA for generic substitutes. These manufacturers might only be required to conduct a relatively inexpensive study to show that their product has the same active ingredient(s), dosage
form, strength, route of administration and conditions of use or labeling as our product candidate and that the generic product is bioequivalent to ours, meaning it is absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the
same extent as our drug product. These generic equivalents, which must meet the same quality standards as branded pharmaceuticals, would be significantly less costly than ours to bring to market and companies
that produce generic equivalents are generally able to offer their drug products at lower prices. After the introduction of a generic competitor, a significant percentage of the sales of any branded drug product is
typically lost to the generic drug product. Accordingly, competition from generic equivalents of our drug candidates would materially adversely impact our ability to successfully commercialize our drug candidates.

We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.

The biopharmaceutical industry is intensely competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. We expect to have competitors both in the United States and internationally, including major
multinational pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies and universities and other research institutions.

Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources, such as larger research and development staff and experienced marketing and manufacturing organizations. If our
competitors market products that are more effective, safer or less expensive than our drug products, if any, or that reach the market sooner than our drug products, if any, we may enter the market too late in the cycle
and may not achieve commercial success. In addition, the biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapid technological change. If we fail to stay at the forefront of technological change, we may be unable to
compete effectively. Technological advances or drug products developed by our competitors may render our drug products, if any, or drug candidates obsolete, less competitive or not economical.

We could incur substantial costs and disruption to our business and delays in the launch of our drug did. if our competitors and/or collaborators bring legal actions against us, which could harm our

business and operating results.

We cannot predict whether our competitors or potential competitors, may bring legal actions against us based on our research, development, and commercialization activities, as well as any drug candidates or drug
products resulting from these activities, claiming, among other things, infringement of their intellectual property rights, breach of contract or other legal theories. If we are forced to defend any such lawsuits,
whether they are with or without merit or are ultimately determined in our favor, we may face costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel. These lawsuits could hinder our ability to enter
the market early with our drug candidates and thereby hinder our ability to influence usage patterns when fewer, if any, of our potential competitors have entered such market, which could adversely impact our
potential revenue from such drug candidates. Some of our competitors have substantially greater resources than we do and could be able to sustain the cost of litigation to a greater extent and for longer periods of
time than we could. Furthermore, an adverse outcome of a dispute may require us: to pay damages, potentially including treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a party’s
patent or other intellectual property rights; to cease making, licensing or using products that are alleged to incorporate or make use of the intellectual property of others; to expend additional development resources
to reformulate our products or prevent us from marketing a certain drug; and to enter into potentially unfavorable royalty or license agreements in order to obtain the rights to use necessary technologies. Royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may be unavailable on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

We are subject to numerous complex regulatory requirements and failure to comply with these regulations, or the cost of compliance with these regulations, may harm our business.

The research, testing, development, manufacturing, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising, marketing, distribution, possession and use of our drug candidates,
among other things, are subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the United States and elsewhere. The FDA regulates drugs under the FDCA, and implementing regulations. Non-compliance
with any applicable regulatory requirements can result in refusal of the governmental authority to approve products for marketing, criminal prosecution and fines, warning letters, product recalls or seizure of
products, total or partial suspension of production, prohibitions or limitations on the commercial sale of products or refusal to allow the entering into of federal and state supply contracts. FDA and comparable
governmental authorities have the authority to withdraw product approvals that have been previously granted. In addition, the regulatory requirements relating to our drug candidates and drug products, if any, may
change from time to time and it is impossible to predict what the impact of any such changes may be.
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Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with
regulatory de

ds and requir

‘We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, commercial partners, and vendors may engage in fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct
by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct that violates (1) the laws of the FDA and similar foreign regulatory bodies, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete,
and accurate information to such regulatory bodies; (2) healthcare fraud and abuse laws of the United States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws; and (3) laws requiring the reporting of financial
information or data accurately. Specifically, the promotion, sales and marketing of health care items and services, as well as certain business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws
designed to prevent misconduct, including fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing, structuring and
commission(s), certain customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient
recruitment for clinical trials. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee and other third-party misconduct. The precautions we take to detect and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in
controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws. If any such actions are
instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages,
monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment
of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our
business.

Our commercial success also depends upon our ability and the ability of our future collaborators to develop, manufacture, market and sell our drug candidates and to use our proprietary technologies without
infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we are developing drug
candidates. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications, which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates or proprietary technologies
may infringe. Similarly, there may be issued patents relevant to our drug candidates of which we are not aware.

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries generally. In particular, the generic drug industry is
characterized by frequent litigation between generic drug companies and branded drug companies. If a third-party claims that we infringe its intellectual property rights, we may face a number of issues, including,
but not limited to:

) infringement and other intellectual property claims which, with or without merit, may be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and may divert our management’s attention from our core business;

. substantial damages for infringement, including, but not limited to, treble damages, punitive damages, loss of profits and attorneys’ fees, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the drug
product or proprietary technology at issue infringes on or violates the third-party’s rights;

L] if a license is available from the third-party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, fees and/or grant cross licenses to our technology; and

) redesigning our drug candidates or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial funds and time.

We have not conducted an extensive search of patents issued to third parties, and no assurance can be given that third-party patents containing claims covering our drug candidates, technology or methods do not
exist, have not been filed, or could not be filed or issued. Because of the number of patents issued and patent applications filed in our technical areas or fields, we believe there is a significant risk that third parties
may allege they have patent rights encompassing our products, technology, or methods. Other drug candidates that we may in-license or acquire could be subject to similar risks and uncertainties.

or ind dent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged confidential infor ion or trade secrets of their other clients or former

P

We may be subject to claims that our employees,
employers to us.
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As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry, certain of our employees were formerly employed by other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors. Moreover, we engage the services of consultants to assist us in the development of our drug candidates, many of whom were previously employed at or may have previously been or are currently
providing consulting services to, other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. We may be subject to claims that these employees and consultants or we have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers or their former or current customers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims.
Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. Any such litigation would be protracted, expensive, and potentially subject
to an unfavorable outcome.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our intellectual property for our branded products and drug candidates.

Our commercial success with respect to our drug products and drug candidates, depends on obtaining and maintaining patent protection in the United States and in other countries and trade secret protection for our
drug candidates, proprietary technologies and their uses. Our ability to protect our drug products from unauthorized or infringing use by third parties depends in substantial part on our ability to obtain and maintain
valid and enforceable patents.

Due to evolving legal standards relating to patentability, validity and enforceability of patents covering pharmaceutical inventions and the scope of claims made under these patents, our ability to maintain, obtain
and enforce patents is uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions. The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and
factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. Changes in either the patent laws or in the interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value and
the scope of our intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain. Only limited protection may be available and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For
example:

. we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these or similar inventions;

. we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and issued patents;
. others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;

) it is possible that none of our or our licensors’ pending patent applications will result in issued patents;

[ any patents we obtain, or our licensors’ issued patents may not encompass commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged by third parties for
lack of novelty, obviousness, lack of demonstrated or predicted utility, or other technical reasons related to the drafting of the patent itself;

. any patents we obtain, or our in-licensed issued patents may not be valid or enforceable; or

) we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable.

Proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how are also very important to our business. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade secrets and unpatented know-how, including entering into
confidentiality agreements with third parties, and confidential information and inventions agreements with certain of our employees, consultants, and advisors, third parties may still obtain this information, or we
may be unable to protect our rights. Enforcing a claim that a third-party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets or unpatented know-how is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable.
In addition, courts outside the United States may be less willing to protect trade secret information. Moreover, our competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods, and know-how, and we
would not be able to prevent their use.

If we fail to comply with our oblig
rights that are important to our business.

in the agr under which we license rights to technology from third parties, or if the li agr are termi d for other reasons, we could lose license
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We may be a party to a number of technology licenses that are important to our business and expect to enter into additional licenses in the future. Our existing license agreements impose, and we expect that future
license agreements will impose, on us, various development, regulatory and/or commercial diligence obligations, payment of milestones and/or royalties and other obligations. Under these agreements, we must rely
on our licensor to comply with their obligations under the primary license agreements under which such third-party obtained rights in the applicable intellectual property, where we may have no relationship with the
original licensor of such rights. If our licensors fail to comply with their obligations under these upstream license agreements, the original third-party licensor may have the right to terminate the original license,
which may terminate our sublicense. If this were to occur, we would no longer have rights to the applicable intellectual property unless we are able to secure our own direct license with the owner of the relevant
rights, which we may not be able to do at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, which may impact our ability to continue to develop and commercialize our drug candidates and companion diagnostic
incorporating the relevant intellectual property. If we fail to comply with our obligations under our license agreements, or we are subject to a bankruptcy or insolvency, the licensor may have the right to terminate
the license. In the event that any of our important technology licenses were to be terminated by the licensor, we would likely cease further development of the related program or be required to spend significant time
and resources to modify the program to not use the rights under the terminated license.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property.

‘We may also be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an ownership interest in our patents or other intellectual property. We may be subject to ownership disputes in the
future arising, for example, from conflicting obligations of consultants or others who are involved in developing our drug candidates and companion diagnostic. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these
and other claims challenging inventorship or ownership. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive
ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result
in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees.

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our
competitive advantage. The following examples are illustrative:

. others may be able to make compounds that are similar to our drug candidates but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed;

. we or our licensors or future collaborators might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we own or have exclusively licensed;
. we or our licensors or future collaborators might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our inventions;

. others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual property rights;

. it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

. issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may be held invalid or unenforceable as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

. we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; and

. the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

Should any of these events occur, they could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of some countries, particularly certain developing
countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing
products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our
business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in
any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be

inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies for intangible assets prove to be incorrect, further impairment charges could result.
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We carry a significant amount of intangible assets on our consolidated balance sheet, associated with acquired in process research and development. In the ordinary course of business, circumstances may arise,
including manifestation of any of the risks identified in this section, that could result in further recognition that the carrying values of our assets may not be recovered from future operations. Under such
circumstances, it is possible we may be required to further impair our asset values to the extent that their remaining value after any such impairment can be recovered by our business going forward. Intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life are subject to an impairment review at least annually.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain
regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug candidates, and our business could be substantially harmed.

We have relied upon and plan to continue to rely upon third-party CROs to monitor and manage data for our pre-clinical and clinical programs. We rely on these parties for execution of our pre-clinical studies and
clinical trials, and control only certain aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory, and
scientific standards and our reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs are required to comply with FDA laws and regulations regarding current good clinical
practice (“GCP”), which are also required by the Competent Authorities of the Member States of the European Economic Area and comparable foreign regulatory authorities in the form of International Conference
on Harmonization, guidelines for all of our drug candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce GCP through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators, and trial sites. If we or
any of our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform
additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials
comply with GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product produced under current Good Manufacturing Practice (“cGMP”) regulations. While we have agreements governing the
activities of our CROs and CMOs, we have limited influence over their actual performance. In addition, portions of the clinical trials for our drug candidates are expected to be conducted outside of the United
States, which will make it more difficult for us to monitor CROs and perform visits of our clinical trial sites and will force us to rely heavily on CROs to ensure the proper and timely conduct of our clinical trials
and compliance with applicable regulations, including GCP. Failure to comply with applicable regulations in the conduct of the clinical trials for our drug candidates may require us to repeat clinical trials, which
would delay the regulatory approval process.

We rely on third parties to manufacture commercial and clinical supplies of our drug candidates, and we intend to rely on third parties to tfacture c cial supplies of any approved drug products. The

commercialization of any of our drug products could be stopped, delayed, or made less profitable if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient quantities of active pharmaceutical ingredients,
excipients, or drug products, or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices or fail to maintain or achieve satisfactory regulatory compliance.

We do not own any manufacturing facilities, and we do not currently, and do not expect in the future, to independently conduct any aspects of our product manufacturing and testing, or other activities related to the
clinical development and commercialization of our drug candidates. We currently rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties with respect to these items, and control only certain aspects of their activities.

Any of these third parties may terminate their engagements with us at any time. If we need to enter into alternative arrangements, it could delay our drug candidate development and commercialization activities.
Our reliance on these third parties reduces our control over these activities but does not relieve us of our responsibility to ensure compliance with all required legal, regulatory, and scientific standards such as the
requirement for our product candidates and any future commercialized products to be manufactured according to cGMP and any applicable product specifications. Additionally, the facilities used by any contract
manufacturer to manufacture any of our product candidates must be the subject of a satisfactory inspection before the FDA approves the product candidate manufactured at that facility. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our manufacturing in accordance with regulatory requirements or contractual requirements, we may not be able to complete, or
may be delayed in completing, clinical trials required to support future regulatory submissions and approval , or may have a material effect on our ability to commercialize of our drug candidates, if approved.

Certain changes in the manufacturing process or procedure, including a change in the location where the drug candidate is manufactured or a change of a third-party manufacturer, generally require prior FDA, or

foreign regulatory authority, review and/or approval of the manufacturing process and procedures in accordance with current cGMP. We may need to conduct additional pre-clinical studies and clinical trials to
support approval of such changes. This review may be costly and time-consuming and could delay or prevent the launch of a drug candidate.
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More generally, manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up and validating initial commercial production. These problems include difficulties with
production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the product, quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance with strictly enforced federal, state, and foreign
regulations. Additionally, our manufacturers may experience manufacturing difficulties due to resource constraints or as a result of labor disputes or unstable political environments. If our manufacturers were to
encounter any of these difficulties, or otherwise fail to comply with their contractual obligations, our ability to make product candidates available for clinical trials and development purposes or to commercialize
any of our product candidates in the United States would be jeopardized. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the FDA’s ¢cGMP
requirements, and other requirements of any governmental agency whose jurisdiction to which we are subject, our product candidates will not be approved or, if already approved, may be subject to recalls or other
negative actions. Additionally, any delay or interruption in our ability to meet commercial demand may result in the loss of potential revenues and could adversely affect our ability to gain market acceptance for
approved products. In addition, any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of clinical trials, increase the costs associated with maintaining clinical trial programs and,
depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence new clinical trials at additional expense or terminate clinical trials completely. Additionally, if supply from one approved manufacturer is interrupted,
there could be a significant disruption in commercial supply. Regulatory agencies may also require additional studies if a new manufacturer is relied upon for commercial production. Accordingly, switching
manufacturers or adding a new manufacturing site/manufacturer may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in our desired clinical and commercial timelines.

We may not be successful in blishing or maintaining develop and c cialization collaborations, and any partner may not devote sufficient resources to the development or commercialization of
our drug candidates or may otherwise fail in develop or ¢ ialization efforts, which could adversely affect our ability to develop certain of our drug candidates and our financial condition and
operating results.

Because developing pharmaceutical products, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approval, establishing manufacturing capabilities and marketing approved products are expensive, we are exploring
collaborations with third parties outside of the United States that have more resources and experience. In situations where we enter into a development and commercial collaboration arrangement for a drug
candidate, we may also seek to establish additional collaborations for development and commercialization in territories outside of those addressed by the first collaboration arrangement for such drug candidate.
There are a limited number of potential partners, and we expect to face competition in seeking appropriate partners. If we are unable to enter into any development and commercial collaborations and/or sales and
marketing arrangements on acceptable terms, if at all, we may be unable to successfully develop and seek regulatory approval for our drug candidates and/or effectively market and sell future approved drug
products, if any, in all of the territories outside of the United States where it may otherwise be valuable to do so.

Even if we are able to establish collaboration arrangements, any such collaboration may not ultimately be successful, which could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects. If we partner with a third-party for development and commercialization of a drug candidate, we can expect to relinquish some or all of the control over the future success of that drug candidate to the
third-party. It is possible that a partner may not devote sufficient resources to the development or commercialization of our drug candidate or may otherwise fail in development or commercialization efforts, in
which event the development and commercialization of such drug candidate could be delayed or terminated, and our business could be substantially harmed. In addition, the terms of any collaboration or other
arrangement that we establish may not prove to be favorable to us or may not be perceived as favorable, which may negatively impact the trading price of our common stock. In some cases, we may be responsible
for continuing the development of a product candidate or research program under a collaboration, and the payment we receive from our partner may be insufficient to cover the cost of this development. Moreover,
collaborations and sales and marketing arrangements are complex, and time consuming to negotiate, document and implement, and they may require substantial resources to maintain.

We are subject to a number of additional risks associated with our dependence on collaborations with third parties, the occurrence of which could cause our collaboration arrangements to fail. Conflicts may arise
between us and our partners, such as conflicts concerning the interpretation of clinical data, the achievement of milestones, the interpretation of financial provisions or the ownership of intellectual property
developed during the collaboration. If any such conflicts arise, a partner could act in its own self-interest, which may be adverse to our interests. Any such disagreement between us and a partner could result in one
or more of the following, each of which could delay or prevent the development or commercialization of our drug candidates and harm our business:

) reductions in the payment of royalties or other payments we believe are due pursuant to the applicable collaboration arrangement;
. actions taken by a partner inside or outside our collaboration which could negatively impact our rights or benefits under our collaboration; and

L] unwillingness on the part of a partner to keep us informed regarding the progress of its development and commercialization activities or to permit public disclosure of the results of those activities.
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Risks Related to Tax

There is a significant risk that we may have been classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that such PFIC status may taint our common shares owned by U.S. Holders prior to the
Domestication.

Following the Domestication, we are now a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and thus, we generally cannot be treated as PFIC in future taxable years. However, investors who owned our
common shares prior to the Domestication and who are U.S. Holders (as defined below) should be aware that, based on our most recent financial statements and projections and given uncertainty regarding the
composition of our income and assets, there is a significant risk that we may have been classified as a “passive foreign investment company” or “PFIC” for the 2024 taxable year and may be classified as a PFIC for
our current taxable year during which the Domestication occurred. Any U.S. Holder who held our common shares prior to the Domestication may continue to be treated as holding common stock in a PFIC even
subsequent to the Domestication if such U.S. Holder has not made certain elections to mitigate the adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding shares of a PFIC.

The rules governing PFICs can have adverse tax effects on U.S. Holders, which effects may be mitigated by making certain elections for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which elections may or may not be
available. If we were a PFIC in any year, a U.S. Holder in such year would be required to file an annual information return with the IRS on IRS Form 8621 to report distributions received on their common shares,
any gain realized on disposition of such common shares and any other information required by such form. Additionally, if we were classified as a PFIC in any taxable year with respect to which a U.S. Holder owned
common shares, we generally would continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to such U.S. Holder in all succeeding taxable years, unless the U.S. Holder makes a “deemed sale election.”

Each investor who owned our common shares prior to the Domestication and who is a U.S. Holder should consult his, her or its own tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, state and local, and non-U.S. tax
consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of our common stock, the U.S. federal tax consequences of the PFIC rules, and the availability of any election that may be available to the holder to
mitigate adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences of holding shares of a PFIC, including on a go-forward basis.

For purposes of this disclosure, a “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of shares of our Common Stock that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is (a) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States,
(b) a company, or other entity classified as a company for U.S. federal income tax purposes, that is created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state in the United States or the District of
Columbia, (c) an estate if the income of such estate is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of the source of such income, or (d) a trust if (i) such trust has validly elected to be treated as a U.S. person for
U.S. federal income tax purposes or (ii) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of
such trust.

We may not be able to use our net operating loss carry forwards to offset future taxable income for U.S. and Canadian federal income tax purposes.

At March 31, 2025, Grace Therapeutics U.S., Inc. (“Grace U.S.”) (formerly Acasti Pharma U.S.) and Grace Therapeutics, Inc. had net operating loss carry forwards (“NOLs”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes of
approximately $16.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively, which have no expiry.

Grace U.S. underwent an “ownership change” within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code as a result of the 2021 merger with Grace Therapeutics, the privately held company, and therefore Grace U.S. and/or the
Company may be subject to an annual limit on the amount of NOLs that may be used to offset future taxable income of Grace U.S. and/or the Company for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Such annual limit is
generally equal to the product of (i) the total value of the loss company’s (in this case, Grace U.S.) outstanding equity immediately prior to an “ownership change” (subject to certain adjustments); and (ii) the
applicable federal long-term tax-exempt interest rate for the month that includes the “ownership change.”

At March 31, 2025, we had NOLs for Canadian federal income tax purposes of approximately $143 million, which expire at various dates through 2043. The extent to which we can utilize any or all of our NOLs
will depend on many factors, including the jurisdiction applicable to any of our future taxable revenue. In connection with our shift of our operations to the United States, we may not be able to justify the allocation
of revenue to Canada sufficient to recover the tax benefits arising from NOLs and other tax credits.

Our ability to use NOLs will also depend on the amount of taxable income generated in future periods. The NOLs may expire before we can generate sufficient taxable income to use the NOLs.

The IRS may not agree that we should be treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes prior to the Domestication.

Although prior to the Domestication, we were incorporated in Quebec, Canada, the IRS may assert that since August 27, 2021, we should have been treated as a U.S. corporation (and, therefore, a U.S. tax resident)
for U.S. federal tax purposes pursuant to Section 7874 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). For U.S. federal tax purposes, a corporation generally is considered a tax resident in the
jurisdiction of its organization or incorporation. Because prior to the Domestication we were an entity incorporated in Canada, we generally have been classified as a foreign corporation (and, therefore, not a U.S.

tax resident) for U.S. federal tax purposes at all times prior to the Domestication). However, Section 7874 of the Code provides an exception under which a foreign corporation may, in certain circumstances, be
treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes.
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Under Section 7874, if (1) in the 2021 merger with Grace Therapeutics, former Grace Therapeutics stockholders owned (within the meaning of Section 7874) 80% or more (by vote or value) of our ordinary shares
after the merger by reason of holding Grace Therapeutics common stock (such ownership percentage, the "Section 7874 ownership percentage"), and (2) our "expanded affiliated group" did not have "substantial
business activities" in Canada ("the substantial business activities test"), we would have been treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes following the 2021 merger with Grace Therapeutics. If the
Section 7874 ownership percentage of the former Grace Therapeutics stockholders after the merger was less than 80% but greater than or equal to 60%, and the substantial business activities test was not met, we
and our U.S. affiliates may have been in some circumstances, subject to certain adverse U.S. federal income tax provisions (which, among other things, could have limited their ability to utilize certain U.S. tax
attributes such as NOLs to offset U.S. taxable income or gain resulting from certain transactions). Following the 2021 merger and prior to the Domestication, the application of these rules could have resulted in
significant additional U.S. tax liability and limited our ability to restructure or access cash earned by certain of our non-U.S. subsidiaries, in each case, without incurring substantial U.S. tax liabilities.

Based on the terms of the merger, the rules for determining share ownership under Section 7874 and certain factual assumptions, we believe that former Grace Therapeutics stockholders owned (within the meaning
of Section 7874) less than 60% (by both vote and value) of our ordinary shares after the merger by reason of holding shares of Grace Therapeutics common stock. Therefore, we believe that we should not have been
treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes prior to the Domestication and that Section 7874 should otherwise not have applied to us or our affiliates as a result of the 2021 merger with Grace
Therapeutics.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
We do not expect to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

The continued operation and expansion of our business will require substantial funding. Accordingly, we do not anticipate that we will pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any
determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by
applicable law and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

The price of our common stock may be volatile.

Market prices for securities of pharmaceutical companies can fluctuate significantly. Factors such as the announcement to the public or in various scientific or industry forums of technological innovations; new
commercial products; patents or exclusive rights obtained by us or others; disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection
for our technologies; the commencement, enrollment or announcement of results of clinical trials we conduct, or changes in the development status of our drug candidates; results or delays of pre-clinical and
clinical studies by us or others; any delay in our regulatory filings for our drug candidates and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the applicable regulatory authority’s review
of such filings; a change of regulations; additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel; overall performance of the equity markets; general political and economic conditions; publications; failure
to meet the estimates and projections of the investment community or that we may otherwise provide to the public; research reports or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by
securities analysts; actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results; announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors;
public concerns over the risks of pharmaceutical products ; unanticipated serious safety concerns related to the use of our drug candidates or drug products; our access to financial resources, future sales of securities
by us or our stockholders; and many other factors, many of which are beyond our control, could have considerable effects on the price of our common stock. The price of our common stock has fluctuated
significantly in the past and there can be no assurance that the market price of our common stock will not experience significant fluctuations in the future.

In addition, securities of pharmaceutical companies often experience extreme price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and
industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against
pharmaceutical companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. This type of litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources, which would harm our business, operating results or financial condition.
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Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations, or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or drug candidates.

‘We will need to raise additional capital in the future in order to fully execute on our business plan. We may seek additional capital through a combination of public and private equity offerings, debt financing, and
non-dilutive strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interests of our
stockholders will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness by us would result in increased fixed
payment obligations and could involve certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or license intellectual property rights and other
operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds through strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may
have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or drug candidates, or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us.

We may pursue opportunities or tr tions that adversely affect our business and financial condition and the public announcement of any of these or similar strategic opportunities or transactions might
have a significant effect on the price of our common stock

Our management, in the ordinary course of our business, regularly explores potential strategic opportunities and transactions. These opportunities and transactions may include strategic joint venture relationships,
significant debt or equity investments in us by third parties, the acquisition or disposition of material assets, the licensing, acquisition or disposition of material intellectual property, the development of new drug
candidates, the sale of our common stock and other similar opportunities and transactions. The public announcement of any of these or similar strategic opportunities or transactions might have a significant effect
on the price of our common stock. Our policy is to not publicly disclose the pursuit of a potential strategic opportunity or transaction unless we are required to do so by applicable law, including applicable securities
laws relating to periodic disclosure obligations. There can be no assurance that investors who buy or sell common stock are doing so at a time when we are not pursuing a particular strategic opportunity or
transaction that, when announced, would have a significant effect on the price of our common stock.

In addition, any such future corporate development may be accompanied by certain risks, including exposure to unknown liabilities of the strategic opportunities and transactions, higher than anticipated transaction

costs and expenses, the difficulty and expense of integrating operations and personnel of any acquired companies, disruption of our ongoing business, diversion of management’s time and attention, and possible
dilution to stockholders. We may not be able to successfully overcome these risks and other problems associated with any future acquisitions and this may adversely affect our business and financial condition.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 1C. Cybersecurity

We are increasingly dependent on third-party provided software applications and computing infrastructure to conduct key operations. We depend on both our own procured systems, networks, and technology as
well as the systems, networks and technology of our contractors, consultants, vendors and other business partners.

Given the importance of cybersecurity to our business, we maintain a cybersecurity program that is based on a set of cybersecurity policies and processes to support our controls and our preparedness for treatment
of identified information security risks. We also undergo periodic evaluations of our cybersecurity program through cybersecurity assessment and cybersecurity incident response tabletop exercises, conducted by
our cybersecurity advisors. As a result of such assessments and exercises, a number of processes have been established or are being improved upon to support the protection of our data and systems.

Process for Assessing, Identifying and Managing Material Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

In the event of a cybersecurity incident, we maintain a Cybersecurity Incident Response Plan. Pursuant to the plan and its escalation protocols, designated personnel are responsible for assessing the severity of an
incident and associated threat, containing the threat, remediating the threat, including recovery of data and access to systems, analyzing any reporting obligations associated with the incident, and performing post-
incident analysis and program enhancements. We have a relationship with various law firms to assist with advisory on legal aspects of containing incidents and communicating accordingly.

Governance

Management Oversight

The existing controls and processes employed to assess, identify and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats are implemented and overseen by our information technology (“IT”) consultant. Our IT
consultant leverages its over 35 years of experience. Our IT consultant is responsible for the day-to-day management of the cybersecurity program, including the prevention, detection, investigation, response to, and
recovery from cybersecurity incidents. Our IT consultant reports on its activities to senior management who then assess and manage risks of cybersecurity threats.

Board Oversight

While our Board of Directors (the “Board”) has overall responsibility for risk oversight, the Audit Committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee™) oversees cybersecurity risk matters. The Audit Committee is
responsible for reviewing, monitoring, reporting and, where appropriate, providing recommendations to the Board regarding compliance with our internal policies and its progress in remedying any material
deficiencies, including those related to our security policies, including the physical safeguarding of corporate assets and security of our networks and information systems. The Audit Committee receives periodic
updates regarding the cybersecurity program, including top threats and risks, and updates on the cybersecurity roadmap.

Cybersecurity Risks

‘We maintain a Risk Management Policy that governs the process in which we identify cybersecurity risks, evaluate their associated impacts and risk levels, and document them accordingly in the Cybersecurity Risk
Register.
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For additional information, see “Item 1A—Risk Factors.” In the last reporting year, we did not experience any material cybersecurity incidents or threats.

Item 2. Properties

Our head office and operations are located at 103 Carnegie Center Suite 300 Princeton, New Jersey, 08540.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are at times subject to various legal proceedings and disputes. We assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with outstanding legal proceedings utilizing the latest
information available. Where it is probable that we will incur a loss and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we record a liability in our consolidated financial statements. These legal contingencies
may be adjusted to reflect any relevant developments on a quarterly basis. Where a loss is not probable or the amount of loss is not estimable, we do not accrue legal contingencies. While the outcome of legal
proceedings is inherently uncertain, based on information currently available and available insurance coverage, our management believes that it has established appropriate legal reserves. However, it is possible that
the ultimate resolution of these matters, if unfavorable, may be material to our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that, in the opinion of
management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Market Information
Shares of our common stock are traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “GRCE.”
Holders

As of June 18, 2025, there were 32 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of our stockholders is greater than this number of record holders because most of our stockholders are beneficial
owners whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.

Dividends

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividend on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We presently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the expansion and growth of our business. Any future
determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors the board of directors deems
relevant. In addition, the terms of any future debt or credit facility may preclude us from paying dividends.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities
None.

Item 6. Reserved
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto found elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This Annual Report on Form 10-K
contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You should review our Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements presented at the
beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. For a detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties, see Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which reflect management’s analysis only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update forward-looking statements which reflect events or
circumstances occurring after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless required by applicable securities laws.

Overview

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is presented in order to provide the reader with an overview of the financial results and changes to our financial position as at March 31, 2025 and for the year
then ended. This MD&A explains the material variations in our operations, financial position and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.

Market data, and certain industry data and forecasts included in this MD&A were obtained from internal surveys and market research conducted by third parties hired by us, publicly available information, reports of
governmental agencies and industry publications, and independent third-party surveys. We have relied upon industry publications as our primary sources for third-party industry data and forecasts. Industry surveys,
publications and forecasts generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of that information are not guaranteed. We
have not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources or the underlying economic assumptions they have made. Similarly, internal surveys, industry forecasts and market research, which we
believe to be reliable based upon management or contracted third parties’ knowledge of our industry, have not been independently verified. Our estimates involve risks and uncertainties, including assumptions that
may prove not to be accurate, and these estimates and certain industry data are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our annual financial statements, which include the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiary, have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and the rules and regulations of the SEC related to reports filed in
Form 10-K. All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

All amounts appearing in the MD&A for the period-by-period discussions are in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share amounts or unless otherwise indicated.

Our assets as of March 31, 2025 include cash and cash equivalents of $22,133 and intangible assets and goodwill of $49,266. Our current liabilities were $1,930 as of March 31, 2025 and were comprised primarily
of amounts due to or accrued for creditors.

In February 2025, we completed a private placement of Company securities with certain institutional and accredited investors. Net proceeds to the Company were $13,705. Refer to Note 8, 2025 Private Placement,

in the accompanying consolidated financial statements elsewhere in this document for additional information. We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to sustain planned operations
through at least 12 months from the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the years ended March 31, 2025, and 2024

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

Year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 Increase (Decrease)
$ $ $
(in thousands)

Operating expenses
Research and development expenses, net of government assistance 9,511 4,683 4,828
General and administrative expenses 7,168 6,684 484
Restructuring costs — 1,485 (1,485)
Loss from operating activities (16,679) (12,852) 3,827
Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities 3,218 (2,728) 5,946
Interest and other income, net 711 911 (200)
Foreign exchange loss (17) (16) (1)
Income tax benefit 3,199 1,832 1,367
Net loss (9,568) (12,853) (3,285)
Net Loss

The net loss of $9,568 or $0.79 loss per share for the year ended March 31, 2025, decreased by $3,285 from the net loss of $12,853 or $1.35 loss per share for the year ended March 31, 2024. The decrease in net
loss was primarily due to a $5,946 difference in change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities, a $1,485 decrease in restructuring costs, and a $1,367 increase in income tax benefits, partially offset by a $4,828
increase in research and development expenses, net of government assistance, a $484 increase in general and administrative expenses and a $200 decrease in interest and other income, net.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of:

. fees paid to external service providers such as contract research organizations ("CROs") and contract manufacturing organizations ("CMOs") related to clinical trials, including contractual obligations
for clinical development, clinical sites, manufacturing and scale-up, and formulation of clinical drug supplies;

. fees paid to contract service providers related to drug discovery efforts including chemistry and biology services; and

. salaries and related expenses for research and development personnel, including expenses related to stock options.

We record research and development expenses as incurred.

Our research and development during the year ended March 31, 2025 was focused primarily on our clinical development program for our GTx-104 drug candidate. Research and development expenses during the
year ended March 31, 2024, were focused primarily on our clinical development programs GTx-104, GTx-102, and GTx-101 drug candidates.
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The following table summarizes our research and development expenses:

Research and development expenses

Year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 Increase (Decrease)
$ $ $
(in thousands)

Total third-party research and development expenses1 8,486 3,576 4,910
Government grants & tax credits — 55 (55)
Salaries and benefits 809 844 (35)
Research and development expense before stock-based compensation and depreciation 9,295 4,475 4,820
Stock-based compensation 216 198 18
Depreciation and loss on disposal of equipment — 10 (10)
Total 9,511 4,683 4,828

1Total third-party research and development expenses are calculated before salaries and benefits, depreciation, write-off of equipment and stock-based compensation.

Total research and development expenses for the year ended March 31, 2025 were $9,511, compared to $4,683 for the year ended March 31, 2024. This increase of $4,828 was primarily due to the increase in
research activities for the GTx-104 pivotal Phase 3 safety clinical trial.

There were no government grants and tax credits for the year ended March 31, 2025, compared to $55 for the year ended March 31, 2024. The changes within government grants and tax credits in the prior year
were due to adjustments of provisions regarding realizability of credit receivables after assessments and correspondences from tax authorities.

Stock-based compensation of $216 for the year ended March 31, 2025, increased by $18 compared to $198 for the year ended March 31, 2024. The increase was primarily due to the issuance of new stock option
awards during the year ended March 31, 2025.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related benefits, including stock-based compensation, related to our executive, finance, legal, and support functions, including professional fees
for auditing, tax, legal, consulting, rent and utilities and insurance.

General and administrative expenses

Year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 Increase (Decrease)
$ $ $
(in thousands)

Professional fees 3,455 3,208 247

Salaries and benefits 2,031 1,184 847
Other 1,161 1,537 (376)

General and administrative expense before stock-based compensation and deprecialion1 6,647 5,929 718
Stock-based compensation 514 715 (201)
Depreciation and loss on disposal 7 40 (33)

Total 7,168 6,684 484

! General and administrative sub-total expenses are calculated before stock-based compensation and depreciation.
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General and administrative expenses were $7,168 for the year ended March 31, 2025, an increase of $484 from $6,684 for the year ended March 31, 2024. The increase was primarily a result of increased legal,
tax, accounting and other professional fees primarily related to the Continuance and Domestication, increased salaries and benefits due to merit increases and hiring of a new employee, offset in part by a decrease
in other expenses due primarily to adjustments for Canadian goods and services tax and a decrease in miscellaneous expenses as a result of restructuring in the prior year period. Stock-based compensation of $514
for the year ended March 31, 2025, decreased by $201 compared to $715 for the year ended March 31, 2024. The decrease was primarily due to fewer stock option awards granted during the year ended March 31,
2025.

Restructuring Costs

On May 8, 2023, we announced our decision to terminate a substantial amount of our workforce as part of a plan intended to align our organizational and management cost structure to prioritize resources to GTx-
104, thereby reducing losses to improve cash flow and extend available cash resources. We incurred $1,485 of related costs primarily consisting of employee severance costs. There were no restructuring costs for
the year ended March 31, 2025.

Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities

The decrease in the fair value of derivative warrant liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2025 of $5,946 was mainly attributable to the decrease in our stock price.

Interest income

Interest and other income, net was $711 for the year ended March 31, 2025, compared to $911 for the year ended March 31, 2024. The $200 decrease in our interest and other income was due to withdrawals of
short-term investments upon their maturity used to fund operations, and a decrease in interest rates.

Income tax benefit

Income tax benefit was $3,199 for the year ended March 31, 2025, an increase of $1,367 compared to $1,832 for the year ended March 31, 2024, due to net losses recognized by our subsidiary, Grace Therapeutics
U.S., Inc., which are deemed to be recoverable to us and can be taken as a benefit over time.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows and financial condition for the years ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024

Summary

As of March 31, 2025, cash and cash equivalents were $22,133, a net decrease of $872 compared to cash and cash equivalents of $23,005 at March 31, 2024.

In February 2025, we completed a private placement of our securities with certain institutional and accredited investors. Net proceeds to us were $13,705. Refer to Note 8, 2025 Private Placement in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements elsewhere in this document for additional information. We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to sustain planned operations through at
least 12 months from the issuance date of the consolidated financial statements included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We will require additional capital to fund our daily operating needs beyond that time. We do not expect to generate revenue from product sales unless and until we successfully complete drug development and
obtain regulatory approval, which is subject to significant uncertainty. To date, we have financed our operations primarily through public offerings and private placements of our common equity, warrants and
convertible debt and the proceeds from research tax credits. Until such time that we can generate significant revenue from drug product sales, if ever, we will require additional financing, which is expected to be
sourced from a combination of public or private equity or debt financing or other non-dilutive sources, including fees, milestone payments and royalties from collaborations with third parties. Arrangements with
collaborators or others may require us to relinquish certain rights related to our technologies or drug product candidates. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Our
inability to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategy. We plan to raise additional capital in order to maintain adequate
liquidity. Negative results from studies or trials, if any, or depressed prices of our Common Stock could impact our ability to raise additional financing. Raising additional equity capital is subject to market
conditions that are not within our control.

Net cash used in operating activities
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Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended March 31, 2025 was $14,904, compared to $12,333 for the year ended March 31, 2024, an increase of $2,571. The increase in net cash used in operating
activities was primarily due to a $4,828 increase in research and development activities for our GTx-104 pivotal Phase 3 STRIVE-ON trial, a $484 increase in general and administrative expenses for legal, tax,
accounting and other professional fees primarily related to the Continuance and Domestication, changes in prepaid expenses of $485, offset in part by a $1,485 decrease in restructuring costs, change in receivables
of $516 and change in trade and other payables of $1,568.

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended March 31, 2025, was from our purchase of short-term investments of $15 and maturity of short-term investments of $15. Net cash used in investing activities
for the year ended March 31, 2024, was from the purchase of short-term investments of $6,554, proceeds from the sale of equipment of $111, offset by proceeds from short-term investments of $6,569 and proceeds
from the sale of equipment of $22.

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended March 31, 2025, was attributable to the $13,705 net proceeds received from the 2025 private placement. Net cash provided by financing activities of
$7,359 for the year ended March 31, 2024, was primarily attributable to the $7,338 net proceeds received from the 2023 private placement.

2025 Private Placement

In February 2025, we agreed to offer and sell in a private placement (the “2025 Private Placement™) an aggregate of 3,252,132 shares of Common Stock, at a purchase price of $3.395 per share of Common Stock
(the “Shares™), and pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 1,166,160 shares of Common Stock, at a purchase price equal to the purchase price per Share less $0.0001 (the “2025 Pre-Funded Warrants™). Each 2025
Pre-Funded Warrant is exercisable for one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, is exercisable immediately and will expire once exercised in full. For each Share and 2025 Pre-Funded
Warrant issued, we agreed to issue to each purchaser an accompanying common warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock (or 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants in lieu thereof), exercisable for an aggregate of
4,418,292 shares of Common Stock (or 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants in lieu thereof) (the “2025 Common Warrants”). Each 2025 Common Warrant is exercisable for one share of Common Stock at an exercise price
of $3.395 per share, is immediately exercisable and will expire on the earlier of (i) the 60th day after the date the FDA approves the NDA for GTx-104 and (ii) September 25, 2028. The 2025 Private Placement
closed on February 11, 2025. The net proceeds to us from the 2025 Private Placement were $13,705, after deducting fees and expenses.

2023 Private Placement

In September 2023, we entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional and accredited investors in connection with a private placement offering of our securities
(the “2023 Private Placement”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, we sold 1,951,371 Common Shares, at a purchase price of $1.848 per Common Share and pre-funded warrants (the “2023 Pre-Funded
Warrants™) to purchase up to 2,106,853 Common Shares at a purchase price equal to the purchase price per Common Share less $0.0001. Each 2023 Pre-Funded Warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at an
exercise price of $0.0001 per Common Share, is immediately exercisable, and will expire once exercised in full. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, we also issued to such institutional and accredited investors
common warrants (the “Common Warrants”, and together with the 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants, the “Warrants”) to purchase Common Shares, exercisable for an aggregate of 2,536,391 Common Shares. Under the
terms of the Purchase Agreement, for each Common Share and each 2023 Pre-Funded Warrant issued in the 2023 Private Placement, an accompanying five-eighths (0.625) of a Common Warrant was issued to the
purchaser thereof. Each whole Common Warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at an exercise price of $3.003 per Common Share, is immediately exercisable, and will expire on the earlier of (i) the 60th day
after the date of the acceptance by the FDA of an NDA for our product candidate GTx-104 and (ii) five years from the date of issuance. The 2023 Private Placement closed on September 25, 2023. The net proceeds
to us from the 2023 Private Placement were $7,338, after deducting fees and expenses.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our contractual obligations and commitments primarily include trade payables, CMO and CRO agreements.
Research and development contracts and contract research organizations agreements

We utilize CMOs, for the development and production of clinical materials and CROs to perform services related to our clinical trials. Pursuant to the agreements with CMOs and CROs, we have either the right to
terminate the agreements without penalties or under certain penalty conditions. As of March 31, 2025, we had $300 of commitments to CMOs and $100 of commitments to CROs for the next twelve months.
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Contingencies
We evaluate contingencies on an ongoing basis and establish loss provisions for matters in which losses are probable, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
Use of Estimates and Measurement of Uncertainty

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that management may undertake in the future. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Estimates and assumptions include the measurement of stock-based compensation, derivative warrant liabilities, accruals for research and development contracts and contract organization agreements, and valuation
of intangibles and goodwill. Estimates and assumptions are also involved in determining which research and development expenses qualify for research and development tax credits and in what amounts. We
recognize the tax credits once we have reasonable assurance that they will be realized.

While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our financial statements, we believe that the following critical accounting policies are most important for understanding and evaluating our
reported financial results, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving management’s judgments and estimates.

Critical Accounting Policies
Research and development costs

Research and developments expenditures are expensed as incurred. These costs consist of employees’ salaries and benefits related to research and development activities, contractors and consultants that conduct the
Company’s clinical trials, laboratory material and small equipment, clinical trial materials, stock-based compensation expense, and other non-clinical costs and regulatory fees. The Company accrues research and
development expenses based on work performed, which relies on estimates of total costs incurred based on patient enrollment and completion of patient studies, invoices received and contracted costs. Advance
payments for goods and services that will be used in future research and development are recognized in prepaids or other assets and are expensed when the services are performed, or the goods are used.

Valuation of Intangible Assets and Goodwill

In a business combination, the fair value of in-process research and development ("IPR&D") assets acquired is capitalized and accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets, and not amortized until the
underlying project receives regulatory approval, at which point the intangible assets will be accounted for as definite-lived intangible assets or discontinued. If discontinued, the intangible assets will be written off.
R&D costs incurred after the acquisition are expensed as incurred.

Our IPR&D and goodwill was $49,300 as of March 31, 2025, which represents 68% of total assets. Goodwill and indefinite lived assets are not amortized but are subject to an impairment review annually and more
frequently when indicators of impairment exist. An impairment of goodwill could occur if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of that reporting unit. An impairment of indefinite-lived
intangible assets would occur if the fair value of the intangible asset is less than the carrying value.

The nature of the assumptions in the intangible assets’ impairment tests are considered critical due to a high level of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly uncertain matters, and the impact of the
assumptions on our financial condition and our operating performance could be material.

We test goodwill for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount. If we conclude it is more likely than not that
fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is performed. We test indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount. Events that could result in an impairment, or trigger an interim impairment assessment, include the decision to discontinue the
development of a drug, the receipt of additional clinical or nonclinical data regarding our drug candidates or a potentially competitive drug candidates, changes in the clinical development program for a drug
candidate, or new information regarding potential sales for the drug candidates and increases in our weighted average cost of capital.

Individual IPR&D projects and goodwill are tested for impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter, and in between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of each technology or our reporting unit below its carrying value. No impairment of the identified intangible assets was recognized for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.
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Financial Instruments

Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are all invested in accordance with our investment policy
with the primary objective being the preservation of capital and the maintenance of liquidity, which risk is managed by dealing only with highly rated U.S. and Canadian institutions. We maintain our cash and cash
equivalents at accredited financial institutions in amounts that exceed federally insured limits. We do not believe that it is subject to unusual credit risk beyond the normal credit risk associated with commercial
banking relationships.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market rates. Our exposure to interest rate risk as of March 31, 2025 was as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents Short-term fixed interest rate

Our capacity to reinvest the short-term amounts with equivalent return will be impacted by variations in short-term fixed interest rates available on the market. Management believes the risk we will realize a loss as
a result of the decline in the fair value of our short-term investments is limited because these investments have short-term maturities and are held to maturity.

Our contractual obligations related to financial instruments and other obligations and liquidity resources are presented in the liquidity and capital resources of this MD&A.
We expect to incur significant expenses and continued operating losses for the foreseeable future. We expect our expenses will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we
advance clinical development for our drug candidates in our pipeline; continue to engage contract manufacturing organizations to manufacture our clinical study materials and to ultimately develop large-scale

manufacturing capabilities in preparation for commercial launch; seek regulatory approval for our drug candidates; and add personnel to support our drug product development and future drug product launch and
commercialization.
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‘We expect to have sufficient cash resources to satisfy our objectives into the third calendar quarter of 2026, which is 13 months from the issuance date of the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We require additional capital to fund our daily operating needs beyond that time. We plan to raise additional capital prior to that time in order to maintain adequate liquidity.
Negative results from studies, if any, and depressed prices of our common stock could impact our ability to raise additional financing. Raising additional equity capital is subject to market conditions not within our
control. If we do not raise additional funds in this time period, we may not be able to realize our assets and discharge our liabilities in the normal course of business.

Recent Ac ing Pr

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-07"). The ASU includes enhanced disclosure requirements, primarily related to significant
segment expenses that are regularly provided to and used by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The amendments are to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. Our adoption of
the requirements of ASU 2023-07 at March 31, 2025 did not result in a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

We have considered recent accounting pronouncements and concluded that they are either not applicable to our business or that the effect is not expected to be material to our consolidated financial statements as a
result of future adoption.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide this information.

Item 8. Fi ial S ts and Suppl tary Data

See our consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Cl in and Disagr ts with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and principal financial officer (“PFO”), has performed an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures within the meaning of Rules 13a-15 (e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Based upon this evaluation, our management has concluded that,
as of March 31, 2025, our existing disclosure controls and procedures were effective. It should be noted that while the CEO and PFO believe that our disclosure controls and procedures provide a reasonable level of
assurance that they are effective, they do not expect the disclosure controls and procedures to be capable of preventing all errors and fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Our management, with the participation of our CEO and PFO, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of our consolidated financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective may not prevent or detect misstatements and can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Our management conducted an assessment of the design and operation effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2025. In making this
assessment, we used the criteria established within the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Based on this
assessment, our management has concluded that, as of March 31, 2025, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes were made to our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2025 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal controls over financial reporting.

We are a non-accelerated filer under the Exchange Act and not required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Therefore, this Annual Report on
Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding our management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

(b) During the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2025, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as each term is defined in
Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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PART III
Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Code of Conduct and Ethics
The Board has adopted a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors, Officers and Employees (the “Code of Conduct™) within the meaning of Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K. This Code of Conduct
applies to our directors, officers and employees. A current copy of the Code of Conduct is posted on the Governance Documents section of the Investors page of our website, which is located at www.gracetx.com.
We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding any substantive amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of Conduct by posting such information on the website

address and location specified above.

The additional information required by this Item will be set forth under the sections entitled “Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance” and “Executive Officers” in our 2025 Proxy
Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of March 31, 2025 and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item will be set forth under the sections entitled “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in our 2025 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of
March 31, 2025 and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information required by this Item will be set forth under the sections entitled “Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans” and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in our 2025 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of March 31, 2025 and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item will be set forth under the sections entitled “Transactions with Related Persons and Indemnification” and “Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance” in our 2025 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of March 31, 2025 and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 14.Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item will be set forth under the section entitled “Proposal No. 3 - Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our 2025 Proxy Statement to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days of March 31, 2025 and is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements—The consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules—All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or required, or the information required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a)(3) Exhibits—The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in paragraph (b) below.

(b) Exhibits—The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index below are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC.

EXHIBITS INDEX

Exhibit Description

No.

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of May 7, 2021 among Acasti Pharma Inc., Acasti Pharma U.S., Inc. and Grace Therapeutics Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 7, 2024)

32 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by refence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 28, 2024)

33 Bylaws of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by refence to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2024)

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 7, 2024)

4.2% Description of Securities

4.3 Form of Common Warrant, dated September 25, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 26, 2023)

4.4 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant, dated September 25, 2023 (incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 26, 2023),
4.5 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant, dated February 11, 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 10, 2025)

4.6 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Warrants or Pre-Funded Warrants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

February 10, 2025)

10.1+ Acasti Pharma Inc. Stock Option Plan, as amended August 4, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Schedule A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC
on August 31, 2022)

10.2+ Form of Stock Option Agreement for Employees under the Acasti Pharma Inc. Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

10.3+ Form of Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors under the Acasti Pharma Inc. Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 11, 2023)

65



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000117184321003288/exh_21.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000117184321003288/exh_21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000117184321003288/exh_21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036124042968/ef20036564_ex3-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036124044363/ef20037633_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036124044363/ef20037633_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036124044363/ef20037633_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036124042968/ef20036564_ex4-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023049796/acst-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023049796/acst-ex4_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017022017938/acasti_def14a_2022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017022017938/acasti_def14a_2022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023041595/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023041595/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023041595/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023041595/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023041595/acst-ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023041595/acst-ex10_2.htm
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10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10*+

10.11*+

10.12%+

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18*+

16.1

19.1*

21.1*

23.1*

31.1%

)il 2

2025)

Form of 2024 Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement under the Grace Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 13, 2025)

Form of 2024 Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the Grace Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 13, 2025)

Offer Letter by and between Robert J. DelAversano and the Company, dated November 21, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on January 8, 2024)

Letter Agreement by and between Prashant Kohli and the Company, dated August 12, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on August 16, 2024)

Employment Agreement by and between Amresh Kumar and the Company, dated May 8, 2023

Form of Placement Agent Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 10, 2025)

Form of Non-Placement Agent Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 10,
2025),

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)_or 15d-14(a)_of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017022017938/acasti_def14a_2022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017022017938/acasti_def14a_2022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017022017938/acasti_def14a_2022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125004153/ef20039004_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125004153/ef20039004_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125004153/ef20039004_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125004153/ef20039004_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125004153/ef20039004_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125004153/ef20039004_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024002689/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024002689/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024002689/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024002689/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024098049/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024098049/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024098049/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017024098049/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex10-10.htm#null
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex10-11.htm#null
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex10-12.htm#null
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023054637/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023054637/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023049796/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023049796/acst-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000114036125003645/ef20043150_ex10-3.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex10-18.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023070574/acst-ex16_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1444192/000095017023070574/acst-ex16_1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex19-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex19-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex21-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex23-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex31-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/gracetx/sec/0001140361-25-023259/for_pdf/ef20047573_ex31-2.htm
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32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2% Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
97.1* Grace Therapeutics, Inc. Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy,

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed or furnished herewith.
+ Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16.Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: June 23, 2025
GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ Prashant Kohli

Name:  Prashant Kohli
Title: Chief Executive Officer and
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Prashant Kohli Chief Executive Officer June 23, 2025
Prashant Kohli (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Robert DelAversano Principal Financial Officer June 23, 2025
Robert DelAversano (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Brian Davis Director June 23, 2025

Brian Davis

/s/ Vimal Kavuru Director June 23, 2025
Vimal Kavuru

/s/ Edward Neugeboren Director June 23, 2025
Edward Neugeboren
/s/ George Kottayil Director June 23, 2025
George Kottayil
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Grace Therapeutics, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiary (the Company) as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, the related consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of
our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial si s that was co icated or required to be communicated to the audit

committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Going concern analysis

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations in each period since its inception. As of March 31, 2025, the
Company had an accumulated deficit of $220.7 million. To date, the Company has financed its operations primarily through public offerings and private placements of its common equity, warrants and convertible
debt and the proceeds from research tax credits. The Company believes its existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to sustain planned operations through at least one year from the issuance of the
consolidated financial statements. Until such time that the Company can generate significant revenue from drug product sales, if ever, it will require additional financing, which is expected to be sourced from a
combination of public or private equity or debt financing or other non-dilutive sources, which may include fees, milestone payments and royalties from collaborations with third parties. Arrangements with
collaborators or others may require the Company to relinquish certain rights related to its technologies or drug candidates. Adequate additional financing may not be available to the Company on acceptable terms,
or at all. The Company s inability to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on its financial condition and its ability to pursue its business strategy. The Company plans to raise additional
capital in order to maintain adequate liquidity.

We identified the assessment of liquidity and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern as a critical audit matter. A high degree of subjective auditor judgment was required to evaluate the Company's
forecasted cash flows used in its liquidity analysis due to uncertainty in certain assumptions used to estimate the cash flows. Specifically, auditor judgment was required to evaluate management’s estimated
expenses associated with its plans to develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialize a certain drug candidate.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated managements assessment and assessed the reasonableness of certain assumptions underlying
managements conclusion. We compared the Company's historical forecasted cash flows to actual results to assess the Company's ability to accurately forecast. We evaluated managements estimated expenses
associated with its plans to develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialize a certain drug candidate by (1) conducting interviews with management to gain an understanding of the Company s strategy,
research and development, commercialization, and selling and marketing activities required to execute their plan, (2) evaluating the consistency of information used in management's analysis with managements
plans for expense and working capital management activities presented to the Board of Directors and other public information disseminated by the Company, and (3) comparing the information used in
management s analysis with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit to evaluate whether it supported or contradicted the conclusions reached by management. We performed sensitivity analyses on forecasted
expenses by evaluating the impact of changes in forecasted expenses on the Company s going concern assessment.

/s/ KPMG LLP
‘We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
June 23, 2025
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GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Formerly ACASTI PHARMA INC.)
Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

(Expressed in thousands except share data) $ $
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 22,133 23,005

Receivables 126 722

Prepaid expenses 453 283
Total current assets 22,712 24,010
Equipment, net 15 24
Intangible assets 41,128 41,128
Goodwill 8,138 8,138
Total assets 71,993 73,300
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:

Trade and other payables 1,930 1,684
Total current liabilities 1,930 1,684
Derivative warrant liabilities 1,141 4,359
Deferred tax liability 2,312 5,514
Total liabilities 5,383 11,557
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 10,000,000 authorized, none issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2025 and 2024 — —

Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 100,000,000 authorized; 13,718,106 and 9,399,404 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2025 and 2024,

respectively 1 1

Additional paid-in capital 293,334 278,899

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6,038) (6,038)

Accumulated deficit (220,687) (211,119)

Total stockholders' equity 66,610 61,743
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 71,993 73,300

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Formerly ACASTI PHARMA INC.)
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(Expressed in thousands, except share and per share data) $ $
Operating expenses
Research and development expenses, net of government assistance 9,511) (4,683)
General and administrative expenses (7,168) (6,684)
Restructuring cost - (1,485)
Loss from operating activities (16,679) (12,852)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (17) (16)
Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities 3,218 (2,728)
Interest and other income, net 711 911
Total other income, net 3,912 (1,833)
Loss before income tax benefit (12,767) (14,685)
Income tax benefit 3,199 1,832
Net loss and total comprehensive loss (9,568) (12,853)
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.79) (1.35)
Weighted-average ber of shares ding 12,087,270 9,529,123

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Formerly ACASTI PHARMA INC.)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Common stock

Accumulated
Additional other Total
paid-in comprehensive Accumulated stockholders'
(Expressed in thousands except share data) Number Amount capital loss deficit equity
$ $ $ $ $
Balance, March 31, 2024 9,399,404 1 278,899 (6,038) (211,119) 61,743
Issuance of common stock upon cashless exercise of pre-
funded warrants 740,457 — — — — —
Net loss — — — — (9,568) (9,568)
Stock-based compensation — — 730 — — 730
Issuance of common stock and warrants through private
placement, net of offering costs 3,252,132 — 13,705 — — 13,705
Issuance of common stock in exercise of pre-funded
warrants 326,113 — — — — —
Balance at March 31, 2025 13,718,106 1 293,334 (6,038) (220,687) 66,610
Common stock
Accumulated
Additional other Total
paid-in comprehensive Accumulated stockholders'
(Expressed in thousands except share data) Number Amount capital loss deficit equity
$ $ $ $ $
Balance, March 31, 2023 7,435,533 1 272,259 (6,038) (198,266) 67,955
Net loss — — — — (12,853) (12,853)
Stock-based compensation — — 913 — — 913
Issuance of common stock and pre-funded warrants
through private placement, net of offering costs 1,951,371 — 5,707 — — 5,707
Issuance of common stock upon the exercise of stock
options 12,500 — 21 — — 21
Balance at March 31, 2024 9,399,404 1 278,899 (6,038) (211,119) 61,743

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Formerly ACASTI PHARMA INC.)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
(Expressed in thousands) $ $
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (9,568) (12,853)
Adjustments:
Depreciation expense 7 11
Gain on sale of equipment — (59)
Loss on disposal 2 39
Stock-based compensation 730 913
Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities (3,218) 2,728
Deferred income tax benefit (3,199) (1,832)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 596 80
Prepaid expenses (170) 315
Trade and other payables (84) (1,652)
Operating lease right of use asset — (23)
Net cash used in operating activities (14,904) (12,333)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Maturity of short-term investments 15 6,569
Purchase of short-term investments (15) (6,554)
Purchase of equipment — 22)
Sale of equipment — 111
Net cash provided by investing activities — 104
Cash flows from financing activities:
Gross proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants from private placement 14,999 7,500
Stock issuance costs (967) (162)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options — 21
Net cash provided by financing activities 14,032 7,359
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (872) (4,870)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 23,005 27,875
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 22,133 23,005
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of:
Cash 830 3,280
Cash equivalents 21,303 19,725
Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities are comprised of:
Issuance costs in accounts payable 327 —
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GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

(Formerly ACASTI PHARMA, INC.)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in thousands except share and per share data)

1. Nature of Operations
General

Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly known as Acasti Pharma Inc.) (“Acasti Delaware” or “the Company”), is a Delaware corporation that, as further described below, previously existed under the laws of the
Province of Québec, Canada (“Acasti Québec”), before changing its jurisdiction on October 1, 2024 to the Province of British Columbia, Canada (“Acasti British Columbia”). On October 7, 2024, Acasti British
Columbia changed its jurisdiction to the State of Delaware. Effective October 28, 2024, the Company changed its corporate name to Grace Therapeutics, Inc.

Continuance and Domestication

On October 1, 2024, Acasti Québec changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Province of Québec in Canada to the Province of British Columbia in Canada pursuant to a “continuance” effected in
accordance with Chapter XII of the Business Corporations Act (Québec) (the “Continuance”). Subsequently on October 7, 2024 (the “Effective Date™), Acasti British Columbia changed its jurisdiction of
incorporation from the Province of British Columbia in Canada to the State of Delaware in the United States of America pursuant to a “continuance” effected in accordance with Section 308 of the Business
Corporations Act (British Columbia) and a “domestication” (the “Domestication”) under Section 388 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. Both the Continuance and the Domestication were
approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Company’s Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders held on September 30, 2024.

Prior to the Continuance and Domestication, the Company’s Class A common shares, without par value per share (“Common Shares”), were listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol
“ACST.” Upon the effectiveness of the Continuance, each outstanding Class A common share of Acasti Québec at the time of the Continuance remained issued and outstanding as a common share, without par value
per share, of Acasti British Columbia. Upon effectiveness of the Domestication, each outstanding common share of Acasti British Columbia at the time of the Domestication automatically became one outstanding
share of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of Acasti Delaware (“Common Stock™). The Common Stock continues to be listed for trading on Nasdaq and in connection with its corporate name change to
Grace Therapeutics, Inc., commenced trading under the symbol “GRCE” on October 28, 2024.

The Continuance and Domestication has been accounted for as an exchange of equity interest among entities under common control resulting in a change in reporting entity, and has been retroactively reflected in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. All assets and liabilities of Acasti British Columbia were deemed assumed by the Company at the Effective Date, resulting in the retention of
the historical basis of accounting as if they had always been combined for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Any excess resulting from the automatic conversion of each outstanding Common Share of
Acasti British Columbia into one outstanding share of Common Stock of Acasti Delaware, is presented as Additional Paid-in Capital in the equity section of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto. All per share amounts for all periods presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the effect of the
change in par value.

Liquidity and Financial Condition

The Company has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations in each period since its inception. The Company expects to incur significant expenses and continued operating losses for the
foreseeable future.
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In May 2023, the Company implemented a strategic realignment plan to enhance shareholder value that resulted in the Company engaging a new management team, streamlining its research and development
activities, and greatly reducing its workforce. Following the realignment, the Company is a smaller, more focused organization, based in the United States, and concentrated on its development of its lead product
candidate GTx-104. Further development of GTx-102 and GTx-101 will occur at such a time when the Company is able to secure additional funding or enters into strategic partnerships for license or sale with third
parties.

In February 2025, the Company completed a private placement of Company securities with certain institutional and accredited investors. Net proceeds to the Company were $13,705. Refer to Note 8, 2025 Private
Placement, for additional information.

The Company plans to use its current cash to further the regulatory review process for GTx-104, pre-commercial planning, commercial team buildout, and product launch if GTx-104 is approved, working capital
and other general corporate purposes. The Company believes its existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to sustain planned operations through at least 12 months from the issuance date of these
consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company will require additional capital to fund its daily operating needs. The Company does not expect to generate revenue from product sales unless and until it successfully completes drug development and
obtains regulatory approval, which is subject to significant uncertainty. To date, the Company has financed its operations primarily through public offerings and private placements of its common equity, warrants
and convertible debt and the proceeds from research tax credits. Until such time that the Company can generate significant revenue from drug product sales, if ever, it will require additional financing, which is
expected to be sourced from a combination of public or private equity or debt financing or other non-dilutive sources, which may include fees, milestone payments and royalties from collaborations with third
parties. Arrangements with collaborators or others may require the Company to relinquish certain rights related to its technologies or drug product candidates. Adequate additional financing may not be available to
the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. The Company’s inability to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on its financial condition and its ability to pursue its business strategy. The
Company plans to raise additional capital in order to maintain adequate liquidity. Negative results from studies or trials, if any, the timing and ability to receive U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval
for marketing our drug candidates or depressed prices of the Company’s stock could impact the Company’s ability to raise additional financing. Raising additional equity capital is subject to market conditions that
are not within the Company’s control. If the Company is unable to raise additional funds, the Company may not be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Company remains subject to risks similar to other development stage companies in the biopharmaceutical industry, including compliance with government regulations, protection of proprietary technology,
dependence on third-party contractors and consultants and potential product liability, among others. Please refer to the risk factors included in Part 1, “Item 1A — Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements of Grace Therapeutics, Inc., which include the accounts of its subsidiary, have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America ("U.S. GAAP"). All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that management may undertake in the future. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Estimates and assumptions include the measurement of stock-based compensation, derivative warrant liabilities, accruals for research and development contracts and contract organization agreements, and valuation
of intangibles and goodwill. Estimates and assumptions are also involved in determining the extent to which research and development expenses qualify for research and development tax credits. The Company
recognizes tax credits once it has reasonable assurance that they will be realized.

Reclassifications

The Company reclassified sales and marketing expenses to general and administrative expenses to conform to the current period reporting classifications. This reclassification did not have an impact on previously
reported results of operations.

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents comprise of highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of 90 days or less. Cash equivalents consist of United States Treasury bills.
Equipment

Equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, including all costs
incurred in bringing the asset to its present location and condition. Gains and losses on disposal of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the equipment.

Depreciation is recognized on a declining basis over the estimated useful lives of equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the
asset. Items of equipment are depreciated from the date that they are available for use or, in respect of assets not yet in service, from the date they are ready for their intended use.

Intangible assets - acquired in-process research and development
In a business combination, the fair value of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) acquired is capitalized and accounted for as indefinite-lived intangible assets, and not amortized until the underlying

project receives regulatory approval, at which point the intangible assets will be accounted for as definite-lived intangible assets and amortized over the remaining useful life or discontinued. If discontinued, the
intangible asset will be written off. Research and development (“R&D”) costs incurred after the acquisition are expensed as incurred.
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Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company reviews the recoverability of its finite long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that it is carrying amount may not be recoverable. The carrying amount is first compared
with the undiscounted cash flows. If the carrying amount is higher than the sum of undiscounted cash flows, then the Company determines the fair value of the underlying asset group. Any impairment loss to be
recognized is measured as the difference by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset group.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived assets are not amortized but are subject to an impairment review annually and more frequently when indicators of impairment exist. An impairment of goodwill could occur if the
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of that reporting unit. An impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets would occur if the fair value of the intangible asset is less than the carrying value.

The Company tests its goodwill for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes it is
more likely than not that fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is performed.

The Company tests indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount. If the
Company concludes it is more likely than not that the fair value is less than it's carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is performed. The Company's annual impairment test is performed in the fourth
quarter of the fiscal year.

Research and development costs

Research and developments expenditures are expensed as incurred. These costs consist of employees’ salaries and benefits related to research and development activities, contractors and consultants that conduct the
Company’s clinical trials, laboratory material and small equipment, clinical trial materials, stock-based compensation expense, and other non-clinical costs and regulatory fees. Advance payments for goods and
services that will be used in future research and development are recognized in prepaids or other assets and are expensed when the services are performed, or the goods are used.

Stock-based compensation

The Company has in place a stock option plan for directors, officers, employees, and consultants of the Company, with grants under the stock option plan approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The plan
provides for the granting of options to purchase Common Stock and the exercise price of each option equals the closing trading price of Common Stock on the day prior to the grant. The Company accounts for
stock-based compensation arrangements in accordance with provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“*ASC”) 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 requires the recognition of
compensation expense, using a fair-value based method, for costs related to all share-based payments including stock options. ASC 718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards
on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The Company measures the cost of such awards based on the fair value of the award at grant date and recognizes stock-based compensation expense in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss on a tranche by tranche basis. The fair value of options is estimated for each tranche of an award that vests on a graded basis. The fair value of options
is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which uses various inputs including fair value of the Common Stock at the grant date, expected term, historical volatility, risk-free interest rate and
expected dividend yields of the Common Stock. The Company applies an estimated forfeiture rate derived from historical employee termination behavior in determining compensation expense. If the actual
forfeitures differ from those estimated by management, adjustment to compensation expense may be required in future periods.
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Government grants

Government grants are recorded as a reduction of the related expenses or costs of the asset acquired. Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has met the
requirements of the approved grant program and there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received.

Leases

At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present in the arrangement. Operating lease liabilities and
their corresponding right-of-use assets are initially recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected remaining lease term. Certain adjustments to the right-of-use asset may be required for
items such as incentives received. The interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As a result, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate to discount lease payments, which
reflects the fixed rate at which the Company could borrow on a collateralized basis the amount of the lease payments in the same currency, for a similar term, in a similar economic environment. The Company has
elected not to recognize leases with an original term of one year or less on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company typically only includes an initial lease term in its assessment of a lease arrangement. Options
to renew a lease are not included in the Company’s assessment unless there is reasonable certainty that the Company will renew. The Company’s lease expense is recognized in research and development expenses.
The Company does not have financing leases.

In accordance with FASB ASC 842—Leases (“Topic 842”), components of a lease should be split into three categories: lease components, non-lease components and non-components. The fixed and in-substance
fixed contract consideration (including any consideration related to non-components) must be allocated based on the respective relative fair values to the lease components and non-lease components. Entities may
elect not to separate lease and non-lease components. The Company has elected to account for lease and non-lease components together as a single lease component for all underlying assets and allocate all of the
contract consideration to the lease component only.

Income taxes

Income taxes comprise of current and deferred taxes. The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts (tax base) of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate expected to apply when the underlying asset or liability is realized (settled) based on the rates that are enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset if the Company has the right to set off the amount owed by with the amount owed by the other party, the Company intends to set off and the offset right is enforceable at law. A deferred tax asset
is recognized for unused tax losses, and tax credits, reduced by a valuation allowance. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets when it is more likely than not

that these assets will not be realized. tax benefits related to tax positions not deemed to meet the “more-likely-than-not” threshold are not permitted to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Additionally, the Company accrues interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The unrecognized tax benefits, including accrued interest and penalties,
if any, are included in income taxes payable in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Earnings per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") data for its Common Stock. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable to the holders of Common Stock by the
weighted average number of Common Stock outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the net income or loss attributable to the holders of Common Stock and the weighted average

number of Common Stock outstanding adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential Common Stock, which comprise warrants and share options granted to employees. The basic and diluted EPS are the same due
to loss position.
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Segment reporting

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07""). The ASU includes enhanced disclosure requirements, primarily related to significant
segment expenses that are regularly provided to and used by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The amendments are to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. As discussed
further in Note 12, the Company’s adoption of the requirements of ASU 2023-07 at March 31, 2025 annual financial reporting did not result in material impact on its consolidated financial statements and
disclosures. Refer to Note 12 for detailed discussions.

Derivative warrant liabilities

Derivative warrant liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative warrant liabilities are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

Fair value measurements
Certain of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial assets and liabilities.
In establishing fair value, the Company uses a fair value hierarchy based on levels as defined below:

L] Level 1: defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets.

L] Level 2: defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable.

. Level 3: defined as inputs that are based on little or no observable market data, therefore requiring entities to develop their own assumptions.

The Company has determined that the carrying values of its short-term financial assets and liabilities (cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables) approximate their fair value given the short-term
nature of these instruments. The Company measured its derivative warrant liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis using level 3 inputs.

Financial Instruments

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are all invested in accordance with the
Company’s Investment Policy with the primary objective being the preservation of capital and the maintenance of liquidity, which risk is managed by dealing only with highly rated U.S. and Canadian institutions.
The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at accredited financial institutions in amounts that exceed federally insured limits. The Company does not believe that it is subject to unusual credit risk beyond

the normal credit risk associated with commercial banking relationships.

Recent ing pr

On November 4, 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40), to improve the disclosures about a public
business entity’s expenses and address requests from investors for more detailed information about the types of expenses (including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, amortization and
depletion) in commonly presented expense captions (such as cost of sales, SG&A and research and development).

ASU 2024-03 applies to all public business entities and is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim reporting periods within annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2027. The requirements will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of adopting this new
guidance on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. The Company does not expect that the adoption of ASU 2024-03 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and
disclosures.

The Company has considered all other recent accounting pronouncements and concluded that they are either not applicable to the Company’s business or that the effect is not expected to be material to the
consolidated financial statements as a result of future adoption.
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3. Fair value measurements

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2025 are as follows:

Quoted Significant
prices in other Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs (Level inputs (Level
Total (Level 1) 2) 3)
$ $ $ $
Assets
Treasury bills classified as cash equivalents 21,304 21,304 — —
Total assets 21,304 21,304 — —
Liabilities
Derivative warrant liabilities 1,141 — — 1,141
Total liabilities 1,141 — — 1,141
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2024 are as follows:
Quoted Significant
prices in other Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs (Level inputs (Level
Total (Level 1) 2) 3)
$ $ $ $
Assets
Guaranteed investment certificates and term deposits classified as cash equivalents 19,725 19,725 — —
Total assets 19,725 19,725 — —
Liabilities
Derivative warrant liabilities 4,359 — — 4,359
Total liabilities 4,359 — — 4,359

There were no changes in valuation techniques or transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024. The Company’s derivative warrant liabilities are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis using unobservable inputs that are classified as Level 3 inputs. Refer to Note 8, Stockholders’ Equity, for the valuation techniques and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the derivative
warrant liabilities.

4. Receivables

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

$ $

Sales tax receivables 106 316
Government assistance — 356
Interest receivable — 15
Other receivables 20 35
Total receivables 126 722

Government assistance is comprised of research and development investment tax credits from the Québec provincial government, which relate to quantifiable research and development expenditures under the
applicable tax laws. The amounts recorded as receivables are subject to a government tax audit and the final amounts received may differ from those recorded.
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5. Equipment

The following is a summary of equipment, net:

Accumulated Net book

March 31, 2025 Cost depreciation Write-off value
$ $ $ $

Furniture and office equipment 2 (1) 1) —
Computer equipment 5 2) 1) 2
Software 19 (6) — 13
26 9) (2) 15

Accumulated Net book

March 31, 2024 Cost depreciation Write-off value
$ $ $

Furniture and office equipment 18 (13) ) 1
Computer equipment 114 (76) (34) 4
Laboratory equipment 571 (519) (52) —
Software 19 0 0 19
722 (608) (90) 24

Depreciation expense was $7 and $11 for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

6. Intangible assets and goodwill

Individual IPR&D projects and goodwill are tested for impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter, and in between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not

reduce the fair value of each technology or our reporting unit below its carrying value. The impairment assessments resulted in the following activity during the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

GTx-104 GTx-102 GTx-101 Total
$ $ $ $

Intangible assets — in-process research and development
Balance, March 31, 2023 27,595 9,196 4,337 41,128
Impairment — — —
Balance, March 31, 2024 27,595 9,196 4,337 41,128
Impairment — — —
Balance, March 31, 2025 27,595 9,196 4,337 41,128
$

Goodwill

Balance, March 31, 2023 8,138
Impairment =
Balance, March 31, 2024 8,138
Impairment =
Balance, March 31, 2025 8,138
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The Company's IPR&D projects, consistent with others in our industry, have risks and uncertainties associated with the timely and successful completion of the development and commercialization of product
candidates, including our ability to confirm safety and efficacy based on data from clinical trials, our ability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals and our ability to successfully complete these tasks within
budgeted costs. It is not permitted to market a human therapeutic without obtaining regulatory approvals, and such approvals require the completion of clinical trials that demonstrate that a product candidate is
safe and effective. In addition, the availability and extent of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payers, including government healthcare programs and private insurance plans as well as competitive
product launches, affect the revenues a product can generate. Consequently, the eventual realized values, if any, of acquired IPR&D projects may vary from their estimated fair values.

7. Trade and other payables

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

$ $

Trade payables 601 1,007
Accrued research and development expenses 565 133
Accrued liabilities and other payables 103 43
Employee salaries and benefits payable 661 501
Total trade and other payables 1,930 1,684

8. Stockholders' equity

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share. No shares of the Company’s preferred stock are issued or outstanding.

Common Stock

In connection with the consummation of the Domestication, on October 7, 2024, the Company adopted a Certificate of Incorporation (as amended, the “Charter”) and Bylaws (as amended, the “Bylaws”). The rights
of holders of the Company’s Common Stock are now governed by the Charter, the Bylaws, and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The Company is authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares
of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

2025 Private Placement

In February 2025, the Company agreed to offer and sell in a private placement (the “2025 Private Placement™) an aggregate of 3,252,132 shares of the Company Common Stock at a purchase price of $3.395 per
share of Common Stock (the “Shares™) and pre-funded warrants (the “2025 Pre-Funded Warrants™) to purchase up to 1,166,160 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price equal to the purchase price per Share

less $0.0001 (the “2025 Pre-Funded Warrant Shares™). Each 2025 Pre-Funded Warrant is exercisable for one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, exercisable immediately and will
expire once exercised in full.
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Pursuant to the 2025 Purchase Agreement, for each Share and each 2025 Pre-Funded Warrant issued, the Company agreed to issue to each purchaser an accompanying common warrant (the “2025 Common
Warrants” and, together with the 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants, the “2025 Warrants”) to purchase shares of Common Stock (or 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants in lieu thereof), exercisable for an aggregate of 4,418,292
shares of Common Stock (or 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants in lieu thereof). Each 2025 Common Warrant is exercisable for one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.395 per share (or one 2025 Pre-Funded
Warrant at an exercise price of $3.3949 per share in lieu thereof), will be immediately exercisable and will expire on the earlier of (i) the 60th day after the date the FDA approves the new drug application (“NDA”)
for GTx-104 and (ii) September 25, 2028. The 2025 Common Warrants were offered and sold at a purchase price of $0.125 per 2025 Common Warrant, which purchase price is included in the offering price per
Share and 2025 Pre-Funded Warrant issued in the 2025 Private Placement.

The 2025 Private Placement included the issuance of Common Stock, 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants, and 2025 Common Warrants to related parties namely (i) Shore Pharma LLC, an entity held in a trust for the
benefit of immediate family members of Vimal Kavuru, the Chair of the Company’s Board of Directors and (ii) ADAR1 Partners, LP, AIGH Investment Partners, LP, and SS Pharma LLC, each a beneficial owner of
more than 5% of the Common Stock prior to the 2025 Private Placement, resulting in proceeds of $5,694 in 2025.

The Company has paid TD Securities (USA) LLC, the placement agent, customary placement fees in its capacity as placement agent for the sale of the Company’s securities to certain of the investors in the 2025
Private Placement.

The 2025 Private Placement closed on February 11, 2025 (the “Closing Date”). The net proceeds to the Company were $13,705, after deducting fees and expenses.

Both 2025 Pre-funded Warrants and 2025 Common Warrants are presented under additional paid-in capital in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2025.
During the twelve months period March 31, 2025, 24,742 of the 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised into 24,742 shares of Common Stock.

2023 Private Placement

In September 2023, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with certain institutional and accredited investors in connection with the 2023 Private Placement. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the
Company offered and sold 1,951,371 Common Shares, at a purchase price of $1.848 per Common Share and 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants to purchase up to 2,106,853 Common Shares at a purchase price equal to the
purchase price per Common Share less $0.0001. Each 2023 Pre-Funded Warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.0001 per Common Share, is immediately exercisable, and will expire
once exercised in full. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company also issued, to such institutional and accredited investors, 2023 Common Warrants to purchase Common Shares exercisable for an
aggregate of 2,536,391 Common Shares. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, for each Common Share and each 2023 Pre-funded Warrant issued in the 2023 Private Placement, an accompanying five-
eighths (0.625) of a 2023 Common Warrant was issued to the purchaser thereof. Each whole 2023 Common Warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at an exercise price of $3.003 per Common Share, is

immediately exercisable, and will expire on the earlier of (i) the 60th day after the date of the acceptance by the FDA of an NDA for the Company’s product candidate GTx-104 and (ii) five years from the date of
issuance. The 2023 Private Placement closed on September 25, 2023. The net proceeds to the Company from the 2023 Private Placement were $7,338, after deducting fees and expenses.

The 2023 Private Placement included the issuance of Common Shares, 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants, and 2023 Common Warrants to related parties namely (i) Shore Pharma LLC, an entity that was controlled by

Vimal Kavuru, the Chair of the Company’s Board of Directors, at the time of the 2023 Private Placement and (ii) SS Pharma LLC, the beneficial owner of 5.5% of Common Shares outstanding prior to the 2023
Private Placement, resulting in proceeds of $2,500 in 2023. As of March 31, 2025 and 2024, the balance of derivative warrant liabilities from related parties was $ 952 and $1,453, respectively.
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During the twelve months period March 31, 2025, 1,041,851 of the 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised into 1,041,828 Common Shares or Common Stock, as applicable. There were no 2023 Common
Warrants exercised during the twelve months ended March 31, 2024.

‘Warrants

As further discussed above, on September 25, 2023, the Company issued the 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants and the 2023 Common Warrants exercisable for 4,643,244 Common Shares in the 2023 Private Placement
pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement entered into with certain institutional and accredited investors.

The 2023 Common Warrants issued as a part of the 2023 Private Placement are derivative warrant liabilities given the 2023 Common Warrants did not meet the fixed-to-fixed criteria and that the 2023 Common
Warrants are not indexed to the Company’s own stock. Proceeds were allocated amongst Common Shares, 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants, and 2023 Common Warrants by applying the residual method, with fair value
of the 2023 Common Warrants determined using the Black-Scholes model, resulting in initial derivative warrant liabilities of $1,631 and issuance costs of $45 allocated to 2023 Common Warrants. Accordingly,
$2,822 and $3,047 of the gross proceeds were allocated to the Common Shares and the 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants, respectively, and $78 and $84 of issuance costs were allocated to the Common Shares and the
2023 Pre-Funded Warrants, respectively.

The derivative warrant liabilities are measured at fair value at each reporting period and the reconciliation of changes in fair value is presented in the following table:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024

$ $
Beginning balance 4,359 —
Issued during the year — 1,631
Change in fair value 3,218 2,728
Ending balance 1,141 4,359

The warrant liability was determined based on the fair value of warrants at the issue date and the reporting dates using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions will expire on the
earlier of (i) the 60th day after the date of the acceptance by the FDA of a NDA for the Company's product candidate GTx-104 and (ii) five years from the date on issuance.

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Risk-free interest rate 4.18% 4.69%
Share price $ 2.28 $ 343
Expected warrant life 1.14 2.03
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected volatility 74.26% 85.94%

The weighted-average fair values of the 2023 Common Warrants were determined to be $0.45 and $1.72 per 2023 Common Warrant as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The risk-free interest rate at the
issue date and on the reporting date of March 31, 2025 was based on the interest rate corresponding to the U.S. Treasury rate issue with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the 2023 Common Warrants.
The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility for the Company.

At March 31, 2025, the Company had outstanding 2023 Common Warrants to purchase 2,536,391 shares of Common Stock, with an exercise price of $3.003, all of which were classified as derivative warrant
liabilities. At March 31, 2025, the Company had outstanding 2023 Pre-funded Warrants to purchase 1,065,002 shares of Common Stock, with an exercise price of $0.0001, all of which were classified within
stockholders’ equity.

At March 31, 2025, the Company had outstanding 2025 Common Warrants to purchase 4,418,292 shares of Common Stock, with an exercise price of $3.395, all of which were classified within stockholders’ equity.

At March 31, 2025, the Company had outstanding 2025 Pre-funded Warrants to purchase 1,141,418 shares of Common Stock, with an exercise price of $0.0001, all of which were classified within stockholders’
equity.
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In connection with the Continuance and the Domestication, the Company continues its obligations under the Purchase Agreement and the 2023 Warrants. At effectiveness of the Continuance, each outstanding 2023
Warrant exercisable for Common Shares remained exercisable for an equivalent number of common shares of Acasti British Columbia for the equivalent exercise price per share without any action by the holder. At
effectiveness of the Domestication, each outstanding warrant exercisable for common shares of Acasti British Columbia remained exercisable for an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock for the equivalent
exercise price per share without any action by the holder.

9. Stock-based compensation
2024 Equity Incentive Plan

At the Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders on September 30, 2024, the Company’s shareholders approved the Grace Therapeutics, Inc. 2024 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2024 Plan”) which became effective
on the date of the Domestication. The 2024 Plan replaced the Acasti Pharma Inc. Stock Option Plan and the Acasti Pharma Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the “Prior Plans™). The 2024 Plan provides for the grant of
awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock units, unrestricted stock, dividend equivalent rights, performance-based awards and other equity-based awards
to eligible persons as defined under the 2024 Plan. Any of these awards may, but need not, be made as performance incentives to reward the holders of such awards for the achievement of performance goals in
accordance with the terms of the 2024 Plan. Stock options granted under the 2024 Plan may be non-qualified stock options or incentive stock options, as provided in the 2024 Plan.

In connection with the Continuance and the Domestication, the Company continues its obligations under the Prior Plans and all of the outstanding equity awards under the Prior Plans. Upon effectiveness of the
Continuance, each outstanding option exercisable for and restricted share unit settleable into Common Shares remained exercisable for or able to be settled into, as applicable, an equivalent number of common
shares of Acasti British Columbia for the equivalent exercise price per share (if applicable), without any action by the holder. Upon effectiveness of the Domestication, each outstanding option exercisable for and
restricted share unit settleable into common shares of Acasti British Columbia remained exercisable for or able to be settled into, as applicable, an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock for the equivalent
exercise price per share (if applicable), without any action by the holder.

Following the Effective Date of the 2024 Plan, no awards shall be made under the Prior Plans. However, Common Shares reserved under the Prior Plans to settle awards which were made under the Prior Plans may
be issued and delivered following the Effective Date to settle such awards.

The 2024 Plan is administered by a committee designated from time to time, by resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors. The committee will also be responsible for determining, among others, the key terms
of the awards including their grant dates, pricing, basis for fair value determination, vesting terms, restrictions, and terminations. The Board has designated its Compensation Committee to administer the 2024 Plan.
The 2024 Plan authorizes a total of 1,350,000 shares of Common Stock available for issuance As of March 31, 2025, there were 1,335,000 shares available for issuance under the 2024 Plan.

The 2024 Plan will terminate automatically ten years after the Effective Date and may be terminated on any earlier date as provided by the 2024 Plan.
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The following table summarizes information about activities within the 2024 Plan and Prior Plans for the year ended March 31, 2025:

Weighted-average

Number Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
of Weighted-average Contractual Term Value (in
options exercise price (years) thousands)
$
Outstanding, March 31, 2024 721,793 3.68 9.08 527
Granted 213,130 2.98
Outstanding, March 31, 2025 934,923 3.52 8.26 24
Exercisable, March 31, 2025 586,478 3.96 8.08 20

The weighted-average grant date fair value of awards for options granted during the year ended March 31, 2025 was $2.53. The fair value of options granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, resulting in the following weighted-average assumptions for the options granted:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Weighted- Weighted-
average average
Exercise price $ 2.98 $ 2.50
Share price $ 2.98 $ 2.50
Dividend — —
Risk-free interest 4.42% 3.95%
Estimated life (years) 5.81 5.62
Expected volatility 114.19% 117.94%
Compensation expense recognized under the 2024 Plan is summarized as follows:
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
$ $
Research and development expenses 216 198
General and administrative expenses 514 715
730 913

As of March 31, 2025, there was $302 of total unrecognized compensation cost, related to non-vested stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of 1.27
years.

10. Loss per share

The Company has generated a net loss for all periods presented. Therefore, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share since the inclusion of potentially dilutive securities would have had an anti-
dilutive effect. All currently outstanding options and warrants could potentially be dilutive in the future.

The Company excluded the following potential Common Stock, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to stockholders for the
periods indicated because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Options outstanding 934,923 721,793
2023 Common Warrants 2,536,391 2,536,391
2025 Common Warrants 4,418,292 —

Basic and diluted net loss per share is calculated based upon the weighted-average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the year. Common Stock underlying the 2025 Pre-Funded Warrants and
2023 Pre-Funded Warrants are included in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share.
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11. Income taxes

Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the financial statements and consist of taxes currently due. Deferred taxes relate to differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for
financial and income tax reporting which will be either taxable or deductible when the assets or liabilities are recovered or settled.

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

Current Provision
Federal
State

Total Current Provision

Deferred Provision
Federal
State

Total Deferred Provision

Total Provision for Income Taxes

March 31, 2025

March 31, 2024

$ S

— 2

3 J—

3 2
(2,392) (1,834)
(810) —
(3,202) (1,834)
(3,199) (1,832)

For the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the income/(loss) before income taxes was $ (12,767) and ($14,685), respectively. The Company had an effective tax rate of 25.06% and 12.47% for the years ended

March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

U.S. statutory rate

State taxes, net of federal

Difference in foreign tax rates

Return to provision

Change in valuation allowance

Change in tax rates

Non-deductible stock-based compensation
Non-deductible transaction costs

Tax credits

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities
Other permanent differences

Total tax (benefit) expense

For the year ended
March 31, 2025 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2024
$ $

(2,681) 21.00% (3,084) 21.00%
(770) 6.03% (341) 2.32%
(105) 0.82% (543) 3.69%
(1) 0.00% — 0.00%

2,347 (18.39)% 1,635 (11.13)%
— 0.00% (486) 3.31%

— 0.00% 242 (1.65)%

— 0.00% 723 (4.92)%
(1,583) 12.40% — 0.00%
(876) 6.86% — 0.00%

468 (3.67)% 23 (0.16)%
(3,199) 25.06% (1,832) 12.47%
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The rate reconciliation was previously presented using the Canadian statutory tax rate. However, following the Company's redomiciliation from Canada to the U.S. during the year, the reconciliation now reflects the
U.S. statutory tax rate. For consistency and comparison, the rate reconciliation for the year ended March 31, 2024, has been recalculated based on the U.S. statutory tax rate.

The table below presents the effects of temporary differences that gave rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2025 and 2024:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
$ $
Deferred income tax assets
Tax losses carried forward 43,049 40,659
Research and development expenses 10,928 8,522
Property, plant and equipment = 523
Intangible assets 206 328
Financing expenses = 169
Net federal investment tax credits 2,882 2,882
Other accruals and other 131 56
Orphan drug credit 1,583 —
Total deferred income tax assets 58,779 53,139
Valuation allowance (49,530) (47,284)
Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance 9,249 5,855
Deferred income tax liabilities
Intangible assets (11,561) (11,369)
Total deferred tax liabilities (11,561) (11,369)
Net deferred tax liabilities (2,312) (5,514)

The Company has U.S. Federal and State net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $18,621 and $18,621 and Canadian Federal and Quebec NOLs of $143,346 and $141,851, respectively, as of
March 31, 2025. The Company’s U.S. Federal NOLs, generated after December 31, 2017, are available for indefinite carryforward; however, their utilization is limited to 80% of taxable income. State NOLs are
subject to a 20-year carryforward period, with expirations beginning in 2038. The Company also has orphan drug tax credit totaling $1,583, which may be carried forward for 20 years and are set to begin expiring
in 2045. Canadian and Quebec NOLSs are scheduled to begin expiring in 2028, while scientific research and experimental development expenditures investment tax credit totaling $3,922 are set to begin expiring in
2029. Additionally, the Company has research and development expenses of $25,708 in Canada and $27,887 in Quebec, both of which are available for indefinite carryforward.

The utilization of the Company’s NOLs and research tax credit carryovers could be subject to annual limitations under Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and
similar state tax provisions, due to ownership change limitations that may have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes limit the amount of NOLs and other deferred tax assets
that can be utilized to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an ownership change, as defined by Section 382 and 383 of the Code, results from transactions increasing ownership of certain
stockholders or public groups in the stock of the corporation by more than 50 percent points over a three-year period. The Company has not completed an analysis of an ownership change under Section 382 of the
Code. To the extent that a study is completed and an ownership change is deemed to occur, the Company’s NOLs and tax credits could be limited.

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of
deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on consideration of these items, management has determined that enough uncertainty
exists relative to the realization of the deferred income tax asset balances to warrant the application of a partial valuation allowance as of March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024.

As a result of changes made by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, that became effective as of January 1, 2022, the Company is required to capitalize for tax purposes certain research and development expenses,
and amortize domestic expenses over a 5-year period and foreign expenses over a 15-year period, resulting in a deferred tax asset for the capitalized amounts.

In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, specifically related to uncertain tax positions, a company is required to use a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition
and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities.
The Company believes its income tax filing positions and deductions will be sustained upon examination, and accordingly, no reserves or related accruals for interest and penalties have been recorded as of March
31,2025.

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States at both the federal level and within the state jurisdictions of New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and California. The Company is not currently under examination by
any tax authority. The statute of limitations remains open for each tax year to the extent of the net operating losses generated in that year.

Government assistance
Government assistance is comprised of research and development investment tax credits receivable from the Quebec provincial government which relate to qualifiable research and development expenditures under

the applicable tax laws. The amounts recorded as receivables are subject to a government tax audit and the final amounts received may differ from those recorded. For the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, the
Company recorded ($0) and ($55), respectively, as a reduction of research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

March 31, March 31,

2025 2024

$ $

Investment tax credit — 356
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12. Segment Information
An operating segment is a component of an entity whose operating results are regularly reviewed by its chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment

and assess its performance. Factors used by the Company in determining the reportable segment include the nature of the Company's operating activities, the organizational and reporting structure and the type of
information reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources and evaluate financial performance.

The Company has one reportable operating segment: the development and commercialization of pharmaceutical applications of its patents and licensed rights. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive
Officer. The accounting policies of the segment are those described in the summary of significant accounting policies within Note 2.

The CODM assesses the performance of the segment based on net loss, which is reported on the income statement as consolidated net loss. The measure of segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance
sheet as total consolidated assets.

The Company has not generated any revenue and expects to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses as it advances product candidates through all stages of development, and ultimately, receive
regulatory approval. Accordingly, the CODM utilizes the cash budget and forecasts in assessing the entity-wide operating results and performance, and in deciding how to allocate resources across the organization

and its segment. Net loss is used to monitor budgets against actual results, which then is used in assessing the performance of the segment.

The table below summarizes the significant expenses, by category regularly review by the CODM, for the years ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
$ $

Clinical development programs (8,164) (3,167)
Professional fees (3,707) (3,475)
Salaries and benefits (2,840) (2,028)
Stock-based compensation (730) 913)
Government grants & tax credits — (55)
Other general and administrative expenses (1) (1,238) (1,729)
Other segment income (expense) (2) 3,184 (2,708)
Interest income, net 728 875
Restructuring costs — (1,485)
Income tax benefit 3,199 1,832
Segment and consolidated net loss (9,568) (12,853)

1) Other general and administrative expenses include depreciation and loss on disposal, travel, and other administrative costs.
2) Other segment income includes change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities, and foreign exchange (loss)/gain.
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13. Commitments and contingencies
Research and development contracts and contract research organizations agreements

The Company utilizes contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”) for the development and production of clinical materials and contract research organizations (“CROs”) to perform services related to its
clinical trials. Pursuant to the agreements with these CMOs and CROs, the Company has either the right to terminate the agreements without penalties or under certain penalty conditions. As of March 31, 2025, the
Company has $300 of commitments to CMOs and $110 of commitments to CROs for the next twelve months.

Legal proceedings and disputes

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is at times subject to various legal proceedings and disputes. The Company assesses its liabilities and contingencies in connection with outstanding legal proceedings
utilizing the latest information available. Where it is probable that the Company will incur a loss and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company records a liability in its consolidated financial
statements. These legal contingencies may be adjusted to reflect any relevant developments on a quarterly basis. Where a loss is not probable or the amount of loss is not estimable, the Company does not accrue
legal contingencies. While the outcome of legal proceedings is inherently uncertain, based on information currently available, management believes that it has established appropriate legal reserves. No reserves or
liabilities have been accrued as at March 31, 2025.

14. Restructuring Costs

On May 8, 2023, the Company communicated its decision to terminate a substantial amount of its workforce as part of a plan that intended to align the Company’s organizational and management cost structure to
prioritize resources to GTx-104, thereby reducing losses to improve cash flow and extend available cash resources. During the twelve months ended March 31, 2024, the Company incurred $1,485 in costs primarily
consisting of employee severance costs and legal fees. There was no restructuring costs incurred during the year ended March 31, 2025.
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As of the date of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit forms a part, the only class of securities of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (“we,” “us” and “our”,

registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), is our common stock, 30.0001 par value per share.

The following description of our common stock summarizes provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (““Certificate of Incorporation”), our Bylaws
(“Bylaws”) and the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”). For a complete description, refer to our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws, which are
incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part, and to the applicable provisions of the DGCL.

General
We are authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

The holders of our common stock have no preemptive or other subscription rights, and there are no conversion rights or redemption or sinking fund provisions with
respect to such shares of common stock. All of the outstanding shares of our common stock are, and the shares of our common stock when issued will be, fully paid and
nonassessable.

Voting. Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock on all matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally;
provided, however, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of our common stock are not entitled to vote on any amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation that
relates solely to the terms, number of shares, powers, designations, preferences or relative, participating, optional or other special rights, or to the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof, of one or more outstanding series of preferred stock if the holders of one or more series of preferred stock are entitled, either separately or together with the
holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation or pursuant to the DGCL. The Bylaws provide that except as otherwise
provided by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws or the rules of any stock exchange upon which our securities are listed, the presence, in person or by
proxy, of the holders of one third of the voting power of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote at the meeting constitutes a quorum.

Dividends. Our Board of Directors (“Board”), in its sole discretion, may declare and pay dividends on our common stock, payable in cash or other consideration, out of
funds legally available, if all dividends due on the preferred stock have been declared and paid. We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not expect to
pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

Liquidation, Subdivision, or Combination. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of us or upon the distribution of our assets, all assets and funds
remaining after payment in full of our debts and liabilities, and after the payment to holders of any then outstanding preferred stock of the full preferential amounts to which
they were entitled, would be divided and distributed among holders of the common stock.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We have not opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder
for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, with certain exceptions.



Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Because our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights, stockholders holding a plurality of the shares of common stock outstanding are able to elect all of our
directors. The Certificate of Incorporation provides that directors may be removed by the stockholders at any time with or without cause upon the vote of a majority of the
shares then entitled to vote. Furthermore, the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our Board, and vacancies and newly created directorships on
our Board may, except as otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, only be filled by a majority vote of the directors then serving on our Board, even though
less than a quorum.

The Bylaws also provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or any other
business to be properly brought at a meeting of stockholders must provide timely advance notice in writing and specify requirements as to the form and content of a
stockholder’s notice.

The Certificate of Incorporation provides our Board the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one
or more series, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may designate, including the right to approve an acquisition or other change in control.

The combination of these provisions makes it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our Board as well as for another party to obtain control of us by
replacing our Board. Since our Board has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult for existing stockholders or another
party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization of undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our Board to issue preferred stock with voting or
other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of us.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our Board and its policies and to discourage coercive takeover
practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to hostile takeovers and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in
proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our common stock and may have the effect of delaying
changes in our control or management. As a consequence, these provisions may also inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that could result from actual or
rumored takeover attempts. We believe that the benefits of these provisions, including increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an
unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure our company, outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover proposals, because negotiation of takeover
proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Choice of Forum

Our Bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for any claim or counterclaim, including
without limitation (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former
director, officer or other employee, or stockholder of ours to the us or the our stockholders, creditors or other constituents, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us or any
current or former director, officer, employee or stockholder of ours arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws (as either
may be amended and/or restated from time to time) or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any action asserting
a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, shall be a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware, in all cases subject to the court having personal
jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a
stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously
assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our Bylaws. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in
other jurisdictions and there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions.



These exclusive forum provisions may result in increased costs for investors to bring a claim. Further, these exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our
directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find the exclusive forum provision in our Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur
further significant additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, all of which could harm our business.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The transfer agent’s address is 150 Royall Street, Canton, Massachusetts
02021, and its telephone number is (781) 575-2000.

Listing

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the trading symbol “GRCE.”




May 3, 2023 (revised on May 11, 2023)

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
DELIVERED BY EMAIL

Amresh Kumar

Dear Amresh:

Exhibit 10.10

acasti

We are pleased to extend the following offer of employment with Acasti Pharma Inc. (“Acasti”):

Title:

Reporting to:

Base Salary:

Annual Bonus:

Stock Option:

Benefits:

Vacation:

Start Date:

Vice President, Program Management

Prashant Kohli, Chief Executive Officer

Annualized base salary of $275,000, less applicable deductions and withholdings.

You will be eligible to earn an annual discretionary bonus of up to 30 % of your base salary as determined by Acasti in its
sole discretion. The bonus, if any, for a given year will be paid following the completion of such year. You must remain
employed with Acasti throughout the year for which the bonus is paid, and up to and including the bonus payment date.

Subject to approval by the board of directors of the Company, you will be granted pursuant to Acasti’s equity incentive
plan (the “Plan”), an option to purchase common shares in the capital of Acasti (the “Option”), with a price per share
equal to the fair market value of a common share, as determined by the board of directors at the time of grant. The grant
of the Option to you shall be conditional upon: (a) your continued employment with Acasti at the time of grant; (b) you
entering into an option agreement with Acasti (the “Option Agreement”); and (c) any other terms and conditions set forth
in the Plan, your Option Agreement and as may be determined by the board of directors in its sole discretion at the time
of grant.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable benefit plans and policies, you will be eligible to participate in such
group benefit plans as Acasti may make available in its sole discretion.

You will accrue vacation at the rate of 3 weeks per year. Vacation entitlement, including treatment of unused vacation
time, will be in accordance with Acasti’s vacation policy as in effect from time to time.

May 15, 2023
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As a condition of employment with Acasti Pharma, you will be required to read, sign and return a copy of the enclosed Confidentiality of Information and Ownership of
Proprietary Property Agreement. On your first day of employment, you will be required to provide original documents from the enclosed List of Acceptable Documents (I-9)
which prove your identity and right to work in the United States.

The Company is hiring you as an at-will employee, which means that you have the right to terminate your employment with Acasti at any time, for any reason, with or without
notice. Similarly, Acasti has the right to terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, with or without notice. Any contrary representations, which may
have been made to you, are superseded by this offer. Any modifications to this “at-will” term of your employment must be in writing and signed by you and Acasti’s CEO.

This offer expires five business days from the date of this letter. Please indicate your acceptance of our offer by signing and returning a copy of this letter to me as soon as
possible.

On behalf of Acasti, we look forward to having you join us as we work together to advance science in support of better patient outcomes and to create value for the employees
and shareholders of Acasti.

Sincerely,
/s/ Prashant Kohli

Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer

I have read, understand and accept these terms and conditions of employment. I further understand that while my salary, benefits, job title and job duties may change from time
to time without a written modification of this agreement, the at-will term of my employment is a term of employment which cannot be altered or modified except in writing,
signed by me and Acasti’s CEO. By accepting this offer, I confirm that I am able to accept this job and carry out the work involved without breaching any legal restrictions on

my activities, such as restrictions imposed by a current or former employer.
Date

/s/ Amresh Kumar
11-May-2023
Signature Date
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SCHEDULE A
CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION AND OWNERSHIP
OF PROPRIETARY PROPERTY AGREEMENT

THIS CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION AND OWNERSHIP OF PROPRIETARY PROPERTY AGREEMENT is entered into as of the date set out below
and is between Acasti Pharma Inc. (the “Company”) and Amresh Kumar (the “Worker”).

BACKGROUND:

A. The Company may give, has given and will give the Worker access to proprietary or confidential information of the Company and its affiliates and subsidiaries (if
any) (the “Company Group”), including information that, by its nature or by the nature of its disclosure, would reasonably be considered to be proprietary or
confidential to the Company Group (which information is collectively referred to in this Agreement as “Confidential Information”). For greater certainty,
Confidential Information includes all employee, customer or client personal information, technical data, unpublished know-how, techniques, records, formulae,
processes, sketches, photographs, plans, drawings, specifications, samples, reports, manuals, documents, prototypes, hardware, software and other equipment,
working materials, findings, inventions and ideas, whether patentable or not, whether they be trade secrets or not and whether they be in written, graphic, oral,
electronic or any other form, that are now or hereafter owned, licensed or otherwise acquired by the Company Group.

B. The Worker may develop, conceive, generate or contribute to, in the course of employment or engagement with the Company, alone and/or jointly with others, tangible
and intangible property relating to actual or anticipated business and research and development of the Company Group, or that is suggested by or result from work
performed for or on behalf of the Company Group, in any fields, which property includes software, hardware, know-how, designs, techniques, documentation and
other material regardless of the form or media in or on which it is stored, some or all of which property may be protected by patents, copyrights, trade secrets, trade-
marks, industrial designs or mask works or any common law or statutory right anywhere in the world (which tangible and intangible property is collectively referred to
in this Agreement as “Proprietary Property”).

C. The Worker understands and acknowledges that this Confidential Information and the Company’s ability to reserve it for the exclusive knowledge and use of the
Company Group is of great competitive importance and commercial value to the Company, and that improper use or disclosure of the Confidential Information by the
Worker will cause irreparable harm to the Company, for which remedies at law will not be adequate.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency
of which is acknowledged by the Worker, the parties agree as follows:
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The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not disclose or use any Proprietary Property or Confidential Information
except in the course of carrying out authorized activities on behalf of the Company or except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. The Worker may,
however, use or disclose Confidential Information that:

(a) is or becomes public, other than through a breach of this Agreement; or

(b) is known to the Worker prior to employment or engagement by the Company and with respect to which the Worker does not have any obligation of
confidentiality; or

(c) is required to be disclosed, or the disclosure of which to regulators is protected, by law, whether under an order of a court or government tribunal, statutory
provision or other legal process, provided that, where such disclosure is required of the Worker, the Worker informs the Company of such requirement as
soon as the Worker becomes aware of the requirement and in sufficient time to allow the Company to take such steps as are lawfully available to the
Company to avoid or limit such disclosure by the Worker.

Notice of Immunity Under the Economic Espionage Act of 1996, as amended by the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016. Notwithstanding any other provision of

this Agreement:
(a) The Worker will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for any disclosure of a trade secret that:
(i) is made (1) in confidence to an authorized federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and (2) solely
for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or
(ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding.
(b) If the Worker files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, the Worker may disclose the Company’s trade secrets

to the Worker’s attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding if the Worker:
(6] files any document containing trade secrets under seal; and
(ii) does not disclose trade secrets, except pursuant to court order.
The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not disclose or use any trade secrets, confidential information or proprietary

property of a third party obtained by the Worker during the course of or as result of employment or engagement with the Company, except as expressly authorized by
the Company or such third party in writing.



Page 5

All right, title and interest in and to Proprietary Property (including the Proprietary Property described in paragraph 8 below), as between the Worker and the
Company, belongs to the Company and the Worker has no rights in any such Proprietary Property. For greater certainty, all right, title and interest (including any
intellectual property rights) in and to all Proprietary Property that the Worker may acquire in the course of employment or engagement with the Company are hereby
assigned to the Company. The Worker agrees to make full disclosure to the Company of and to properly document each development of any Proprietary Property, and
to provide written documentation describing such Proprietary Property to the Company, promptly after its creation. At the request and expense of the Company, both
during and after employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall do all acts necessary and sign all documentation necessary in order to assign all
right, title and interest in and to the Proprietary Property to the Company and to enable the Company to register patents, copyrights, trade-marks, mask works,
industrial designs and such other protections as the Company deems advisable anywhere in the world. The Worker irrevocably designates and appoints the Company
and its duly authorized officers and agents as the Worker’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in the Worker’s behalf and stead to execute and file any such
instruments and papers and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the application for, prosecution, issuance, maintenance or transfer of patents, copyrights,
trade-marks, mask works, industrial designs and such other protections related to the Proprietary Property. This power of attorney is coupled with an interest and shall
not be affected by the Worker’s subsequent incapacity or death.

If any part of the services or Proprietary Property or information provided hereunder is based on, incorporates, or is an improvement or derivative of, or cannot be
reasonably and fully made, used, reproduced, distributed and otherwise exploited without using or violating technology or intellectual property rights owned by or
licensed to the Worker (or any person involved in the services) and not assigned hereunder, the Worker hereby grants the Company and its successors a perpetual,
irrevocable, worldwide royalty-free, nonexclusive, sublicensable right and license to exploit and exercise all such technology and intellectual property rights in
support of the Company’s exercise or exploitation of the services, Proprietary Property, other work or information performed or provided hereunder, or any assigned
rights (including any modifications, improvements and derivatives of any of them).

If, during and in the course of employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker develops any Proprietary Property that is protected by copyright, the
Worker hereby waives unconditionally any “moral rights” the Worker may have in such Proprietary Property.

The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not make any unauthorized use of the Company’s computer systems,
communications networks, databases or files. The Worker shall adhere to all Company policies regarding the use of such computer systems, communications
networks, databases or files.
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All notes, data, tapes, reference items, sketches, drawings, memoranda, records, documentation and other material regardless of the form or media in or on which it is
stored, that is in or comes into the possession or control of the Worker, and that is in any way obtained, conceived, developed, generated or contributed to by the
Worker, alone and/or jointly with others in the course of or as a result of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company, is and remains Confidential
Information and/or Proprietary Property within the meaning of this Agreement.

The Worker shall return or destroy, as directed by the Company, Confidential Information or Proprietary Property to the Company upon request by the Company at
any time, and upon the cessation of employment or engagement with the Company, regardless of how that cessation occurs. Such return or destruction shall include
all originals and all copies of the Confidential Information and Proprietary Property, in whatever medium or form, that is then in the control or possession of the
Worker. Upon request by the Company, the Worker shall certify, by way of affidavit or statutory declaration, that all such Confidential Information and Proprietary
Property has been returned or destroyed, as applicable. Both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall not make or retain
copies of the Confidential Information or Proprietary Property in the Worker’s possession or control, except for the purpose of carrying out authorized activities on
behalf of the Company or except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. For information stored in electronic form:

(a) the Worker shall be deemed to have returned it when the Worker transmits an electronic copy to Company and thereafter destroys it per (b) below; and

(b) the Worker shall be deemed to have destroyed it when the Worker performs a commercially reasonable “delete” function with respect to all of its copies of
information, notwithstanding that such information may be forensically recoverable or restored from backups (provided always that if, at any time, the
Worker performs or permits such recovery or restoration, the Worker shall treat such recovered or restored information as Confidential Information
hereunder at all times).

The Worker shall not use unauthorized software on the Company’s equipment during the course of employment or engagement with the Company. Furthermore, the
Worker shall not incorporate into or link with the Confidential Information or Proprietary Property, any third-party intellectual property (including third party
software, images, works or materials, third party patents or trade secrets, and open source software) without first (a) disclosing same to the Company together with the
license therefor from such third party, and (b) receiving authorization from the Company for such incorporation or linkage.

During the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall not make use of or in any manner communicate to the Company any
confidential information of any third party (including former employers of the Worker) that may be in or may come into the Worker’s possession or control, other than
confidential information disclosed to the Worker in his, her or its capacity as a representative of the Company.
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13.

14.

16.

19.

Following the cessation of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company for any reason whatsoever, the Worker shall, within 3 business days, remove
from Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter or any other social or professional network site, any references that may suggest that the Worker is still employed by or engaged
with the Company.

The Worker shall, if requested from time to time by the Company, execute such further agreements as to confidentiality and proprietary rights as the Company requires
to protect confidential information or proprietary property.

Regardless of any changes in role, responsibilities, compensation or otherwise, including cessation of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company
(regardless of how that cessation occurs), the Worker shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any other(s) executed pursuant to
paragraph 13 above.

The Worker’s sole and exclusive remedy for any breach of this Agreement by the Company is limited to monetary damages and the Worker shall not make any claim
in respect of any rights to or interest in any Confidential Information or Proprietary Property. The Worker hereby waives, relinquishes and conveys to the Company
any and all claims of any nature whatsoever, which the Worker now or hereafter has for infringement of any proprietary rights assigned to the Company. The Worker
acknowledges that it would be difficult to compute the monetary loss to the Company arising from a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by the Worker and
that, accordingly, the Company shall be entitled to specific performance, injunctive or other equitable relief in addition to or instead of monetary damages, without the
necessity of establishing that monetary damages would be inadequate.

The Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company is subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of the
Company and its successors and assigns and be binding on the Worker and the Worker’s heirs, attorneys, guardians, estate trustees, executors, trustees and permitted
assigns.

This Agreement is a contract made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to principles of
conflicts of law.

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, that provision is to be deleted and the other provisions
remain in effect and are valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

This Agreement does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Worker from exercising the Worker’s rights under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act or from
complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such
compliance does not exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

The Worker and the Company each intend and agree that in this Agreement, the terms “employment” and “engagement” shall be deemed to include any period of
time prior to the Worker’s execution of this Agreement and/or prior to the formal execution of any employment or consulting agreement or contract for services
relating to the employment or engagement, during which period of time and in connection with or in contemplation of such employment or engagement, the Worker
provided services to or performed work of any kind for the Company Group or for the benefit of the Company Group.

The Worker confirms that he or she had the opportunity to confer with an independent legal advisor if he or she so wished, in advance of signing this Agreement. The
Worker further confirms that he or she has read this Agreement and the Worker accepts and agrees to be bound by its terms.

The headings herein are for convenience only and do not interpret this Agreement, the word “including” or “include”, when following any general statement or term,
is not to be construed as limiting the general statement or term to the specific items or matters set forth or to similar items or matters, but rather as permitting the
general statement or term to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within its broadest possible scope, and the word “or” does not imply an
exclusive relationship between the matters being connected.

The Worker hereby authorizes the Company to notify the Worker’s future employers (or other necessary third parties) of the terms of this Agreement and the Worker’s
responsibilities hereunder.

This Agreement, and the agreements and other documents required to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement, constitute the entire agreement between the Company
and the Worker and set out all the covenants, promises, warranties, representations, conditions and agreements between the Company and the Worker in connection
with the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, pre-contractual or
otherwise.

DATED MAY 3, 2023.

[Signature page follows]
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/s/ Amresh Kumar

Acasti Pharma Inc.

By: /s/ Prashant Kohli

Amresh Kumar

Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer




June 21, 2023

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
DELIVERED BY EMAIL

Carrie D’ Andrea

Dear Carrie:

Exhibit 10.11

acasti

We are pleased to extend the following offer of employment with Acasti Pharma Inc. (“Acasti”):

Title:

Reporting to:

Base Salary:

Annual Bonus:

Stock Option:

Benefits:

Vacation:

Start Date:

Vice President, Clinical Operations

Prashant Kohli, Chief Executive Officer

Annualized base salary of $275,000, less applicable deductions and withholdings.

You will be eligible to earn an annual discretionary bonus of up to 30 % of your base salary as determined by Acasti in its sole
discretion. The bonus, if any, for a given year will be paid following the completion of such year. You must remain employed with
Acasti throughout the year for which the bonus is paid, and up to and including the bonus payment date.

Subject to approval by the board of directors of the Company, you will be granted pursuant to Acasti’s equity incentive plan (the
“Plan”), an option to purchase common shares in the capital of Acasti (the “Option”), with a price per share equal to the fair
market value of a common share, as determined by the board of directors at the time of grant. The grant of the Option to you shall
be conditional upon: (a) your continued employment with Acasti at the time of grant; (b) you entering into an option agreement
with Acasti (the “Option Agreement”); and (c) any other terms and conditions set forth in the Plan, your Option Agreement and as
may be determined by the board of directors in its sole discretion at the time of grant.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable benefit plans and policies, you will be eligible to participate in such group
benefit plans as Acasti may make available in its sole discretion.

You will accrue vacation at the rate of 3 weeks per year. Vacation entitlement, including treatment of unused vacation time, will be
in accordance with Acasti’s vacation policy as in effect from time to time.

July 3, 2023
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As a condition of employment with Acasti Pharma, you will be required to read, sign and return a copy of the enclosed Confidentiality of Information and Ownership of
Proprietary Property Agreement. On your first day of employment, you will be required to provide original documents from the enclosed List of Acceptable Documents (I-9)
which prove your identity and right to work in the United States.

The Company is hiring you as an at-will employee, which means that you have the right to terminate your employment with Acasti at any time, for any reason, with or without
notice. Similarly, Acasti has the right to terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, with or without notice. Any contrary representations, which may
have been made to you, are superseded by this offer. Any modifications to this “at-will” term of your employment must be in writing and signed by you and Acasti’s CEO.

This offer expires five business days from the date of this letter. Please indicate your acceptance of our offer by signing and returning a copy of this letter to me as soon as
possible.

On behalf of Acasti, we look forward to having you join us as we work together to advance science in support of better patient outcomes and to create value for the employees
and shareholders of Acasti.

Sincerely,

/s/ Prashant Kohli
Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer

I have read, understand and accept these terms and conditions of employment. I further understand that while my salary, benefits, job title and job duties may change from time
to time without a written modification of this agreement, the at-will term of my employment is a term of employment which cannot be altered or modified except in writing,
signed by me and Acasti’s CEO. By accepting this offer, I confirm that I am able to accept this job and carry out the work involved without breaching any legal restrictions on
my activities, such as restrictions imposed by a current or former employer.

Signature /s/ Carrie D’ Andrea Date 21-Jun-2023
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SCHEDULE A
CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION AND OWNERSHIP
OF PROPRIETARY PROPERTY AGREEMENT

THIS CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION AND OWNERSHIP OF PROPRIETARY PROPERTY AGREEMENT is entered into as of the date set out below
and is between Acasti Pharma Inc. (the “Company”) and Carry D’Andrea (the “Worker”).

BACKGROUND:

A. The Company may give, has given and will give the Worker access to proprietary or confidential information of the Company and its affiliates and subsidiaries (if
any) (the “Company Group”), including information that, by its nature or by the nature of its disclosure, would reasonably be considered to be proprietary or
confidential to the Company Group (which information is collectively referred to in this Agreement as “Confidential Information™). For greater certainty,
Confidential Information includes all employee, customer or client personal information, technical data, unpublished know-how, techniques, records, formulae,
processes, sketches, photographs, plans, drawings, specifications, samples, reports, manuals, documents, prototypes, hardware, software and other equipment,
working materials, findings, inventions and ideas, whether patentable or not, whether they be trade secrets or not and whether they be in written, graphic, oral,
electronic or any other form, that are now or hereafter owned, licensed or otherwise acquired by the Company Group.

B. The Worker may develop, conceive, generate or contribute to, in the course of employment or engagement with the Company, alone and/or jointly with others,
tangible and intangible property relating to actual or anticipated business and research and development of the Company Group, or that is suggested by or result
from work performed for or on behalf of the Company Group, in any fields, which property includes software, hardware, know-how, designs, techniques,
documentation and other material regardless of the form or media in or on which it is stored, some or all of which property may be protected by patents,
copyrights, trade secrets, trade-marks, industrial designs or mask works or any common law or statutory right anywhere in the world (which tangible and intangible
property is collectively referred to in this Agreement as “Proprietary Property”).

C. The Worker understands and acknowledges that this Confidential Information and the Company’s ability to reserve it for the exclusive knowledge and use of the
Company Group is of great competitive importance and commercial value to the Company, and that improper use or disclosure of the Confidential Information by
the Worker will cause irreparable harm to the Company, for which remedies at law will not be adequate.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is acknowledged by the Worker, the parties agree as follows:
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The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not disclose or use any Proprietary Property or Confidential Information
except in the course of carrying out authorized activities on behalf of the Company or except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. The Worker may,
however, use or disclose Confidential Information that:

(a) is or becomes public, other than through a breach of this Agreement; or

(b) is known to the Worker prior to employment or engagement by the Company and with respect to which the Worker does not have any obligation of
confidentiality; or

(c) is required to be disclosed, or the disclosure of which to regulators is protected, by law, whether under an order of a court or government tribunal, statutory
provision or other legal process, provided that, where such disclosure is required of the Worker, the Worker informs the Company of such requirement as
soon as the Worker becomes aware of the requirement and in sufficient time to allow the Company to take such steps as are lawfully available to the
Company to avoid or limit such disclosure by the Worker.

Notice of Immunity Under the Economic Espionage Act of 1996, as amended by the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016. Notwithstanding any other provision of

this Agreement:
(a) The Worker will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for any disclosure of a trade secret that:
(i) is made (1) in confidence to an authorized federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and (2) solely
for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or
(ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding.
(b) If the Worker files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, the Worker may disclose the Company’s trade secrets

to the Worker’s attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding if the Worker:
(6] files any document containing trade secrets under seal; and
(ii) does not disclose trade secrets, except pursuant to court order.
The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not disclose or use any trade secrets, confidential information or proprietary

property of a third party obtained by the Worker during the course of or as result of employment or engagement with the Company, except as expressly authorized by
the Company or such third party in writing.
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All right, title and interest in and to Proprietary Property (including the Proprietary Property described in paragraph 8 below), as between the Worker and the
Company, belongs to the Company and the Worker has no rights in any such Proprietary Property. For greater certainty, all right, title and interest (including any
intellectual property rights) in and to all Proprietary Property that the Worker may acquire in the course of employment or engagement with the Company are hereby
assigned to the Company. The Worker agrees to make full disclosure to the Company of and to properly document each development of any Proprietary Property,
and to provide written documentation describing such Proprietary Property to the Company, promptly after its creation. At the request and expense of the Company,
both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall do all acts necessary and sign all documentation necessary in order to assign
all right, title and interest in and to the Proprietary Property to the Company and to enable the Company to register patents, copyrights, trade-marks, mask works,
industrial designs and such other protections as the Company deems advisable anywhere in the world. The Worker irrevocably designates and appoints the Company
and its duly authorized officers and agents as the Worker’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in the Worker’s behalf and stead to execute and file any such
instruments and papers and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the application for, prosecution, issuance, maintenance or transfer of patents, copyrights,
trade-marks, mask works, industrial designs and such other protections related to the Proprietary Property. This power of attorney is coupled with an interest and
shall not be affected by the Worker’s subsequent incapacity or death.

If any part of the services or Proprietary Property or information provided hereunder is based on, incorporates, or is an improvement or derivative of, or cannot be
reasonably and fully made, used, reproduced, distributed and otherwise exploited without using or violating technology or intellectual property rights owned by or
licensed to the Worker (or any person involved in the services) and not assigned hereunder, the Worker hereby grants the Company and its successors a perpetual,
irrevocable, worldwide royalty-free, nonexclusive, sublicensable right and license to exploit and exercise all such technology and intellectual property rights in
support of the Company’s exercise or exploitation of the services, Proprietary Property, other work or information performed or provided hereunder, or any assigned
rights (including any modifications, improvements and derivatives of any of them).

If, during and in the course of employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker develops any Proprietary Property that is protected by copyright, the
Worker hereby waives unconditionally any “moral rights” the Worker may have in such Proprietary Property.

The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not make any unauthorized use of the Company’s computer systems,
communications networks, databases or files. The Worker shall adhere to all Company policies regarding the use of such computer systems, communications
networks, databases or files.
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All notes, data, tapes, reference items, sketches, drawings, memoranda, records, documentation and other material regardless of the form or media in or on which it
is stored, that is in or comes into the possession or control of the Worker, and that is in any way obtained, conceived, developed, generated or contributed to by the
Worker, alone and/or jointly with others in the course of or as a result of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company, is and remains Confidential
Information and/or Proprietary Property within the meaning of this Agreement.

The Worker shall return or destroy, as directed by the Company, Confidential Information or Proprietary Property to the Company upon request by the Company at
any time, and upon the cessation of employment or engagement with the Company, regardless of how that cessation occurs. Such return or destruction shall include
all originals and all copies of the Confidential Information and Proprietary Property, in whatever medium or form, that is then in the control or possession of the
Worker. Upon request by the Company, the Worker shall certify, by way of affidavit or statutory declaration, that all such Confidential Information and Proprietary
Property has been returned or destroyed, as applicable. Both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall not make or retain
copies of the Confidential Information or Proprietary Property in the Worker’s possession or control, except for the purpose of carrying out authorized activities on
behalf of the Company or except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. For information stored in electronic form:

(a) the Worker shall be deemed to have returned it when the Worker transmits an electronic copy to Company and thereafter destroys it per (b) below; and

(b) the Worker shall be deemed to have destroyed it when the Worker performs a commercially reasonable “delete” function with respect to all of its copies of
information, notwithstanding that such information may be forensically recoverable or restored from backups (provided always that if, at any time, the
Worker performs or permits such recovery or restoration, the Worker shall treat such recovered or restored information as Confidential Information
hereunder at all times).

The Worker shall not use unauthorized software on the Company’s equipment during the course of employment or engagement with the Company. Furthermore, the
Worker shall not incorporate into or link with the Confidential Information or Proprietary Property, any third-party intellectual property (including third party
software, images, works or materials, third party patents or trade secrets, and open source software) without first (a) disclosing same to the Company together with
the license therefor from such third party, and (b) receiving authorization from the Company for such incorporation or linkage.

During the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall not make use of or in any manner communicate to the Company any
confidential information of any third party (including former employers of the Worker) that may be in or may come into the Worker’s possession or control, other
than confidential information disclosed to the Worker in his, her or its capacity as a representative of the Company.
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13.

14.

16.

19.

Following the cessation of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company for any reason whatsoever, the Worker shall, within 3 business days, remove
from Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter or any other social or professional network site, any references that may suggest that the Worker is still employed by or engaged
with the Company.

The Worker shall, if requested from time to time by the Company, execute such further agreements as to confidentiality and proprietary rights as the Company
requires to protect confidential information or proprietary property.

Regardless of any changes in role, responsibilities, compensation or otherwise, including cessation of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company
(regardless of how that cessation occurs), the Worker shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any other(s) executed pursuant to
paragraph 13 above.

The Worker’s sole and exclusive remedy for any breach of this Agreement by the Company is limited to monetary damages and the Worker shall not make any claim
in respect of any rights to or interest in any Confidential Information or Proprietary Property. The Worker hereby waives, relinquishes and conveys to the Company
any and all claims of any nature whatsoever, which the Worker now or hereafter has for infringement of any proprietary rights assigned to the Company. The Worker
acknowledges that it would be difficult to compute the monetary loss to the Company arising from a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by the Worker
and that, accordingly, the Company shall be entitled to specific performance, injunctive or other equitable relief in addition to or instead of monetary damages,
without the necessity of establishing that monetary damages would be inadequate.

The Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company is subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of
the Company and its successors and assigns and be binding on the Worker and the Worker’s heirs, attorneys, guardians, estate trustees, executors, trustees and
permitted assigns.

This Agreement is a contract made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to principles of
conflicts of law.

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, that provision is to be deleted and the other provisions
remain in effect and are valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

This Agreement does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Worker from exercising the Worker’s rights under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act or from
complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such
compliance does not exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

The Worker and the Company each intend and agree that in this Agreement, the terms “employment” and “engagement” shall be deemed to include any period of
time prior to the Worker’s execution of this Agreement and/or prior to the formal execution of any employment or consulting agreement or contract for services
relating to the employment or engagement, during which period of time and in connection with or in contemplation of such employment or engagement, the Worker
provided services to or performed work of any kind for the Company Group or for the benefit of the Company Group.

The Worker confirms that he or she had the opportunity to confer with an independent legal advisor if he or she so wished, in advance of signing this Agreement. The
Worker further confirms that he or she has read this Agreement and the Worker accepts and agrees to be bound by its terms.

The headings herein are for convenience only and do not interpret this Agreement, the word “including” or “include”, when following any general statement or
term, is not to be construed as limiting the general statement or term to the specific items or matters set forth or to similar items or matters, but rather as permitting
the general statement or term to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within its broadest possible scope, and the word “or” does not imply an
exclusive relationship between the matters being connected.

The Worker hereby authorizes the Company to notify the Worker’s future employers (or other necessary third parties) of the terms of this Agreement and the
Worker’s responsibilities hereunder.

This Agreement, and the agreements and other documents required to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement, constitute the entire agreement between the Company
and the Worker and set out all the covenants, promises, warranties, representations, conditions and agreements between the Company and the Worker in connection
with the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, pre-contractual
or otherwise.

DATED June 21, 2023.

[Signature page follows]
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/s/ Carrie D’ Andrea

Acasti Pharma Inc.

By: /s/ Prashant Kohli

Carrie D’Andrea

Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer
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INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Indemnification Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of _,20__ by and between Grace Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),
and (“Indemnitee”). This Agreement supersedes and replaces any and all previous Agreements between the Company and Indemnitee covering the subject
matter of this Agreement.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) believes that highly competent persons have become more reluctant to serve publicly-held
corporations as [directors] [officers] or in other capacities unless they are provided with adequate protection through insurance or adequate indemnification against inordinate
risks of claims and actions against them arising out of their service to and activities on behalf of the corporation;

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that, in order to attract and retain qualified individuals, the Company will attempt to maintain on an ongoing basis, at its sole
expense, liability insurance to protect persons serving the Company and its subsidiaries from certain liabilities. Although the furnishing of such insurance has been a customary
and widespread practice among United States-based corporations and other business enterprises, the Company believes that, given current market conditions and trends, such
insurance may be available to it in the future only at higher premiums and with more exclusions. At the same time, directors, officers, and other persons in service to
corporations or business enterprises are being increasingly subjected to expensive and time-consuming litigation relating to, among other things, matters that traditionally
would have been brought only against the Company or business enterprise itself. The bylaws of the Company (the “Bylaws”) require indemnification of the officers and
directors of the Company. Indemnitee may also be entitled to indemnification pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). The Bylaws
and the DGCL expressly provide that the indemnification provisions set forth therein are not exclusive, and thereby contemplate that contracts may be entered into between the
Company and members of the board of directors, officers and other persons with respect to indemnification;

WHEREAS, the uncertainties relating to such insurance and to indemnification may increase the difficulty of attracting and retaining such persons;

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the increased difficulty in attracting and retaining such persons is detrimental to the best interests of the Company and its
stockholders and that the Company should act to assure such persons that there will be increased certainty of such protection in the future;

WHEREAS, it is reasonable, prudent and necessary for the Company contractually to obligate itself to indemnify, and to advance expenses on behalf of, such persons
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law so that they will serve or continue to serve the Company free from undue concern that they will not be so indemnified;
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WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Bylaws and any resolutions adopted pursuant thereto, as well as any rights of Indemnitees
under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy, and this Agreement shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee
thereunder; and

WHEREAS, Indemnitee does not regard the protection available under the Bylaws and insurance as adequate in the present circumstances, and may not be willing to
serve or continue to serve as an officer or director without adequate protection, and the Company desires Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve in such capacity. Indemnitee
is willing to serve, continue to serve and to take on additional service for or on behalf of the Company on the condition that Indemnitee be so indemnified.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants contained herein, the Company and Indemnitee do hereby covenant and agree as follows:

Section 1. Services to the Company. Indemnitee agrees to serve [as a [director] [officer] [employee] [agent] of the Company] [, at the request of the Company,
as a [director] [officer] [employee] [agent] [fiduciary] of [another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise]. Indemnitee may at any time and for any
reason resign from such position (subject to any other contractual obligation or any obligation imposed by operation of law), in which event the Company shall have no
obligation under this Agreement to continue Indemnitee in such position. This Agreement shall not be deemed an employment contract between the Company (or any of its
subsidiaries or any Enterprise) and Indemnitee. Indemnitee specifically acknowledges that Indemnitee’s employment with the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any
Enterprise), if any, is at will, and the Indemnitee may be discharged at any time for any reason, with or without cause, except as may be otherwise provided in any written
employment contract between Indemnitee and the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or any Enterprise), other applicable formal severance policies duly adopted by the Board,
or, with respect to service as a director or officer of the Company, by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), the Bylaws, and the
DGCL. The foregoing notwithstanding, this Agreement shall continue in force after Indemnitee has ceased to serve [as an [officer] [director] [agent] [employee] of the
Company] [, at the request of the Company, as a [director] [officer] [employee] [agent] [fiduciary] of [another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise],
as provided in Section 16 hereof.

Section 2. Definitions. As used in this Agreement:

(a) References to “agent” shall mean any person who is or was a director, officer, or employee of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company or other
person authorized by the Company to act for the Company, to include such person serving in such capacity as a director, officer, employee, fiduciary or other official of another
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise at the request of, for the convenience of, or to represent the interests of the Company
or a subsidiary of the Company.
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(b) A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of this Agreement of any of the following events:

i Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as defined below) is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (as defined below), directly or
indirectly, of securities of the Company representing greater than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities unless the
change in relative Beneficial Ownership of the Company’s securities by any Person results solely from a reduction in the aggregate number of outstanding shares of securities
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;

ii. Change in Board of Directors. During any period of two (2) consecutive years (not including any period prior to the execution of this
Agreement), individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new director (other than a director designated by a person who has entered into an
agreement with the Company to effect a transaction described in Sections 2(b)(i), 2(b)(iii) or 2(b)(iv)) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company’s
stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or
nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the members of the Board;

1ii. Corporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, other than a merger or
consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent (either by
remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the Surviving Entity) more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the
Surviving Entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and with the power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of
such Surviving Entity;

iv. Liquidation. The approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or
disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; and

V. Other Events. There occurs any other event of a nature that would be required to be reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of
Regulation 14A (or a response to any similar item on any similar schedule or form) promulgated under the Exchange Act (as defined below), whether or not the Company is
then subject to such reporting requirement.
For purposes of this Section 2(b), the following terms shall have the following meanings:

(A) “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.

3-
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B) “Person” shall have the meaning as set forth in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act; provided, however, that Person shall exclude
(i) the Company, (ii) any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, and (iii) any entity owned, directly or
indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company.

©) “Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning given to such term in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act; provided, however, that Beneficial
Owner shall exclude any Person otherwise becoming a Beneficial Owner by reason of the stockholders of the Company approving a merger of the Company
with another entity.

(d) “Surviving Entity” shall mean the surviving entity in a merger or consolidation or any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, such
surviving entity.

(c) “Corporate Status” describes the status of a person who is or was a director, trustee, partner, managing member, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary
of the Company or of any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership or joint venture, trust or other enterprise which such person is or was serving at the request
of the Company.

(d) “Disinterested Director” shall mean a director of the Company who is not and was not a party to the Proceeding in respect of which indemnification
is sought by Indemnitee.

(e) “Enterprise” shall mean the Company and any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise of
which Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, employee, agent or fiduciary.

[63) “Expenses” shall include all reasonable attorneys’ fees, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees and other costs of experts and other professionals,
witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery service fees, any federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed
on Indemnitee as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement, ERISA excise taxes and penalties, and all other disbursements, obligations or
expenses of the types customarily incurred in connection with, or as a result of, prosecuting, defending, preparing to prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be
a deponent or witness in, or otherwise participating in, a Proceeding. Expenses also shall include (i) Expenses incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from any
Proceeding, including without limitation the premium, security for, and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedeas bond, or other appeal bond or its equivalent, (ii)
Expenses incurred in connection with recovery under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the Company, regardless of whether Indemnitee is
ultimately determined to be entitled to such indemnification, advancement or Expenses or insurance recovery, as the case may be, and (iii) for purposes of Section 14(d) only,
Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement, the Certificate of Incorporation,
the Bylaws or under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the Company, by litigation or otherwise. The parties agree that for the purposes of
any advancement of Expenses for which Indemnitee has made written demand to the Company in accordance with this Agreement, all Expenses included in such demand that
are certified by affidavit of Indemnitee’s counsel as being reasonable in the good faith judgment of such counsel shall be presumed conclusively to be reasonable. Expenses,
however, shall not include amounts paid in settlement by Indemnitee or the amount of judgments or fines against Indemnitee.

4-
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(g) “Independent Counsel” shall mean a law firm, or a member of a law firm, that is experienced in matters of corporation law and neither presently is,
nor in the past five years has been, retained to represent: (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters
concerning the Indemnitee under this Agreement, or of other indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other party to the Proceeding giving rise to a
claim for indemnification hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Independent Counsel” shall not include any person who, under the applicable standards of
professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee’s rights under this
Agreement. The Company agrees to pay the reasonable fees and expenses of the Independent Counsel referred to above and to fully indemnify such counsel against any and all
Expenses, claims, liabilities and damages arising out of or relating to this Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto.

(h) The term “Proceeding” shall include any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, claim, counterclaim, cross claim, arbitration, mediation,
alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought in the right of
the Company or otherwise and whether of a civil, criminal, administrative, legislative, regulatory or investigative (formal or informal) nature, including any appeal therefrom,
in which Indemnitee was, is or will be involved as a party, potential party, non-party witness or otherwise by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, by reason of any action
taken by Indemnitee (or a failure to take action by Indemnitee) or of any action (or failure to act) on Indemnitee’s part while acting pursuant to Indemnitee’s Corporate Status,
in each case whether or not serving in such capacity at the time any liability or Expense is incurred for which indemnification, reimbursement, or advancement of Expenses can
be provided under this Agreement. If the Indemnitee believes in good faith that a given situation may lead to or culminate in the institution of a Proceeding, this shall be
considered a Proceeding under this paragraph.
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(6] Reference to “other enterprise” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise tax assessed with respect to any
employee benefit plan; references to “serving at the request of the Company” shall include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company which imposes
duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in
good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have
acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the Company” as referred to in this Agreement.

Section 3. Indemnity in Third-Party Proceedings. The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3 if Indemnitee
is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding, other than a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its
favor. Pursuant to this Section 3, Indemnitee shall be indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in
settlement (including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in
settlement) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee
acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company and, in the case of a criminal Proceeding had
no reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful. The parties hereto intend that this Agreement shall provide to the fullest extent permitted by law for
indemnification in excess of that expressly permitted by statute, including, without limitation, any indemnification provided by the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws,
vote of the Company’s stockholders or disinterested directors or applicable law.

Section 4. Indemnity in Proceedings by or in the Right of the Company. The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 4 if Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its
favor. Pursuant to this Section 4, Indemnitee shall be indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by
Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company. No indemnification for Expenses shall be made under this Section 4 in respect of any claim,
issue or matter as to which Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged by a court to be liable to the Company, unless and only to the extent that the Delaware Court (as
hereinafter defined) or any court in which the Proceeding was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the
circumstances of the case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification.

Section 5. Indemnification for Expenses of a Party Who is Wholly or Partly Successful. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that Indemnitee is a party to (or a participant in) and is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in any Proceeding or in
defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, in whole or in part, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by or on
behalf of Indemnitee in connection therewith. If Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such Proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less
than all claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on
Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with or related to each successfully resolved claim, issue or matter to the fullest extent permitted by law. For purposes of this Section 5 and
without limitation, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding by dismissal, with or without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to
such claim, issue or matter.
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Section 6. Indemnification For Expenses of a Witness. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law
and to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, a witness, is or was made (or asked) to respond to discovery requests in any Proceeding, or
otherwise asked to participate in any Proceeding to which Indemnitee is not a party, Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by
Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith.

Section 7. Partial Indemnification. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the Company for some or a portion of
Expenses, but not, however, for the total amount thereof, the Company shall nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled.

Section 8. Additional Indemnification.
(a) Notwithstanding any limitation in Sections 3, 4, or 5, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law if
Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant in any Proceeding (including a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its
favor) by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status.

(b) For purposes of Section 8(a), the meaning of the phrase “to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law” shall include, but not be limited to:

i to the fullest extent permitted by the provision of the DGCL that authorizes or contemplates additional indemnification by agreement, or the
corresponding provision of any amendment to or replacement of the DGCL, and

ii. to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by any amendments to or replacements of the DGCL adopted after the date of this Agreement
that increase the extent to which a corporation may indemnify its officers and directors.

Section 9. Exclusions. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated under this Agreement to make any
indemnification payment in connection with any claim involving Indemnitee:
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(a) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision, except with
respect to any excess beyond the amount paid under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision; or

(b) for (i) an accounting of profits made from the purchase and sale (or sale and purchase) by Indemnitee of securities of the Company within the
meaning of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act (as defined in Section 2(b) hereof) or similar provisions of state statutory law or common law, (ii) any reimbursement of the
Company by the Indemnitee of any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation or of any profits realized by the Indemnitee from the sale of securities of the
Company, as required in each case under the Exchange Act (including any such reimbursements that arise from an accounting restatement of the Company pursuant to Section
304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), or the payment to the Company of profits arising from the purchase and sale by Indemnitee of securities in
violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) or (iii) any reimbursement of the Company by Indemnitee of any compensation (such Proceeding, a “Clawback
Proceeding”) pursuant to any compensation recoupment or clawback policy adopted by the Board or the compensation or similar committee of the Board, including but not
limited to any such policy adopted to comply with stock exchange listing requirements implementing Section 10D of the Exchange Act (a “Clawback Policy”);

(c) except as provided in Section 14(d) of this Agreement, in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee,
including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee against the Company or its directors, officers, employees or other indemnitees, unless (i) the
Board authorized the Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) prior to its initiation, (ii) such payment arises in connection with any mandatory counterclaim or cross claim
brought or raised by Indemnitee in any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding), or (iii) the Company provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the
powers vested in the Company under applicable law; or

(d) for Expenses determined by the Company to have arisen out of Indemnitee’s breach or violation of his or her obligations under (i) any employment
agreement between the Indemnitee and the Company or (ii) the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (as amended from time to time).

In furtherance of paragraph (b) (iii) of this Section 9, Indemnitee hereby agrees to abide by the terms of any Clawback Policy, including, without limitation, by
returning any compensation to the Company to the extent required by, and in a manner permitted by, the Clawback Policy, and hereby understands and agrees that Indemnitee
shall not be entitled to any (x) indemnification for any liability (including any amounts owed by Indemnitee in a judgment or settlement of any Clawback Proceeding) or loss
(including judgments, fines, taxes, penalties or amounts paid in settlement by or on behalf of Indemnitee) incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any Clawback Proceeding
or (y) indemnification or advancement of Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) from the Company and or any subsidiary of the Company incurred by Indemnitee in connection
any Clawback Proceeding; provided, however, if Indemnitee is successful on the merits in the defense of any claim asserted against Indemnitee in a Clawback Proceeding,
Indemnitee shall be indemnified for the Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) Indemnitee reasonably incurred to defend such claim. Indemnitee hereby knowingly, voluntarily
and intentionally waives, and agrees not to assert any claim regarding, all indemnification, advancement of Expenses and other rights to which the Indemnitee is now or
becomes entitled to under this Agreement, the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, the governing documents of each subsidiary of the Company and the DGCL, in each
case to the extent such waiver and agreement is necessary to give effect to the preceding sentence of this paragraph. Indemnitee agrees and acknowledges that the
compensation Indemnitee has or will receive from the Company or any of its subsidiaries constitutes fair and adequate consideration in exchange for the waiver and agreement
provided by Indemnitee in this paragraph.
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Section 10. Advances of Expenses. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary (other than Section 14(d)), the Company shall advance, to
the extent not prohibited by law, the Expenses incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) not initiated by
Indemnitee or any Proceeding initiated by Indemnitee with the prior approval of the Board as provided in Section 9(c), and such advancement shall be made within thirty (30)
days after the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements requesting such advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition of any
Proceeding. Advances shall be unsecured and interest free. Advances shall be made without regard to Indemnitee’s ability to repay the Expenses and without regard to
Indemnitee’s ultimate entitlement to indemnification under the other provisions of this Agreement. In accordance with Section 14(d), advances shall include any and all
reasonable Expenses incurred pursuing an action to enforce this right of advancement, including Expenses incurred preparing and forwarding statements to the Company to
support the advances claimed. The Indemnitee shall qualify for advances upon the execution and delivery to the Company of this Agreement, which shall constitute an
undertaking providing that the Indemnitee undertakes to repay the amounts advanced (without interest) by the Company pursuant to this Section 10, if and only to the extent
that it is ultimately determined that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company. No other form of undertaking shall be required other than the execution of
this Agreement. This Section 10 shall not apply to any claim made by Indemnitee for which indemnity is excluded pursuant to Section 9.

Section 11. Procedure for Notification and Defense of Claim.

(a) Indemnitee shall notify the Company in writing of any matter with respect to which Indemnitee intends to seek indemnification or advancement of
Expenses hereunder as soon as reasonably practicable following the receipt by Indemnitee of written notice thereof. The written notification to the Company shall include a
description of the nature of the Proceeding and the facts underlying the Proceeding. To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a
written request, including therein or therewith such documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary to determine whether
and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification following the final disposition of such Proceeding. The omission by Indemnitee to notify the Company hereunder
will not relieve the Company from any liability which it may have to Indemnitee hereunder or otherwise than under this Agreement, and any delay in so notifying the Company
shall not constitute a waiver by Indemnitee of any rights under this Agreement. The Secretary of the Company shall, promptly upon receipt of such a request for
indemnification, advise the Board in writing that Indemnitee has requested indemnification.

9-




(b) The Company will be entitled to participate in the Proceeding at its own expense.
(c) The Company shall not settle any Proceeding (in whole or in part) if such settlement would impose any Expense, judgment, liability, fine, penalty or
limitation on Indemnitee in respect of which Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified hereunder without Indemnitee’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably

withheld.

Section 12. Procedure Upon Application for Indemnification.

(a) Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to Section 11(a), a determination, if required by applicable law, with respect to
Indemnitee’s entitlement thereto shall be made in the specific case: (i) if a Change in Control shall have occurred, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a
copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee; or (ii) if a Change in Control shall not have occurred, (A) by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less
than a quorum of the Board, (B) by a committee of Disinterested Directors designated by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum of the
Board, (C) if there are no such Disinterested Directors or, if such Disinterested Directors so direct, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which
shall be delivered to Indemnitee or (D) if so directed by the Board, by the stockholders of the Company; and, if it is so determined that Indemnitee is entitled to
indemnification, payment to Indemnitee shall be made within ten (10) days after such determination. Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, persons or entity making such
determination with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon reasonable advance request any
documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which is reasonably available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary to such
determination. Any costs or Expenses (including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, persons or entity
making such determination shall be borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification) and the Company hereby
indemnifies and agrees to hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom. The Company promptly will advise Indemnitee in writing with respect to any determination that Indemnitee is
or is not entitled to indemnification, including a description of any reason or basis for which indemnification has been denied.

-10-
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(b) In the event the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant to Section 12(a) hereof, the
Independent Counsel shall be selected as provided in this Section 12(b). If a Change in Control shall not have occurred, the Independent Counsel shall be selected by the
Board, and the Company shall give written notice to Indemnitee advising Indemnitee of the identity of the Independent Counsel so selected. If a Change in Control shall have
occurred, the Independent Counsel shall be selected by Indemnitee (unless Indemnitee shall request that such selection be made by the Board, in which event the preceding
sentence shall apply), and Indemnitee shall give written notice to the Company advising it of the identity of the Independent Counsel so selected. In either event, Indemnitee or
the Company, as the case may be, may, within ten (10) days after such written notice of selection shall have been given, deliver to the Company or to Indemnitee, as the case
may be, a written objection to such selection; provided, however, that such objection may be asserted only on the ground that the Independent Counsel so selected does not
meet the requirements of “Independent Counsel” as defined in Section 2 of this Agreement, and the objection shall set forth with particularity the factual basis of such
assertion. Absent a proper and timely objection, the person so selected shall act as Independent Counsel. If such written objection is so made and substantiated, the
Independent Counsel so selected may not serve as Independent Counsel unless and until such objection is withdrawn or the Delaware Court has determined that such objection
is without merit. If, within twenty (20) days after the later of submission by Indemnitee of a written request for indemnification pursuant to Section 11(a) hereof and the final
disposition of the Proceeding, no Independent Counsel shall have been selected and not objected to, either the Company or Indemnitee may petition the Delaware Court for
resolution of any objection which shall have been made by the Company or Indemnitee to the other’s selection of Independent Counsel and/or for the appointment as
Independent Counsel of a person selected by such court or by such other person as such court shall designate, and the person with respect to whom all objections are so
resolved or the person so appointed shall act as Independent Counsel under Section 12(a) hereof. Upon the due commencement of any judicial proceeding or arbitration
pursuant to Section 14(a) of this Agreement, Independent Counsel shall be discharged and relieved of any further responsibility in such capacity (subject to the applicable
standards of professional conduct then prevailing).

(c) If the Company disputes a portion of the amounts for which indemnification is requested, the undisputed portion shall be paid and only the disputed
portion withheld pending resolution of any such dispute.

Section 13. Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings.

(a) In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person or persons or entity making such determination shall,
to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, presume that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement if Indemnitee has submitted a request for
indemnification in accordance with Section 11(a) of this Agreement, and the Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, have the burden of proof to overcome
that presumption in connection with the making by any person, persons or entity of any determination contrary to that presumption. Neither the failure of the Company
(including by its directors or Independent Counsel) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of any action pursuant to this Agreement that indemnification is
proper in the circumstances because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct, nor an actual determination by the Company (including by its directors or
Independent Counsel) that Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that Indemnitee has not met the
applicable standard of conduct.
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(b) Subject to Section 14(e), if the person, persons or entity empowered or selected under Section 12 of this Agreement to determine whether Indemnitee
is entitled to indemnification shall not have made a determination within sixty (60) days after receipt by the Company of the request therefor, the requisite determination of
entitlement to indemnification shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, be deemed to have been made and Indemnitee shall be entitled to such indemnification, absent
(i) a misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially misleading, in connection with
the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law; provided, however, that such 60-day period may be extended for a reasonable
time, not to exceed an additional thirty (30) days, if the person, persons or entity making the determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification in good faith requires
such additional time for the obtaining or evaluating of documentation and/or information relating thereto; and provided, further, that the foregoing provisions of this Section
13(b) shall not apply (i) if the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by the stockholders pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement and if (A) within
fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Company of the request for such determination the Board has resolved to submit such determination to the stockholders for their
consideration at an annual meeting thereof to be held within seventy-five (75) days after such receipt and such determination is made thereat, or (B) a special meeting of
stockholders is called within fifteen (15) days after such receipt for the purpose of making such determination, such meeting is held for such purpose within sixty (60) days
after having been so called and such determination is made thereat, or (ii) if the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant
to Section 12(a) of this Agreement.

(c) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of
nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) of itself adversely affect the right of Indemnitee to indemnification or
create a presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
Company or, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.

(d) For purposes of any determination of good faith, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good faith if Indemnitee’s action is based on the
records or books of account of the Enterprise, including financial statements, or on information supplied to Indemnitee by the directors or officers of the Enterprise in the course
of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the Enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Enterprise by an independent certified public
accountant or by an appraiser, financial advisor or other expert selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Enterprise. The provisions of this Section 13(d) shall not be
deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any way the other circumstances in which the Indemnitee may be deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in this
Agreement.
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(e) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, fiduciary, agent or employee of the
Enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining the right to indemnification under this Agreement.

Section 14. Remedies of Indemnitee.

(a) Subject to Section 14(e), in the event that (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 12 of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to
indemnification under this Agreement, (ii) advancement of Expenses is not timely made pursuant to Section 10 of this Agreement, (iii) no determination of entitlement to
indemnification shall have been made pursuant to Sections 12(a) of this Agreement within ninety (90) days after receipt by the Company of the request for indemnification, (iv)
payment of indemnification is not made pursuant to Sections 5, 6 or 7 or the second to last sentence of Section 12(a) of this Agreement within ten (10) days after receipt by the
Company of a written request therefor, (v) payment of indemnification pursuant to Section 3, 4 or 8 of this Agreement is not made within ten (10) days after a determination has
been made that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, or (vi) the Company or any other person takes or threatens to take any action to declare this Agreement void or
unenforceable, or institutes any litigation or other action or Proceeding designed to deny, or to recover from, the Indemnitee the benefits provided or intended to be provided to
the Indemnitee hereunder, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication by a court of Indemnitee’s entitlement to such indemnification or advancement of
Expenses. Alternatively, Indemnitee, at Indemnitee’s option, may seek an award in arbitration to be conducted by a single arbitrator pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration
Rules of the American Arbitration Association. Indemnitee shall commence such proceeding seeking an adjudication or an award in arbitration within 180 days following the
date on which Indemnitee first has the right to commence such proceeding pursuant to this Section 14(a). The Company shall not oppose Indemnitee’s right to seek any such
adjudication or award in arbitration.

(b) In the event that a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification,
any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 shall be conducted in all respects as a de novo trial, or arbitration, on the merits and Indemnitee
shall not be prejudiced by reason of that adverse determination. In any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14 the Company shall have the
burden of proving Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification or advancement of Expenses, as the case may be.

(c) If a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 12(a) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, the Company
shall be bound by such determination in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 14, absent (i) a misstatement by Indemnitee of a material
fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a
prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law.
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(d) The Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, be precluded from asserting in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced
pursuant to this Section 14 that the procedures and presumptions of this Agreement are not valid, binding and enforceable and shall stipulate in any such court or before any
such arbitrator that the Company is bound by all the provisions of this Agreement. It is the intent of the Company that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Indemnitee not
be required to incur legal fees or other Expenses associated with the interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement by litigation or
otherwise because the cost and expense thereof would substantially detract from the benefits intended to be extended to the Indemnitee hereunder. The Company shall, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify Indemnitee against any and all Expenses and, if requested by Indemnitee, shall (within ten (10) days after receipt by the Company of
a written request therefor) advance, to the extent not prohibited by law, such Expenses to Indemnitee, which are incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection with any
action brought by Indemnitee for indemnification or advancement of Expenses from the Company under this Agreement or under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
policies maintained by the Company if, in the case of indemnification, Indemnitee is wholly successful on the underlying claims; if Indemnitee is not wholly successful on the
underlying claims, then such indemnification shall be only to the extent Indemnitee is successful on such underlying claims or otherwise as permitted by law, whichever is
greater.

(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no determination as to entitlement of Indemnitee to indemnification under this
Agreement shall be required to be made prior to the final disposition of the Proceeding.

Section 15. Non-exclusivity; Survival of Rights; Insurance; Subrogation.

(a) The rights of indemnification and to receive advancement of Expenses as provided by this Agreement (i) shall not be deemed exclusive of any other
rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, any agreement, a vote of stockholders or a resolution
of directors, or otherwise and (ii) shall be interpreted independently of, and without reference to, any other such rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled. No
amendment, alteration or repeal of this Agreement or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of any action taken
or omitted by Indemnitee in Indemnitee’s Corporate Status prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal. To the extent that a change in Delaware law, whether by statute or
judicial decision, permits greater indemnification or advancement of Expenses than would be afforded currently under the Bylaws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the
parties hereto that Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change. No right or remedy herein conferred is intended to be exclusive of
any other right or remedy, and every other right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at
law or in equity or otherwise. The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any

other right or remedy.
-14-
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(b) To the extent that the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing liability insurance for directors, officers, employees, or agents of
the Enterprise, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its or their terms to the maximum extent of the coverage available for any such
director, officer, employee or agent under such policy or policies. If, at the time of the receipt of a notice of a claim pursuant to the terms hereof, the Company has director and
officer liability insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of such claim or of the commencement of a Proceeding, as the case may be, to the insurers in
accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies. The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf
of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such Proceeding in accordance with the terms of such policies.

(c) In the event of any payment made by the Company under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of
the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such rights, including execution of such documents as are
necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights.

(d) The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment of amounts otherwise indemnifiable hereunder (or for which
advancement is provided hereunder) if and to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwise actually received such payment under any insurance policy, contract, agreement or
otherwise.

(e) The Company’s obligation to indemnify or advance Expenses hereunder to Indemnitee who is or was serving at the request of the Company as a
director, officer, trustee, partner, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee
benefit plan or other enterprise shall be reduced by any amount Indemnitee has actually received as indemnification or advancement of Expenses from such other corporation,
limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise.
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Section 16. Duration of Agreement. This Agreement shall continue until and terminate upon the later of: (a) ten (10) years after the date that Indemnitee shall
have ceased to serve [as a [director] [officer] [employee] [agent] of the Company] [,at the request of the Company, as a [director] [officer] [employee] [agent] [fiduciary] of
[another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise] or (b) one (1) year after the final termination of any Proceeding then pending in respect of which
Indemnitee is granted rights of indemnification or advancement of Expenses hereunder and of any proceeding (including any appeal thereof) commenced by Indemnitee
pursuant to Section 14 of this Agreement relating thereto. The indemnification and advancement of expenses rights provided by or granted pursuant to this Agreement shall be
binding upon and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns (including any direct or indirect successor by purchase, merger, consolidation
or otherwise to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company), shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent
of the Company or of any other Enterprise, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee and Indemnitee’s spouse, assigns, heirs, devisees, executors and administrators and other
legal representatives. The Company shall require and shall cause any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to, by written agreement, expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place.

Section 17. Severability. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to require or shall be construed as requiring the Company to do or fail to do any act in violation
of applicable law. If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement (including without limitation, each portion of any Section of this Agreement containing any such provision held to
be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall remain enforceable to the
fullest extent permitted by law; (b) such provision or provisions shall be deemed reformed to the extent necessary to conform to applicable law and to give the maximum effect
to the intent of the parties hereto; and (c) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of any Section of this
Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to
the intent manifested thereby.

Section 18. Enforcement.

(a) The Company expressly confirms and agrees that it has entered into this Agreement and assumed the obligations imposed on it hereby in order to
induce Indemnitee to serve as a director or officer of the Company, and the Company acknowledges that Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in serving or continuing to
serve as a director or officer of the Company.

(b) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings, oral, written and implied, between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof; provided, however, that this Agreement is a
supplement to and in furtherance of the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, any directors’ and officers’ insurance maintained by the Company and applicable law, and shall
not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee thereunder.

-16-
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Section 19. Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by the parties
hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions of this Agreement nor shall any waiver
constitute a continuing waiver.

Section 20. Notice by Indemnitee. Indemnitee agrees promptly to notify the Company in writing upon being served with any summons, citation, subpoena,
complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any Proceeding or matter which may be subject to indemnification or advancement of Expenses covered
hereunder. The failure of Indemnitee to so notify the Company shall not relieve the Company of any obligation which it may have to the Indemnitee under this Agreement or
otherwise.

Section 21. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly
given if (a) delivered by hand and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other communication shall have been directed, (b) mailed by certified or registered mail
with postage prepaid, on the third business day after the date on which it is so mailed, (c) mailed by reputable overnight courier and receipted for by the party to whom said
notice or other communication shall have been directed or (d) sent by facsimile transmission, with receipt of oral confirmation that such transmission has been received:

(a) If to Indemnitee, at the address indicated on the signature page of this Agreement, or such other address as Indemnitee shall provide to the Company.
(b) If to the Company to:

Grace Therapeutics, Inc.

103 Carnegie Center, Suite 300

Princeton, New Jersey 08540

Attn: Prashant Kohli, Chief Executive Officer

or to any other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee by the Company.

Section 22. Contribution. To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification provided for in this Agreement is unavailable to
Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contribute to the amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for judgments, fines,
penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid or to be paid in settlement and/or for Expenses, in connection with any claim relating to an indemnifiable event under this Agreement, in
such proportion as is deemed fair and reasonable in light of all of the circumstances of such Proceeding in order to reflect (i) the relative benefits received by the Company and
Indemnitee as a result of the event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving cause to such Proceeding; and/or (ii) the relative fault of the Company (and its directors, officers, employees
and agents) and Indemnitee in connection with such event(s) and/or transaction(s).
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Section 23. Applicable Law and Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement and the legal relations among the parties shall be governed by, and construed and
enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflict of laws rules. Except with respect to any arbitration commenced by Indemnitee
pursuant to Section 14(a) of this Agreement, the Company and Indemnitee hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in
connection with this Agreement shall be brought only in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (the “Delaware Court”), and not in any other state or federal court in
the United States of America or any court in any other country, (ii) consent to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court for purposes of any action or
proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, (iii) appoint, to the extent such party is not otherwise subject to service of process in the State of Delaware,
irrevocably Corporation Service Company, 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, as its agent in the State of Delaware as such party’s agent for acceptance of
legal process in connection with any such action or proceeding against such party with the same legal force and validity as if served upon such party personally within the State
of Delaware, (iv) waive any objection to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in the Delaware Court, and (v) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, any
claim that any such action or proceeding brought in the Delaware Court has been brought in an improper or inconvenient forum.

Section 24. Identical Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be deemed to be an
original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement. Only one such counterpart signed by the party against whom enforceability is sought needs to

be produced to evidence the existence of this Agreement.

Section 25. Miscellaneous. Use of the masculine pronoun shall be deemed to include usage of the feminine pronoun where appropriate. The headings of this
Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part of this Agreement or to affect the construction thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed as of the day and year first above written.

GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC. INDEMNITEE
By:

Name: Name:

Office: Address:

18-
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acasti

May 7, 2024

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
DELIVERED BY EMAIL

R. Loch Macdonald
Dear Loch:

We are pleased to extend the following offer of employment with Acasti Pharma Inc. (“Acasti”):

Title: Chief Medical Officer (CMO)

Reporting to: Prashant Kohli, Chief Executive Officer

Base Salary: Annualized base salary of $200,000, less applicable deductions and withholdings.

Annual Bonus: You will be eligible to earn an annual discretionary bonus of up to 30 % of your base salary as determined by Acasti in its sole

discretion. The bonus, if any, for the given year will be paid following the completion of such year. You must remain employed
with Acasti throughout the year for which the bonus is paid, and up to and including the bonus payment date.

Stock Option: Subject to approval by the board of directors of the Company, you will be granted pursuant to Acasti’s equity incentive plan (the
“Plan”), an option to purchase common shares in the capital of Acasti (the “Option”), with a price per share equal to the fair
market value of a common share, as determined by the board of directors at the time of grant. The grant of the Option to you shall
be conditional upon: (a) your continued employment with Acasti at the time of grant; (b) you entering into an option agreement
with Acasti (the “Option Agreement”); and (c) any other terms and conditions set forth in the Plan, your Option Agreement and as
may be determined by the board of directors in its sole discretion at the time of grant.

Benefits: Subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable benefit plans and policies, you will be eligible to participate in such group
benefit plans as Acasti may make available in its sole discretion.

Vacation: Vacation entitlement, including treatment of unused vacation time, will be in accordance with Acasti’s vacation policy as in effect
from time to time.

Start Date: May 13, 2024
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As a condition of employment with Acasti Pharma, you will be required to read, sign and return a copy of the enclosed Confidentiality of Information and Ownership of
Proprietary Property Agreement. On your first day of employment, you will be required to provide original documents from the enclosed List of Acceptable Documents (I-9)
which prove your identity and right to work in the United States.

The Company is hiring you as an at-will employee, which means that you have the right to terminate your employment with Acasti at any time, for any reason, with or without
notice. Similarly, Acasti has the right to terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, with or without notice. Any contrary representations, which may
have been made to you, are superseded by this offer. Any modifications to this “at-will” term of your employment must be in writing and signed by you and Acasti’s CEO.

This offer expires five business days from the date of this letter. Please indicate your acceptance of our offer by signing and returning a copy of this letter to me as soon as
possible.

On behalf of Acasti, we look forward to having you join us as we work together to advance science in support of better patient outcomes and to create value for the employees
and shareholders of Acasti.

Sincerely,

/s/ Prashant Kohli
Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer

I have read, understand and accept these terms and conditions of employment. I further understand that while my salary, benefits, job title and job duties may change from time
to time without a written modification of this agreement, the at-will term of my employment is a term of employment which cannot be altered or modified except in writing,
signed by me and Acasti’s CEO. By accepting this offer, I confirm that I am able to accept this job and carry out the work involved without breaching any legal restrictions on
my activities, such as restrictions imposed by a current or former employer.

/s/ R. Loch Macdonald May 10, 2024

Signature Date
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SCHEDULE A
CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION AND OWNERSHIP
OF PROPRIETARY PROPERTY AGREEMENT

THIS CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION AND OWNERSHIP OF PROPRIETARY PROPERTY AGREEMENT is entered into as of the date set out below and
is between Acasti Pharma Inc. (the “Company”) and R. Loch Macdonald (the “Worker”).

BACKGROUND:

A.

The Company may give, has given and will give the Worker access to proprietary or confidential information of the Company and its affiliates and subsidiaries (if any)
(the “Company Group”), including information that, by its nature or by the nature of its disclosure, would reasonably be considered to be proprietary or confidential
to the Company Group (which information is collectively referred to in this Agreement as “Confidential Information”). For greater certainty, Confidential
Information includes all employee, customer or client personal information, technical data, unpublished know-how, techniques, records, formulae, processes, sketches,
photographs, plans, drawings, specifications, samples, reports, manuals, documents, prototypes, hardware, software and other equipment, working materials, findings,
inventions and ideas, whether patentable or not, whether they be trade secrets or not and whether they be in written, graphic, oral, electronic or any other form, that are
now or hereafter owned, licensed or otherwise acquired by the Company Group.

The Worker may develop, conceive, generate or contribute to, in the course of employment or engagement with the Company, alone and/or jointly with others, tangible
and intangible property relating to actual or anticipated business and research and development of the Company Group, or that is suggested by or result from work
performed for or on behalf of the Company Group, in any fields, which property includes software, hardware, know-how, designs, techniques, documentation and
other material regardless of the form or media in or on which it is stored, some or all of which property may be protected by patents, copyrights, trade secrets, trade-
marks, industrial designs or mask works or any common law or statutory right anywhere in the world (which tangible and intangible property is collectively referred to
in this Agreement as “Proprietary Property”).

The Worker understands and acknowledges that this Confidential Information and the Company’s ability to reserve it for the exclusive knowledge and use of the
Company Group is of great competitive importance and commercial value to the Company, and that improper use or disclosure of the Confidential Information by the
Worker will cause irreparable harm to the Company, for which remedies at law will not be adequate.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency

of which is acknowledged by the Worker, the parties agree as follows:
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The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not disclose or use any Proprietary Property or Confidential Information

except in the course of carrying out authorized activities on behalf of the Company or except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. The Worker may,

however, use or disclose Confidential Information that:

()

(b)

(©

is or becomes public, other than through a breach of this Agreement; or

is known to the Worker prior to employment or engagement by the Company and with respect to which the Worker does not have any obligation of
confidentiality; or

is required to be disclosed, or the disclosure of which to regulators is protected, by law, whether under an order of a court or government tribunal, statutory
provision or other legal process, provided that, where such disclosure is required of the Worker, the Worker informs the Company of such requirement as soon
as the Worker becomes aware of the requirement and in sufficient time to allow the Company to take such steps as are lawfully available to the Company to
avoid or limit such disclosure by the Worker.

Notice of Immunity Under the Economic Espionage Act of 1996, as amended by the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016. Notwithstanding any other provision of

this Agreement:

()

(b)

The Worker will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for any disclosure of a trade secret that:

(6] is made (1) in confidence to an authorized federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and (2) solely for
the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or

(ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding.

If the Worker files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, the Worker may disclose the Company’s trade secrets to
the Worker’s attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding if the Worker:

(6] files any document containing trade secrets under seal; and

(ii) does not disclose trade secrets, except pursuant to court order.

The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not disclose or use any trade secrets, confidential information or proprietary

property of a third party obtained by the Worker during the course of or as result of employment or engagement with the Company, except as expressly authorized by

the Company or such third party in writing.
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All right, title and interest in and to Proprietary Property (including the Proprietary Property described in paragraph 8 below), as between the Worker and the
Company, belongs to the Company and the Worker has no rights in any such Proprietary Property. For greater certainty, all right, title and interest (including any
intellectual property rights) in and to all Proprietary Property that the Worker may acquire in the course of employment or engagement with the Company are hereby
assigned to the Company. The Worker agrees to make full disclosure to the Company of and to properly document each development of any Proprietary Property, and
to provide written documentation describing such Proprietary Property to the Company, promptly after its creation. At the request and expense of the Company, both
during and after employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall do all acts necessary and sign all documentation necessary in order to assign all right,
title and interest in and to the Proprietary Property to the Company and to enable the Company to register patents, copyrights, trade-marks, mask works, industrial
designs and such other protections as the Company deems advisable anywhere in the world. The Worker irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly
authorized officers and agents as the Worker’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in the Worker’s behalf and stead to execute and file any such instruments and
papers and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the application for, prosecution, issuance, maintenance or transfer of patents, copyrights, trade-marks, mask
works, industrial designs and such other protections related to the Proprietary Property. This power of attorney is coupled with an interest and shall not be affected by
the Worker’s subsequent incapacity or death.

If any part of the services or Proprietary Property or information provided hereunder is based on, incorporates, or is an improvement or derivative of, or cannot be
reasonably and fully made, used, reproduced, distributed and otherwise exploited without using or violating technology or intellectual property rights owned by or
licensed to the Worker (or any person involved in the services) and not assigned hereunder, the Worker hereby grants the Company and its successors a perpetual,
irrevocable, worldwide royalty-free, non-exclusive, sublicensable right and license to exploit and exercise all such technology and intellectual property rights in
support of the Company’s exercise or exploitation of the services, Proprietary Property, other work or information performed or provided hereunder, or any assigned
rights (including any modifications, improvements and derivatives of any of them).

If, during and in the course of employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker develops any Proprietary Property that is protected by copyright, the Worker
hereby waives unconditionally any “moral rights” the Worker may have in such Proprietary Property.

The Worker, both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, shall not make any unauthorized use of the Company’s computer systems,
communications networks, databases or files. The Worker shall adhere to all Company policies regarding the use of such computer systems, communications
networks, databases or files.
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All notes, data, tapes, reference items, sketches, drawings, memoranda, records, documentation and other material regardless of the form or media in or on which it is
stored, that is in or comes into the possession or control of the Worker, and that is in any way obtained, conceived, developed, generated or contributed to by the
Worker, alone and/or jointly with others in the course of or as a result of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company, is and remains Confidential
Information and/or Proprietary Property within the meaning of this Agreement.

The Worker shall return or destroy, as directed by the Company, Confidential Information or Proprietary Property to the Company upon request by the Company at any
time, and upon the cessation of employment or engagement with the Company, regardless of how that cessation occurs. Such return or destruction shall include all
originals and all copies of the Confidential Information and Proprietary Property, in whatever medium or form, that is then in the control or possession of the Worker.
Upon request by the Company, the Worker shall certify, by way of affidavit or statutory declaration, that all such Confidential Information and Proprietary Property has
been returned or destroyed, as applicable. Both during and after employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall not make or retain copies of the
Confidential Information or Proprietary Property in the Worker’s possession or control, except for the purpose of carrying out authorized activities on behalf of the
Company or except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. For information stored in electronic form:

(a) the Worker shall be deemed to have returned it when the Worker transmits an electronic copy to Company and thereafter destroys it per (b) below; and

(b) the Worker shall be deemed to have destroyed it when the Worker performs a commercially reasonable “delete” function with respect to all of its copies of
information, notwithstanding that such information may be forensically recoverable or restored from backups (provided always that if, at any time, the
Worker performs or permits such recovery or restoration, the Worker shall treat such recovered or restored information as Confidential Information hereunder
at all times).

The Worker shall not use unauthorized software on the Company’s equipment during the course of employment or engagement with the Company. Furthermore, the
Worker shall not incorporate into or link with the Confidential Information or Proprietary Property, any third-party intellectual property (including third party software,
images, works or materials, third party patents or trade secrets, and open source software) without first (a) disclosing same to the Company together with the license
therefor from such third party, and (b) receiving authorization from the Company for such incorporation or linkage.

During the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company, the Worker shall not make use of or in any manner communicate to the Company any confidential
information of any third party (including former employers of the Worker) that may be in or may come into the Worker’s possession or control, other than confidential
information disclosed to the Worker in his, her or its capacity as a representative of the Company.
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13.

16.

18.

Following the cessation of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company for any reason whatsoever, the Worker shall, within 3 business days, remove
from Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter or any other social or professional network site, any references that may suggest that the Worker is still employed by or engaged
with the Company.

The Worker shall, if requested from time to time by the Company, execute such further agreements as to confidentiality and proprietary rights as the Company requires
to protect confidential information or proprietary property.

Regardless of any changes in role, responsibilities, compensation or otherwise, including cessation of the Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company
(regardless of how that cessation occurs), the Worker shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any other(s) executed pursuant to
paragraph 13 above.

The Worker’s sole and exclusive remedy for any breach of this Agreement by the Company is limited to monetary damages and the Worker shall not make any claim
in respect of any rights to or interest in any Confidential Information or Proprietary Property. The Worker hereby waives, relinquishes and conveys to the Company
any and all claims of any nature whatsoever, which the Worker now or hereafter has for infringement of any proprietary rights assigned to the Company. The Worker
acknowledges that it would be difficult to compute the monetary loss to the Company arising from a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by the Worker and
that, accordingly, the Company shall be entitled to specific performance, injunctive or other equitable relief in addition to or instead of monetary damages, without the
necessity of establishing that monetary damages would be inadequate.

The Worker’s employment or engagement with the Company is subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of the
Company and its successors and assigns and be binding on the Worker and the Worker’s heirs, attorneys, guardians, estate trustees, executors, trustees and permitted
assigns.

This Agreement is a contract made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to principles of
conflicts of law.

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, that provision is to be deleted and the other provisions
remain in effect and are valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

This Agreement does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Worker from exercising the Worker’s rights under Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act or from
complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that such
compliance does not exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

The Worker and the Company each intend and agree that in this Agreement, the terms “employment” and “engagement” shall be deemed to include any period of
time prior to the Worker’s execution of this Agreement and/or prior to the formal execution of any employment or consulting agreement or contract for services
relating to the employment or engagement, during which period of time and in connection with or in contemplation of such employment or engagement, the Worker
provided services to or performed work of any kind for the Company Group or for the benefit of the Company Group.

The Worker confirms that he or she had the opportunity to confer with an independent legal advisor if he or she so wished, in advance of signing this Agreement. The
Worker further confirms that he or she has read this Agreement and the Worker accepts and agrees to be bound by its terms.

The headings herein are for convenience only and do not interpret this Agreement, the word “including” or “include”, when following any general statement or term,
is not to be construed as limiting the general statement or term to the specific items or matters set forth or to similar items or matters, but rather as permitting the
general statement or term to refer to all other items or matters that could reasonably fall within its broadest possible scope, and the word “or” does not imply an
exclusive relationship between the matters being connected.

The Worker hereby authorizes the Company to notify the Worker’s future employers (or other necessary third parties) of the terms of this Agreement and the Worker’s
responsibilities hereunder.

This Agreement, and the agreements and other documents required to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement, constitute the entire agreement between the Company
and the Worker and set out all the covenants, promises, warranties, representations, conditions and agreements between the Company and the Worker in connection
with the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, pre-contractual or
otherwise.

DATED November 20, 2023.

[Signature page follows]
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/s/ R. Loch Macdonald

Acasti Pharma Inc

By: /s/ Prashant Kohli

R. Loch Macdonald

Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 19.1

GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
INSIDER TRADING POLICY
Last updated: June 21, 2025

INTRODUCTION

U.S. federal and state laws prohibit buying, selling, gifting, or making other transfers of securities by persons who have material information that is not generally known or
available to the public. These laws also prohibit persons with such Material Nonpublic Information (as defined herein) from disclosing this information to others who may trade
on the basis of that information. The Board of Directors of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) to promote
compliance with federal, state, and foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of Material Nonpublic Information from:

e trading in the securities of the company or
e providing Material Nonpublic information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information (also known as “tipping”).

There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically set forth herein. The securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances or justifications for independent
reasons. Even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct and to avoid
any potential Insider liability.

Insider trading is a crime. Violations are pursued vigorously by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), U.S. Attorneys, state enforcement authorities and foreign
jurisdictions. Violations can result in severe penalties, including significant fines and imprisonment. See the Section below captioned “Consequences of Violations.”

PERSONS SUBJECT TO THIS POLICY

Persons covered by this Policy include the Company’s officers, directors, and all other employees of the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively, “Company Personnel”), as
well as their immediate family members (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-
laws), other members of their households, and any family members who do not live in their household but whose transactions in Company Securities (as defined herein), are
directed by them or are subject to their influence or control (“Family Members”), as well as corporations, business entities, or trusts controlled, influenced or managed by
Company Personnel or their Family Members or in which they have a beneficial or pecuniary interest (“Controlled Entities”), and together with Company Personnel and
Family Members are individually and collectively referred to as “Insider(s).” The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as
contractors or consultants who have access to Material Nonpublic Information.

Company Personnel are responsible for ensuring that they and their respective Family Members and Controlled Entities do not violate any federal or state securities laws or this
Policy and should make them aware of the need to confer before entering into a transaction and treat all transactions in Company Securities as if such transactions were for the
account of Company Personnel. Any person who possesses Material Nonpublic Information regarding the Company continues to be an Insider for so long as such information
is not publicly known. Appropriate judgment, diligence, and caution should be exercised in connection with any transaction in Company Securities.



TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THIS POLICY

This Policy applies to all transactions, including gifts, in the Company’s securities (collectively the “Company Securities”) including the Company’s common stock, any
securities that are exercisable for, or convertible or exchangeable into, shares of common stock, or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but not
limited to) preferred stock, notes, convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities whether or not issued by the Company, such as exchange-traded put or
call options or swaps.

DEFINITION OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

Material Information. Information should be considered “material” if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in making a decision to buy, hold or
sell securities (“Material Information”). Any information that could be expected to affect the Company’s stock price, whether it is positive or negative, should be considered
material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances and is often evaluated by
enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define all categories of Material Information, there are various categories of information that are
particularly sensitive, and as a general rule, should always be considered material, including the following examples:

» Forward-looking information regarding the Company’s financial performance, such as projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;

Financial condition and the results of operations of the Company, including quarterly and annual results;

Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance;

* A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;

* A pending or proposed license (in-bound or out-bound), acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;
* A pending or proposed joint venture;

* A Company restructuring;

« Significant related party transactions;

+ A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;

* An offering of any Company Securities;

* Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;

The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;

* A change in the Company’s pricing or cost structure;

* Major marketing changes;

* A change in management or the Board of Directors;

+ A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;

* Development of a significant new product, process, or service;

Results of clinical trials;

* Communications with the FDA;

» Unusual gains or losses in major operations;

* Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;
+ Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;

* The gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier;



« Significant actual or potential cybersecurity incidents (e.g., a data breach or any other significant disruption in the Company’s operations, or loss, potential loss, breach or
unauthorized access of its property or assets, whether at its facilities or through its information technology infrastructure); or

* The imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or the securities of another company.

References in this list to the Company or otherwise in the context of assessing whether information is material shall mean the Company and/or its subsidiaries and business
units, as the context requires.

Nonpublic Information. Material Information that is not generally known or otherwise available to the general public is “Material Nonpublic Information.” In order to
establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information has been widely disseminated through appropriate
channels such as newswire services, broadcast on widely-available radio or television programs, publication in a widely-available newspaper, magazine or news website, or
public disclosure documents filed with the SEC that are available on the Company’s or the SEC’s website (such as Form 8-K, Form 10-Q and Form 10-K). By contrast,
information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company’s employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts,
brokers, or institutional investors. In addition, please be aware that disclosure on the Company’s website, by itself, may not be considered wide dissemination.

In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no Insider who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of Material Nonpublic Information relating to other public
companies and third parties with which the Company does business, including the Company’s customers, vendors, suppliers, or potential acquisition targets, may transact in
that company’s securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material. All Insiders are required to treat such Material Nonpublic Information with the same
care and restrictions as are required with respect to information relating directly to the Company.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb and analyze the information. As a general rule,
information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until the start of business on the second Trading Day (a day on which the Nasdaq Stock Market is open
for trading and there has been no halt in the trading in the Company’s Securities) after the day on which the information is released. If, for example, the Company were to make
an announcement on a Monday, Insiders must not transact in Company Securities until Wednesday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company may determine
that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific Material Nonpublic Information.

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not engage in transactions in Company
Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an Insider is in possession of Material Nonpublic
Information rests with that Insider, and any action on the part of the Company, the Compliance Officer (as defined below) or any other Insider does not in any way constitute
legal advice or insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the Company
for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the Section captioned “Consequences of Violations.”

INSIDER TRADING POLICY

Subject to certain limited exceptions as set forth herein, Insiders are strictly prohibited from engaging, either directly or indirectly, in any type of transaction involving
Company Securities, or securities of any other company, if such Insider possesses Material Nonpublic Information. Prior to engaging in any transaction involving Company
Securities, whether or not occurring during a Trading Window (as defined herein), all Insiders must comply with the pre-clearance process described herein.
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ADMINISTRATION OF THIS POLICY

The Company has established procedures to administer this Policy, to facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of Material Nonpublic
Information, and to avoid the appearance of impropriety.

The Company has designated its the Company’s Principal Financial Officer as the individual responsible for ensuring compliance with this Policy (the “Compliance Officer”).
The Compliance Officer may designate one or more individuals to perform the Compliance Officer’s duties in the event that the Compliance Officer is unable or unavailable to
perform such duties.

Certification. All persons subject to this Policy must sign, date and return a Certification substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto (or any other
certification the Compliance Officer deems appropriate) stating that you have received, read, understand and agree to comply with this Policy. The Company may require you to
sign this Certification on an annual basis, including in electronic format. Please note that you are bound by the Policy whether or not you sign the Certification.

e  Blackout Period and Trading Window. To help ensure compliance with this Policy and applicable federal and state securities laws, the Company requires that
all Insiders refrain from conducting any transactions involving the Company Securities other than during the period in any fiscal quarter commencing at the start
of business on the second Trading Day following the date of public disclosure of the financial results for the prior fiscal quarter or year and ending fifteen days
prior to the end of the month of the last month of such fiscal quarter (the “Trading Window”). For illustration and ease of reference, the blackout periods are set
forth in the following table:

Quarter Blackout Period Begins Blackout Period Ends

Start of Business on the Second Trading Day after Q1 earnings
1 June 15, 2025 are publicly released
(typically early August)

Start of Business on the Second Trading Day after Q2 earnings
2 September 15, 2025 are publicly released
(typically early November)

Start of Business on the Second Trading Day after Q3 earnings
3 December 16, 2025 are publicly released
(typically early February)

Start of Business on the Second Trading Day after annual
4 March 16, 2025 earnings are publicly released
(typically mid-to-late June)

Please note that blackout periods are compliance requirements of the Company and do not create or constitute a legal right to trade when they are not in effect. Accordingly, and
for the avoidance of doubt, even when a blackout period is not in effect, if you are in possession of material non-public information, you may not transact in the Company’s
securities.



Special Trading Blackout Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few directors, officers and/or employees.
So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons designated by the Compliance Officer may not transact Company Securities. In addition, the Company’s
financial results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Compliance Officer, designated persons should refrain from trading in
Company Securities for a longer duration than the typical blackout period. In such situation, the Compliance Officer may notify these persons that they should not transact in
the Company’s Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an event-specific trading restriction period or extension of a blackout period will
not be announced to the Company as a whole and should not be communicated to any other person.

Blackout periods and special trading blackout periods do not apply to any transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as described herein under the Section captioned
“Policy Exceptions.” In addition, the pre-clearance procedures, blackout periods and special trading blackout periods do not apply to transactions under approved Rule 10b5-1
Plans.

Pre-Clearance Procedures. Insiders may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance
Officer. The Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may decide, in his or her sole discretion, not to permit the
transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and pre-clearance to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or she is prohibited from initiating any transaction in Company
Securities or informing any other person of the restriction.

When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requesting party must carefully consider and certify whether or not they possess any Material Nonpublic Information, and fully
describe those circumstances to the Compliance Officer in the appropriate form. The requesting party must also indicate whether it has effected any non-exempt “opposite way”
transactions within the immediately preceding six months, and be prepared to report an approved transaction on Form 4 or Form 5, and comply with SEC Rule 144 and file
Form 144, as applicable at the time of the transaction.

No Insider may transact in Company Securities until:

1. the Insider has submitted a request to the Compliance Officer in writing, at least three (3) business days prior to the proposed transaction, which request must include
the amount and nature of the proposed transaction;

2. the Insider has certified to the Compliance Officer in writing, no more than three (3) business days prior to the proposed transaction, that the Insider is not aware of
Material Nonpublic Information; and

3. the Compliance Officer has provided written authorization permitting the transaction.

The request to conduct a transaction involving Company Securities and the required certification shall be provided to the Compliance Officer substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit B. Pre-clearance of a transaction is valid only for five (5) business days immediately following receipt by the Insider of such pre-clearance approval. Once the
approval period identified in the notice has expired, a new notice and certification must be given in order for the Insider to transact in Company Securities.

If the Compliance Officer desires to complete any transactions involving Company Securities, he or she must first obtain the approval of the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. If the Chief Executive Officer desires to complete any transactions involving Company Securities, he or she must first obtain the approval of the Chairman of the
Board of the Company.



Duty to Report Inappropriate and Irregular Conduct. All Company Personnel have a responsibility for maintaining financial integrity within the Company consistent with
both federal and state securities laws. Any employee who becomes aware of any incidents involving financial or accounting manipulation or irregularities, whether by
witnessing the incident or being informed about it, must report it to their immediate supervisor and to the Compliance Officer. All reports of alleged violations of this Policy
will be investigated and addressed appropriately.

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction should obtain additional guidance from the Compliance Officer before engaging
in any transaction involving the Company’s Securities. See the Section below captioned “Company Assistance”.

SPECIFICALLY PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the general prohibition against Insider trading based on Material Nonpublic Information, there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or
inappropriate conduct if the persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company’s policy that any persons covered by this Policy
may not engage in any of the following transactions or should otherwise consider the Company’s preferences as described below:

Short-Term Trading. Short-term trading of Company Securities may be distracting to the trader and may unduly focus the person on the Company’s short-term stock market
performance instead of the Company’s long-term business objectives. For these reasons, no Insider may purchase and sell or sell and purchase any Company Securities of the
same class in the open market within six months of the initial transaction.

Short Sales. Section 16(c) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) prohibits officers and directors from engaging in the sale of a security
that the seller does not own, commonly referred to as “short sales.” Furthermore, short sales of Company Securities may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that
the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects or may reduce a seller’s
incentive to seek to improve the Company’s performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited.

Publicly-Traded Options. Given the relatively short term of publicly traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that an Insider is trading based on
Material Nonpublic Information and focusing attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put
options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy.

Hedging Transactions. No Insider may engage in hedging transactions involving Company Securities, including through the use of financial instruments such as forward sale
or purchase contracts, equity swaps, collars, exchange funds or other transactions that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of
Company Securities. Such hedging transactions may permit a director, officer or employee to continue to own Company Securities directly or indirectly, including those
obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director, officer or employee may no longer
have the same objectives as the Company’s other shareholders. Furthermore, such transactions are speculative in nature and therefore create the appearance that the transaction
is based on Material Nonpublic Information.

Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities. Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if the
customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan.
Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of Material Nonpublic Information or is otherwise not permitted to trade in Company
Securities, Insiders are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan.



Standing and Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described below) create heightened risks for
insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as
a result the broker could execute a transaction when an Insider is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing or
limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the order should be limited to short duration
and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and procedures of this Policy.

POLICY EXCEPTIONS
This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically noted:

Stock Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’s plans, or to the exercise of a tax
withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares of stock subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy
does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to
pay the exercise price or withholding amount of an option.

Restricted Stock Awards. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units, or the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a
person has elected to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisty tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock or restricted stock units. This
Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of any stock, including for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the withholding amount.

401(k) Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the Company’s 401(k) plan resulting from an Insider’s periodic contributions to the plan
pursuant to payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to certain elections Insiders may make under the 401(k) plan, including: (a) an election to increase or
decrease the percentage of periodic contributions that will be allocated to the Company stock fund; (b) an election to make an intra-plan transfer of an existing account balance
into or out of the Company stock fund; (c) an election to borrow money against the 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in a liquidation of some or all of the Company
stock fund balance; and (d) an election to pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in allocation of loan proceeds to the Company stock fund. It should be noted that
sales of Company Securities from a 401(k) account are also subject to Rule 144, and therefore affiliates should ensure that a Form 144 is filed when required.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in any employee stock purchase plan maintained by the Company resulting
from your periodic contribution of money to the plan pursuant to the election you previously made. This Policy also does not apply to purchases of Company Securities
resulting from lump sum contributions to the plan, provided that you elected to participate by lump sum payment at the beginning of the applicable enrollment period. This
Policy does apply, however, to your election to participate in any such plan for any enrollment period, and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale. Bona fide gifts of securities are not transactions subject to this Policy, unless the person making the gift has reason to believe
that the recipient intends to sell the Company Securities while the person making the gift is aware of Material Nonpublic Information, provided that Insider must still pre-clear
any such transaction as described above under the Section captioned “Pre-Clearance Procedures.” Finally, transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company Securities
are not transactions subject to this Policy.



Rule 10b5-1 Plans. Purchases or sales of the Company’s Securities made pursuant to, and in compliance with, a written plan established by an Insider that meets the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act (a “Rule 10b5-1 Plan”) and may be made without restriction provided that the Rule 10b5-1 Plan complies with Rule
10b5-1 and meets the guidelines set forth below:

1.

Plan and Approval. The Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted to the Compliance Officer for review and approval at least five (5) business days prior to its adoption,
modification, or termination (or such shorter period of time as determined by the Compliance Officer in his or her sole discretion). The Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be in
writing and signed by the Insider adopting the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. The Company will keep a copy of each Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

Timing and Term of a Plan. All Rule 10b5-1 Plans must include a certification that, at the time of adoption or modification, as applicable, such Insider (i) does not
possess any Material Nonpublic Information about the Company or its Securities and (ii) is adopting the Rule 10b5-1 Plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or
scheme to evade insider trading prohibitions of Rule 10b-5. No Rule 10b5-1 Plan may have a term less than six (6) months or longer than 24 months; provided,
however, that the maximum term does not apply to Rule 10b5-1 Plans solely providing for “eligible sell-to-cover” transactions described in Rule 10b5-1. However,
Rule 10b5-1 Plans can provide for early termination in certain circumstances, such as if an Insider’s employment or directorship ends, as approved in writing by the
Compliance Officer.

Cooling-Off Period. All Rule 10b5-1 Plans shall be subject to a “cooling-off period” between the date of the adoption of the Rule 10b5-1 Plan and the first trade
effected pursuant to such Rule 10b5-1 Plan. For directors and officers, the first trade under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan cannot occur until after the later of (i) 90 days following
the date of adoption of such Rule 10b5-1 Plan and (ii) two (2) business days following the filing of the Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the
Rule 10b5-1 Plan was adopted, but, in any event, the maximum required cooling-off period is 120 days. For each Insider who is not a director or officer, the first trade
under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan cannot occur until after at least 30 days following the date of adoption of such Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

Timing of a Plan Amendment, Modification or Termination. A Rule 10b5-1 Plan may be amended, modified or terminated but only (i) during an open Trading
Window, (ii) when the Insider does not possess Material Nonpublic Information about the Company and (iii) with the written approval of the Compliance Officer. The
amendment or modification to such Rule 10b5-1 Plan must include a certification to that effect.

Cooling-Off Period Upon Certain Amendments or Modifications to an Existing Plan. 1f a Rule 10b5-1 Plan is modified to change price, amount or timing of the
purchase or sale of the securities underlying the Rule 10b5-1 Plan (or a modification or change to a written formula or algorithm, or computer program that affects the
price, amount or timing of the purchase or sale of the Company Securities), such modification will be subject to all of the requirements of this Policy applicable to the
adoption of a new Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

Plan Specifications; Discretion Regarding Trades. The Rule 10b5-1 Plan must (i) specify the amount of Company Securities to be purchased or sold and the price at
which and date on which the Company Securities are to be purchased or sold, (ii) specify or set a written formula or algorithm or computer program for determining
the amount of Company Securities to be purchased or sold and the price at which and date on which the Company Securities are to be purchased or sold, or (iii) not
permit the Insider to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when, or whether to effect purchases or sales; provided, in addition, that any other person who,
pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan, did exercise such influence must not have been aware of the material nonpublic information when doing so. Transaction types such
as market, limit and VWAP orders are allowed.



12.

Other Trades. Trading the Company’s Securities outside of an Insider’s Rule 10b5-1 Plan could, in certain circumstances, jeopardize the validity of an Insider’s Rule
10b5-1 Plan. Therefore, except as may be approved in writing in advance by the Compliance Officer, no Insider entering into a Rule 10b5-1 Plan may make open-
market purchases or sales of the Company’s Securities while a Rule 10b5-1 Plan is in effect.

Only One Plan at Any Time. An Insider may have only one Rule 10b5-1 Plan in effect at any time, with the exception of: (i) Rule 10b5-1 Plans that cover only
“eligible sell-to-cover” transactions described in Rule 10b5-1, (ii) substitution of a new broker to execute an existing Rule 10b5-1 Plan with identical sales
instructions, and (iii) executing a sequenced Rule 10b5-1 Plan where trading in the later-effective Rule 10b5-1 Plan does not commence until after all trades under the
earlier-commencing Rule 10b5-1 Plan are completed or expired without execution (however, if the earlier-commencing Rule 10b5-1 Plan is terminated early, the first
trade under the later-commencing Rule 10b5-1 Plan must not be scheduled to occur until after the applicable cooling-off period set forth above, as measured from such
termination date of the earlier-effective Rule 10b5-1 Plan). For clarity with respect to (iii) in the preceding sentence, if the earlier-commencing Rule 10b5-1 Plan is not
terminated early, the cooling-off period for the later-commencing Rule 10b5-1 Plan is measured from the date of adoption of such later-commencing plan.

Limitation on Single-Trade Plans. Insiders may only adopt one single-trade Rule 10b5-1 Plan during any consecutive twelve-month period, with the exception of
“eligible sell-to-cover” transactions described in Rule 10b5-1. A single-trade Rule 10b5-1 Plan for these purposes means a Rule 10b5-1 Plan that provides for the
purchase or sale of all of the securities under the plan to occur in a single transaction.

. Mandatory Suspension. Each Rule 10b5-1 Plan must suspend trades or terminate if legal, regulatory, or contractual restrictions are imposed on the Insider, or other

events occur that would prohibit sales under such a Rule 10b5-1 Plan. For example, trading would need to be suspended or the Rule 10b5-1 Plan terminated if this
Policy were amended to preclude that particular sort of trade. Likewise, trading would need to be suspended or the Rule 10b5-1 Plan terminated if it could create a
material adverse effect for the Company.

. Broker Obligation to Provide Notice of Trades. Each Rule 10b5-1 Plan must provide that the broker will promptly notify the Insider and the Company of any trades

under the Rule 10b5-1 Plan so that the Insider can make timely filings under the Exchange Act (if applicable).

Other Requirements. All Rule 10b5-1 Plans must meet such other requirements as the Compliance Officer may determine from time to time.

POST-TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to the Company; provided however, the pre-clearance procedures
specified herein will cease to apply to transactions in the Company’s Securities. If an Insider is in possession of Material Nonpublic Information when his or her service
terminates, that Insider may not transact in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no longer material.
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CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS

The purchase or sale of securities while aware of Material Nonpublic Information, or the disclosure of Material Nonpublic Information to others who then transact in the
Company Securities is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the SEC, Department of Justice, Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority (FINRA), U.S. Attorneys, and state enforcement authorities as well as the laws of foreign jurisdictions. These organizations are very effective at detecting and
pursuing insider trading violations. Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and includes significant monetary fines and imprisonment. In the United States,
corporations and entities may face criminal penalties of up to $25,000,000 and civil penalties of the greater of $1,000,000 and three (3) times the profit gained or loss avoided
as a result of an employee’s violation, while individuals may face criminal penalties of up to $5,000,000 and civil penalties of up to three (3) times the profit gained or loss
avoided. Individuals may also be subject to up to 20 years’ imprisonment and/or a bar from serving as an officer or a director of a public company “if the person’s conduct
demonstrates unfitness to serve.”

Insiders who violate this Policy will be subject to disciplinary action, which may include termination of employment for cause. Any sanctions imposed upon or liabilities
incurred by an employee for insider trading will be the sole responsibility of the employee. The Company will not cover or indemnify the employee for these costs. Neither the
Company nor any of its directors, officers or employees will be liable for the legal or financial consequences of any approval or pre-clearance, refusal to approve or pre-clear or
delay in reviewing any requests for approval or pre-clearance of any transaction, Rule 10b5-1 Plan or other request under this Policy. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even
an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’s reputation and irreparably damage a career.

PRECAUTIONS TO PREVENT MISUSE OR UNAUTHORIZED DISCLOSURE

When a person covered under this policy has exposure to Material Nonpublic Information, that individual should consider taking extraordinary precautions to prevent misuse or
unauthorized disclosure, including:

maintaining files securely and avoiding storing information on computer systems that can be accessed by other individuals;

avoiding discussing confidential matters in areas where conversation could be overheard,

restricting information on a “need to know” basis; and

refrain from making any statement on the Internet or via social media (e.g. Twitter, Facebook) regarding the Company, as it may be seen as a recommendation to
buy or sell the Company’s Securities.

INSIDER TRADING REPORTS

Pursuant to National Instrument 55-104 — Insider Reporting Requirements and Exemptions of the Canadian Securities Administrators, reporting Insiders are required to file
insider trading reports within 10 days of first becoming required to file a report or five days after a change in their previously reported ownership position in any securities of
the Company. This includes the grant of options and other equity-based awards (such as restricted share units, deferred share units and performance share units), as well as the
exercise of options and the settlement of equity-based awards, whether through the issuance of shares or payment of cash. Such persons are also required to file on SEDI an
“initial” insider report upon first becoming a reporting Insider (or, if later, at such time after having become an Insider that he or she first acquires direct or indirect beneficial
ownership, control or direction over securities of the Company). Reporting Insiders may contact the Company’s Compliance Officer for further information regarding the
requirements necessary to satisfy Canadian insider reporting obligations (it being understood that reporting Insiders are themselves responsible for ensuring their compliance
with Canadian insider reporting obligations, and that responsibility is not borne by the Company).

This Policy requires all Insiders who are subject to Canadian insider reporting requirements to comply with those requirements, and also requires that they comply with any
other reporting requirements applicable to them as may apply from time to time under the laws of other countries in which the Company is or becomes a public company.
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COMPANY ASSISTANCE

If you have any questions about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction, please contact the Company’s Compliance Officer, who can be reached by telephone
at [e] or by e-mail at [e], for additional guidance.

This Policy supersedes any previous policy of the Company concerning securities trading. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Policy and other materials
previously distributed by the Company, this Policy shall govern.



EXHIBIT A

GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC. INSIDER TRADING POLICY
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND CERTIFICATION

, hereby certify to the Board of Directors and Compliance Officer of Grace Therapeutics, Inc., that:

T have read and understand the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”).
T understand that the Compliance Officer is available to answer any questions I may have regarding the Policy.
Throughout the entire time I have been with the Company since 20, I have complied with the Policy (as it may have been amended from time to time).

I will continue to comply with the Policy for as long as I am subject to the Policy.

By: Date:

Signature

Printed Name



EXHIBIT B
GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC. INSIDER TRADING POLICY

Request for Clearance to Trade and Certification

To the Compliance Officer:

I hereby request clearance for myself (or member of my immediate family or household) to execute the following transaction relating to the securities of Grace Therapeutics,
Inc. (the “Company”). The amount and nature of the proposed transaction is as follows:

Please Select All that Apply
O Sell in the open market shares of Company Common Stock currently held at
(example: Fidelity; another broker; in certificated form)
Purchase in the open market shares of Company Common Stock
O
Gift shares of Company Common Stock to (name)
|
Adopt a Rule 10b5-1 plan to sell shares granted on (date)
|
Other (explain)
O

I understand that I am not authorized to transact in Company Securities or adopt a Rule 10b5-1 plan in reliance upon this Request for Clearance to Trade and Certification until
(insert date), and that such authorization will continue until (insert the date that is eight
business days after the Request for Clearance to Trade and Certification Date below). I understand that if the proposed transaction has not been completed or the proposed Rule
10b5-1 plan has not been adopted by the last date of the authorization period set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, I must submit a new Request for Clearance to
Trade and Certification in order to transact in Company Securities or adopt a Rule 10b5-1 plan.

I hereby certify that I have read and understand the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (attached) and I hereby certify that I am not in possession of any Material Nonpublic
Information concerning the Company.

Notice and Certification Date (today):

Signature:

Printed Name:

To be completed by Compliance Officer

Approved:

Date:




Exhibit 21.1
Grace Therapeutics, Inc.
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation Percent Owned
Grace Therapeutics U.S., Inc. (formerly Acasti Pharma  Delaware, United States 100%
U.S., Inc.)




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-282537, 333-191383, 333-227476 and 333-274228) on Form S-8, and (No. 333-274899
and 333-285661) on Form S-3 of our report dated June 23, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Grace Therapeutics, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
June 23, 2025




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Prashant Kohli, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Grace Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: June 23, 2025

/s/ Prashant Kohli
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Robert DelAversano, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Grace Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: June 23, 2025

/s/ Robert Del Aversano
Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code) in connection with the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. for the annual period ended March 31, 2025, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), the undersigned officer hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Grace Therapeutics, Inc.

/s/ Prashant Kohli

Name:  Prashant Kohli

Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: June 23, 2025

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
be deemed “filed” by Grace Therapeutics, Inc. for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section.
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SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code) in connection with the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. for the annual period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), the undersigned officer hereby certifies, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Grace Therapeutics, Inc.

/s/ Robert DelAversano

Name:  Robert DelAversano

Title: Principal Financial Officer
Date: June 23, 2025

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
be deemed “filed” by Grace Therapeutics, Inc. for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section.
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Grace Therapeutics, Inc.
Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy

Adopted by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Grace Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) on November 10, 2023

The Company is committed to conducting business in accordance with the highest ethical and legal standards, and the Board believes that a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability is in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders and essential to the Company’s success. The Board is therefore adopting this Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy (this “Policy”) to provide for the recovery of certain incentive compensation in the event of
an Accounting Restatement. This Policy is intended to foster a culture of compliance and accountability, to reward integrity, and to reinforce the Company’s pay-for-performance compensation philosophy.

Statement of Policy.

In the event that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, except as otherwise set forth in this Policy, the Company shall recover, reasonably promptly, the Excess Incentive Compensation received by any
Covered Executive during the Recoupment Period.

This Policy applies to all Incentive Compensation received during the Recoupment Period by a person (a) after beginning service as a Covered Executive, (b) who served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance
period for that Incentive Compensation and (c) while the Company has a class of securities listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) or another national securities exchange or association. This Policy may therefore apply
to a Covered Executive even after that person that is no longer a Company employee or a Covered Executive at the time of recovery.

Incentive Compensation is deemed “received” for purposes of this Policy in the fiscal period during which the financial reporting measure specified in the Incentive Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or issuance of
such Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of that period. For example, if the performance target for an award is based on total shareholder return or revenue for the year ended March 31, 2024, the award will be deemed to
have been received in fiscal year 2023 even if paid in fiscal year 2024.

Exceptions

The Company is not required to recover Excess Incentive Compensation pursuant to this Policy to the extent the Compensation Committee (the “Committee™) makes a determination that recovery would be impracticable for one of
the following reasons (and the applicable procedural requirements are met):

(a) after making a reasonable and documented attempt to recover the Excess Incentive Compensation, which documentation will be provided to Nasdaq to the extent required, the Committee determines that the direct expenses that
would be paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered;

(b) based on a legal opinion of counsel acceptable to the Nasdaq, the Committee determines that recovery would violate a home country law adopted prior to November 28, 2022; or

1




Exhibit 97.1

(c) the Committee determines that recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C.
401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

Definitions

“Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to
correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected
in the current period. For the avoidance of doubt, a restatement resulting solely from any one or more of the following is not an Accounting Restatement: retrospective application of a change in generally accepted accounting
principles; retrospective revision to reportable segment information due to a change in the structure of an issuer’s internal organization; retrospective reclassification due to a discontinued operation; retrospective application of a
change in reporting entity, such as from a reorganization of entities under common control; retrospective adjustment to provisional amounts in connection with a prior business combination; and retrospective revision for stock splits,
reverse stock splits, stock dividends or other changes in capital structure.

“Covered Executive” shall mean the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in
charge of a principal business unit, division, or function, any other officer who performs a policy-making function for the Company, any other person who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company, and any other
employee who may from time to time be deemed subject to this Policy by the Committee. For purposes of the foregoing, designation by the Board as an “Executive Officer” for purposes of Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) shall constitute designation as a Covered Executive.

“Excess Incentive Compensation” means the amount of Incentive Compensation received during the Recoupment Period by any Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive Compensation that otherwise would have been
received by such Covered Executive if the determination of the Incentive Compensation to be received had been determined based on restated amounts in the Accounting Restatement and without regard to any taxes paid.

“Incentive Compensation” means any compensation (including cash and equity compensation) that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a financial reporting measure. For purposes of this
definition, a “financial reporting measure” is (i) any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements and any measure derived wholly or in
part from such measures, or (ii) the Company’s share price and/or total shareholder return. A financial reporting measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the commission. Incentive
Compensation subject to this Policy may be provided by the Company or subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company (“Company Affiliates”).

“Recoupment Period” means the three completed fiscal years preceding the Trigger Date, and any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine months within or immediately following
those three completed fiscal years, provided that any transition period of nine months or more shall count as a full fiscal year.
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“Trigger Date” means the earlier to occur of: (a) the date the Board, the Audit Committee (or such other Committee of the Board as may be authorized to make such a conclusion), or the officer or officers of the Company authorized
to take such action if action by the Board is not required concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement; and (b) the date a court, regulator, or other legally
authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement; in the case of both (a) and (b) regardless of if or when restated financial statements are filed.

Administration

This Policy is intended to comply with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5608, Section 10D of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10D-1(b)(1) as promulgated under the Exchange Act, and shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with those
requirements. The Committee has full authority to interpret and administer this Policy. The Committee’s determinations under this Policy shall be final and binding on all persons, need not be uniform with respect to each individual
covered by the Policy, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law.

The Committee has the authority to determine the appropriate means of recovering Excess Incentive Compensation based on the particular facts and circumstances, which could include, but is not limited to, seeking direct
reimbursement, forfeiture of awards, offsets against other payments, and forfeiture of deferred compensation (subject to compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code).

Subject to any limitations under applicable law, the Committee may authorize any officer or employee of the Company to take actions necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Policy, provided that no such
authorization shall relate to any recovery under this Policy that involves such officer or employee.

If the Committee cannot determine the amount of excess Incentive Compensation received by a Covered Executive directly from the information in the Accounting Restatement, such as in the case of Incentive Compensation tied to
share price or total shareholder return, then it shall make its determination based on its reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement and shall maintain documentation of such determination, including for purposes
of providing such documentation to Nasdaq.

Except where an action is required by Nasdaq Listing Rule 5608, Section 10D of the Exchange Act or Rule 10D-1(b)(1) promulgated under the Exchange Act to be determined in a different matter, the Board may act to have the
independent directors of the Board administer this policy in place of the Committee in any particular circumstance.

No Indemnification or Advancement of Legal Fees

Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification agreement, insurance policy, contractual arrangement, the governing documents of the Company or other document or arrangement, the Company shall not indemnify any Covered
Executive against, or pay the premiums for any insurance policy to cover, any amounts recovered under this Policy or any expenses that a Covered Executive incurs in opposing Company efforts to recoup amounts pursuant to the
Policy.

3




Exhibit 97.1

Non-Exclusive Remedy;_Successors

Recovery of Incentive Compensation pursuant to this Policy shall not in any way limit or affect the rights of the Company to pursue disciplinary, legal, or other action or pursue any other remedies available to it. This Policy shall be
in addition to, and is not intended to limit, any rights of the Company to recover Incentive Compensation from Covered Executives under any legal remedy available to the Company and applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or pursuant to the terms of any other Company policy, employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement with a Covered Executive.

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their successors, beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators, or other legal representatives.

Amendment

This Policy may be amended from time to time by the Committee of the Board.

Effective Date

This Policy shall apply to any Incentive Compensation received on or after October 2, 2023.
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EXHIBIT A - FORM OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT

GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY
ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT

This Acknowledgment and Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of the __ day of ,20[__], between Grace Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
[__] (the “Executive”), under the following circumstances:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has adopted the Grace Therapeutics, Inc. Incentive Compensation Recovery Policy (the “Policy”);

WHEREAS, the Executive has been designated as a “Covered Executive” of the Company as defined in the Policy;

WHEREAS, in consideration of, and as a condition to the receipt of, future cash and equity-based awards, performance-based compensation, and other forms of cash or equity compensation made under the Company’s
Stock Option Plan, as amended, the Company's Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, the Company’s 2024 Equity Incentive Plan, or any other incentive compensation plan or program of the Company, the Executive and the Company

are entering into this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, defined terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in the Policy.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

The Executive hereby acknowledges receipt of the Policy, to which this Agreement is attached, and the terms of which are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference. The Executive has read and understands the

Policy and has had the opportunity to ask questions to the Company regarding the Policy.

The Executive hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Policy shall apply to any Incentive Compensation as set forth in the Policy by the Board and that all such Incentive Compensation shall be subject to recovery under

2.
the Policy.

3. Any applicable award agreement or other document setting forth the terms and conditions of any Incentive Compensation granted to the Executive by the Company’s Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) shall be deemed to include the restrictions imposed by the Policy and shall incorporate it by reference. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Policy and the
applicable award agreement or other document setting forth the terms and conditions of any Incentive Compensation granted to the Executive, the terms of the Policy shall govern unless the terms of such other agreement or
other document would result in a greater recovery by the Company.

4. The Executive hereby acknowledges that, notwithstanding any indemnification agreement or other arrangement between the Company and the Executive, the Company shall not indemnify the Executive against, or pay the

premiums for any insurance policy to cover, losses incurred under the Policy.
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In the event it is determined by the Company that any amounts granted, awarded, earned or paid to the Executive must be forfeited or reimbursed to the Company, the Executive will promptly take any action necessary to
effectuate such forfeiture and/or reimbursement.

This Agreement and the Policy shall survive and continue in full force and in accordance with their terms notwithstanding any termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company and its affiliates.

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, and by facsimile or electronic transmission (such as PDF), each of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which, taken together, shall constitute one
and the same Agreement.

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Delaware, without reference to principles of conflict of laws.

No modifications or amendments of the terms of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing and signed by the parties hereto or their respective duly authorized agents. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to
the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of the Executive, and the successors and assigns of the Company.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
GRACE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
By:

Name:
Title:

Executive

By:
Name:
Title:
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